
Please ask for Democratic Services DDI (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMISSION

Date & Time - Thursday, 6th February, 2020 at 10.00 am

Venue - Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Members of the OSC

Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr E. Colman
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr D. Wickerson
Mrs H Crane (Substitute Member)

Substitute Members
Mr R Atterwill
Mr H Clarke
Mr P Morton
Mr P Wilkinson

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or blog from 
this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  No part of the meeting 
room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting resolves to go into private session.  
However, the use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.  

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Thursday, 30 January 2020

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/




Overview and Scrutiny Commission
06 February 2020

PROTOCOL

Working Style of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission (OSC) and Other 
Scrutiny Bodies

This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted 
by the OSC and other scrutiny bodies such as Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups.

Member Leadership

Members of the OSC will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and will recognise 
that best practice identifies scrutiny as a non-executive Member-led activity. The OSC will expect 
Cabinet members to take prime responsibility for answering their questions about topics which chiefly 
relate to the Council’s activities.

A Constructive Atmosphere

Meetings of the OSC will be constructive and not judgmental. The Commission recognises and 
accepts that effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People 
giving evidence should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack.

Independence 

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party 
groups.

Respect and Trust

Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust.

Consensus

Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will work together and, while recognising political 
allegiances, will attempt to achieve consensus and agreed targeted recommendations. There will be 
recognition that the OSC has a primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community.

Openness and Transparency

The OSC’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for 
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Commission’s meetings will explain the discussion and 
debate so that they can be understood by an outside reader.

Impartial and Independent Officer Advice

Officers who advise and support scrutiny will give impartial and independent advice, as officers 
support all members of the Council.

Regular Review

There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it 
is not working effectively.

Programming and Planning 

It is the responsibility of the OSC and the wider non-executive to determine its work programme and 
to allocate specific reviews either through a dedicated task and finish group or to undertake a review 
itself. Before each topic/review is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what 
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to 
see.



Managing Time

The OSC will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of business 
will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. 

Member/Officer Roles

Executive members will regularly be called to account for the decisions they have made and to 
explain progress in key areas of their portfolio – and in the case of the Council Leader – the Council 
as a whole. Members will be expected to produce and present a brief written account of their 
executive activities and will then be questioned by members of the OSC for a period no longer than 20 
minutes.

Co-optees

“Expert witnesses” may be co-opted onto scrutiny task and finish groups to provide technical 
assistance to the review. Co-optees possess no voting rights.

Substitutes

Substitute members will be so listed on the agenda papers of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. It 
is a member responsibility to alert a substitute in the event that she/he cannot attend a meeting. 



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
06 February 2020

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 7 - 11
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2019.

2. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence and to note substitute Members in 
attendance.

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

 
4. URGENT BUSINESS 

To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members or public speakers wishing to 
address the meeting.

7. CORPORATE PLAN REFRESH 2020 12 - 33
To receive a report from the Senior Policy Advisor, Greg Pearson.

8. HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 34 - 110
To receive a report from the Executive Member for Health & Housing.

9. ALLOCATIONS POLICY 111 - 149
To receive a report of the Executive Member for Health & Housing.

10. QUARTER 3 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 150 - 169
To receive a report from the Executive Member for Governance. 

11. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2020/21 170 - 178
To receive a report from the Executive Member for Governance.



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
06 February 2020

Page(s)
herewith

12. OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update from representatives on Outside Bodies.

13. SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 
To note whether any decisions have been called-in for scrutiny.

14. COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 
To consider any references.

15. WORK PROGRAMME 179 - 183
(a) A copy of the Commission’s work programme is attached.  The 

Commission is asked to agree any additions, deletions or 
amendments to the programme as appropriate.

(b) Member Issues:  In accordance with the Commission’s protocol for 
member leadership, which states that members of the Commission 
will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and 
in the questioning of witnesses, members are invited to put forward 
items for selection for future review.

A copy of the Key Decision Plan is attached for Members’ information.

16. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on 19 March 
2020, at 10:00am in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham.

17. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act.”

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED

18. WORKSMART 20:20 - TERMS & CONDITIONS 184 - 211
To receive a report from the Executive Member for Governance.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 19 December 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr D. Wickerson
Mrs H, Crane (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P. Morton

Mr P.D. Claussen

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Innovation, Change & 

Performance Manager (shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Ryan Pack - Graduate Trainee
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
97/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2019 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

98/19 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

An apology was received from Councillor Mike Nairn. Councillor Helen 
Crane was in attendance as his substitute.

99/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

100/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

101/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

102/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

None.

7

Agenda Item 1



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019

2

Action By
103/19 QUARTER 2 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Executive Member for Governance, Councillor Paul Claussen, 
introduced the report highlighting for Members’ information main areas 
of concern, predominantly the Contact Centre. He explained a new 
Customer Experience Manager had recently been employed to 
understand issues faced and plan a way forward. On the whole the 
Performance Report was doing well although he felt there was still work 
to be done on the presentation, profiling and statistics and invited the 
Chairman to meet with him in the New Year to have some time to 
discuss the report and look at possible improvement on ways of 
measuring and presenting the figures.

Councillor Martin voiced concerns over the Contact Centre report, the 
target and figures revealed that something was going wrong rapidly and 
indicated an urgent need to improve. Members agreed the report clearly 
showed issues, and were confused with wait times and abandoned rate 
figures and thought communication could be improved to educate the 
public as it was felt customers were unsure which avenue of 
communication to use and who to contact to get issues resolved. 

The Corporate Improvement Performance Manager, Ross Bangs, 
agreed this was the fourth quarter that the Contact Centre figures 
showed a need to improve stating the Corporate Improvement Team 
had been commissioned to carry out a deep dive analysis of the team 
and would to bring the results back to the Scrutiny Commission. 

Councillor Turner suggested over the Breckland area, demographics of 
the population had evolved, the living age had increased, and there had 
been an increase of dementia, disabilities and mental health issues, and 
as part of the deep dive suggested this be taken into account with the 
resources available.

The Chairman proposed, if, after the proposed work the next quarter 
report was still in the red it may be something the Scrutiny Commission 
should look into further.

Members referred to the Environmental and Community figures, fly 
tipping improved but recycling was low at 13 percent. Councillor Kiddle-
Morris also queried the number of fly tip incidents in the last 4 quarters, 
statistics were showing a reduction but no clear reason why. The 
Corporate Improvement Performance Manager would analyse the 
information and provide a breakdown and include this in the next report.

Housing and Homelessness figures also revealed issues, the figures 
showed over 20% homeless for reasons unidentified. Councillor 
Wickerson also voiced his concerns over homelessness which was a 
major topic Nationwide with budget spent on hotels and bed and 
breakfast. Now with dedicated officer resource allocated to getting 
empty properties back in use Members asked if this analysis could be 
included, with a breakdown, in the next report. 

Councillor Martin also noted that staff turnover appeared low yet it was 
projected to rise with no clear indicator as to why.

Streetlights were also an issue with repairs not being carried out to a 

8



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019

3

Action By
satisfactory timescale and felt this could be a failure in contract 
obligation. Customers were unclear where to report issues to. Councillor 
Jermy asked if streetlight repairs could be included in the quarterly 
report to monitor the contract. The Chairman suggested where 
Breckland had large contracts with any service providers it would be 
useful to track if there were breaches. 

Councillor Kybird queried the percentage derived from the economic 
and growth indicators was confusing and some of the percentage 
calculations were inconsistent. The Corporate Improvement 
Performance Manager would investigate this. 

The Chairman asked for a percentage yield on commercial properties, 
based on the fair value of the property holdings that Breckland rent out, 
to be included on the next report which would show if the tax payer was 
getting value for money out of the commercial property portfolio. 
Councillor Kybird asked if energy performance statistics could also be 
included. The Corporate Improvement Performance Manger agreed to 
produce the figures as a one off for the Commission.

Councillor Birt queried website visitors, Facebook and Twitter, how it 
was measured and whether it was an accurate and current method. The 
Corporate Improvement Performance Manager would take this back to 
the digital team who had the expertise. 

Councillor Birt voiced concerns over the statistics on missed bins and 
how this was measured as it wasn’t clear. The Corporate Improvement 
Performance Manager would re-clarify with the service for a full 
breakdown.

With Freedom of Information statistics Councillor Birt suggested it might 
be better to have a response time histogram to see whether there was 
any clustering and make it clear early on if there were any timing issues. 
Councillor Claussen responded to say they were currently looking in to 
the Freedom of Information requests to see where they came from, and 
what was being asked for to see if there was any pattern on the 
requests. The Chairman added that it was unacceptable for the figure to 
be below 100 percent unless advised of an extension and the reason 
why.

The Corporate Improvement Performance Manager thanked Members 
for their comments stating it was an ever evolving document and 
important it works and was happy to work with Members to improve it as 
much as possible to show the exact figures needed in order that the 
Commission could scrutinise in the right areas.

Councillor Turner suggested once members had viewed the quarterly 
report, if they had any queries they should email the Corporate 
Improvement Performance Manager with any issues prior to the 
meeting so that the team could investigate and come to the meeting 
with the information which could produce better debate.

The Chairman asked if anyone had any constructive ideas regarding the 
formatting or presentation of the report, they email him direct and he 
would liaise with the Corporate Improvement Performance Manager and 
look at appropriate changes together. 

9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019

4

Action By

104/19 DRAFT BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 

The Executive Director Commercialisation, Christine Marshall, 
introduced the report explaining key areas stating Breckland Council 
were in a period of unprecedented change and that the level of 
estimates and assumptions made far exceeded those done previously 
for a variety of reasons.  The Executive Director Commercialisation 
went on to say the budget had been based on some fairly major 
assumptions, if the assumptions changed the position could improve or 
worsen so a mid-case position had been taken in terms of how the 
budget had been set using the best modelling available. What the 
budget did show was that Breckland Council was currently asset rich 
however the revenue position was much tighter.

Members of the Commission had previously been invited, to a briefing 
on the draft budget by the Executive Member for Finance and Growth 
which had enabled an in depth explanation and discussion prior to this 
report.

Members had further questions on the methodology surrounding the 
estimates and assumptions along with environmental, carbon and social 
implications, how these were measured and the understanding of 
recognising what the implications might be along with how forward 
predictions were made and identifying risks involved. 

In summary Members were appreciative of the hard work that had been 
put into the draft budget, understanding pressures, particularly around 
homelessness, pensions and business rates and felt at this time, with 
current pressures, it was a prudent report. 

The Executive Director Commercialisation went on to explain the 
recommendations of the report, with the next steps being out to 
consultation and the report would be taken through due process in 
February which would be Cabinet and then Full Council.

105/19 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Kybird informed Members he had received the Norfolk Health 
Overview Scrutiny Committee briefing on current issues within the NHS 
which he would forward on to Members in due course.

106/19 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

107/19 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

108/19 WORK PROGRAMME 

Councillor Clarke highlighted the Flagship Plus item was no longer on 
the work programme, and asked for it to be re-instated as it may bring in 
other areas of issue such as empty properties and homeless issues.

10



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019

5

Action By
Councillor Turner agreed stating that due to work undertaken with 
Flagship this topic should be included and suggested all Housing 
Associations within the Breckland district be invited to present to the 
Commission.

Councillor Birt proposed that the IT infrastructure should be considered 
by the Commission following on from the recent IT failure. It had 
significant impact for Officers, Members and residents, to look at the 
robustness of the equipment, and the contingency procedures in place. 
Councillor Birt also suggested the quality of the data that was being 
produced and usability for residents should be considered.

The Chairman agreed that for 2020 IT was an important issue that the 
Commission should scrutinise and proposed to add IT Resilience and 
Security to the Work Programme and following on from that the broader 
points on usability and customer interactions in a subsequent calendar 
year.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris mentioned in paragraph 3.2 of the Quarterly 
Report, an area requiring improvement, was on the number of empty 
properties brought back into use, now with dedicated officer resource 
allocated to tackle legalities and the problems surrounding this. He 
asked if a report could be brought to the Commission in 6 months’ time 
to gauge how this work was progressing and see if this was a valuable 
resource, suggesting this be added to the Work Programme.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris also asked if Development in Rural areas could 
be re-instated to the Work Programme. The Chairman explained it had 
been moved to a future item whilst other work, involving the Local Plan 
was being carried out. It was agreed it should be added to a future 
meeting as there were rural areas to be looked at that were not involved 
in the Local Plan.

109/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 6th February 2020 at 
10:00am in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham 
were noted.

The meeting closed at 11.25 am

CHAIRMAN

11



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director of Strategy and Governance 

To: Overview & Scrutiny Commission – 6th February 2020

Author: Greg Pearson – Senior Policy Advisor

Subject: Corporate Plan Refresh 2020-23

Purpose: To inform the Overview and Scrutiny Commission of the proposed 
amendments to the Corporate Plan and to give them opportunity to 
propose any suggestions or amendments.

Recommendation:

1) That the contents of the report and its appendix are noted and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission put forward any suggestions and amendments they would like to see.

1.1 BACKGROUND

1.2 The current Corporate Plan 2019-23 (Appendix A) was adopted in February 2019 and 
will come to the end of its life in March 2023. As the plan has been in place for a year it 
is therefore timely to look at an annual refresh to ensure that the plan remains fit for 
purpose for the remainder of its life time.

1.3 Corporate planning is a key part of running a successful organisation and ensures:

a. Everyone in the organisation is working to the same priorities, pulling in the 
same direction and clear about what they are trying to achieve

b. It helps ensure that risks are effectively managed
c. It provides a tool to measure performance, success and hold people to account
d. It enables the organisation and its managers to plan resource and the budget 

more effectively

1.4 The Corporate Plan aims to sets the ambition for the organisation under public facing 
three themes and one internal theme which under-pin all the activities the Council 
undertakes. They are:

a. Your Place (Public Facing)
b. Your Health (Public Facing)
c. Your Opportunity (Public Facing)
d. Your Council (Internal)

1.5 These themes will be supported by a series of Critical Activities which detail further what 
the Council will do to deliver the Corporate Plan which is set out under each theme. 
Delivery of these will be tracked through the Corporate Delivery Plan which will be 
developed in quarter 4 of this financial year. This will be underpinned by detailed 
Service/Team level delivery plans. Progress made against all of these will continue to be 
monitored through the monthly Performance Board meetings.

1.6 Appendix B of this report sets out the proposed amendments to the Critical Activities for 
the next year. These have been developed through feedback from the Cabinet, Senior 
Management engagement and Executive Management Team input.

12

Agenda Item 7



1.7 Appendix C of this report sets out the proposed amendments to the narrative to each of 
the four themes for ease additional text has been highlighted. On addition to these 
proposed changes all picture in the document will be reviewed to ensure that they 
promote the Council in the best way possible.

1.8 Following feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny Commission the refreshed 
Corporate Plan will be put forward to Council on 27th February for final ratification.

2.1 OPTIONS

2.2 Do Nothing.

2.3 That the contents of the report and its appendices are considered, and that the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission put forward any suggestions and amendments they would like 
to see.

3.1 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.2 To comply with the Policy Framework which requires that we have a Corporate Plan which 
sets out the Council’s strategic vision.

4.1 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.2 A clear direction for the Council is set for the upcoming financial year to assist with delivering 
the Corporate Plan.

4.3 Improved transparency and clearer objectives setting available to all employees in line with 
the Council’s direction.

5.1 IMPLICATIONS

5.2 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.2.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the strategic direction regarding environmental issues until 
2023.

5.3 Constitution & Legal

5.3.1 The Corporate Plan forms part of the Council’s Policy Framework and is therefore a 
requirement for the Council to comply with.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Corporate Plan will set out the Council’s strategic priorities until 2023.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the Council's strategic direction regarding crime and disorder 
until 2023.

5.6 Financial

5.6.1 The Council’s budget and medium term plan is fundamentally linked to the corporate plan and 
the budget supports delivery of that plan. The budget is set for one year at a time with 
indicative budgets set for future years over the medium term and these are revisited each 
year and can be adapted to meet the needs of an evolving corporate plan.

13



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s strategic direction regarding health and wellbeing 
until 2023.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 Failure to deliver its strategic ambitions could lead to reputational risk for the Council, this is 
mitigated through a corporate risk that is closely monitored by the Executive Management 
team and reported to Governance and Audit Committee.

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 The monitoring of all risks relating to Council failing to deliver its corporate priorities are 
regularly monitored through the Council's internal Performance, Risk and Audit Board. Risk 
scores and mitigating actions are reported quarterly to Governance and Audit Committee 
ensure that they are being appropriately managed.

5.11  Safeguarding

5.11.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s strategic direction regarding safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults until 2023.

5.12  Staffing

5.12.1 The Corporate Plan gives all staff a clear understanding of the strategic vision that the 
Council is working towards. It is linked to every action that officers undertake and delivery of 
the council’s strategic vision and priorities is linked via the golden thread through to 
individual appraisal objectives.

6.1 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.2 N/A

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Senior Policy Advisor
Telephone Number: 07500-030900
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to both Mandatory and Discretionary Services 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Corporate Plan 2019-23
Appendix B Proposed Amendments to Critical Activities
Appendix C Proposed Amendments to Theme Narratives

14

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Breckland Corporate  
Plan 2019–2023

Your Place

Your Health

&
 W

ellbeingYour O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

Our
Council

15



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

Welcome to Breckland Council’s Corporate Plan  
2019 - 2023, the Council’s vision for the district 
and its priorities for this period.

Our Corporate Plan sets out how we will work with our partners 
and the community to ensure that Breckland continues to be a 
place that people choose to live, work, visit and enjoy.

It is informed by what we know about the area and identifies 
how we will achieve our long-term vision, what our key 
priorities are and how we will deliver our services.

Our Strategic vision is:
‘Breckland: A place where people and business can thrive’

Our Priorities:
• Your Place  • Your Health & Wellbeing
• Your Opportunity • Our Council

Our approach
We are a forward-thinking, entrepreneurial and innovative 
council whose elected members and officers work closely 
together to support local people and businesses. Meeting the 
needs of our residents through the delivery of quality, cost-
effective core services - such as regular bin collections - is at 
the heart of what we do, but we also seek new opportunities 
to enhance the district and help local people fulfil their full 
potential.

We strive to ensure each of our five towns and their surrounding 
areas are great places in which to live, work, and invest. We want 
people to choose to live and work in Breckland and to attract 
visitors to the district, as this keeps our communities vibrant 

2

William Nunn
Council Leader

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

Introduction

and because increasing footfall will boost the local economy 
and protect our independent traders and local people’s jobs.

Investing in our communities
One way we are driving this is through significant investment 
in community-based initiatives, including £6m over four years 
from our community reserve fund and around £0.5m through 
our Market Towns Initiative. We’ve put in place innovative 
projects such as a community lottery to help financially 
support and promote local good causes and a range of help 
for independent traders in order to protect our high streets and 
local employment.

We’re able to make these major investments into our district 
partly because we have been brave in the past. We were among 
the first councils to invest money in commercial space – such 
as offices and warehouses – to generate new income. 

16



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

3

We now receive around as much money in commercial property 
rent as we get from local council tax. We have built a reputation 
as being a financially well-managed organisation that makes 
decisions that stack-up financially as well as being for the 
good of local people. This means we can keep our share of 
local council tax low – among the lowest in the country – and 
avoid making cuts to services in order to balance the books.

Moving with the times
We have a good track record but we are also an evolving 
council; we anticipate and adapt to the changing needs of 
local people, the challenges of falling funding and increasing 
demand, and new opportunities to ‘go digital’. We have 
restructured our teams and are providing access to more of 
our services online – such as new online application forms and 
payment options – so people who choose to interact with us in 
his way can do so quickly, easily and at a time that suits them. 

Introduction

Improved efficiencies and greater automation means our staff 
can focus on residents with the greatest needs.

We are also putting time and money into our staff’s 
development so we can make sure they have the right skills 
and can excel. We welcome innovation from all corners of 
the organisation as our skilled and experienced staff are 
perfectly placed to spot opportunities to drive further service 
improvements. We therefore value and reward talent and seek 
opportunities to promote from within or to broaden staff’s 
skills by working with new teams. 

Strong partnerships
We recognise that we can’t always achieve our goals alone 
and we have a strong history of buying-in external support 
when needed as well as joining up with our partners. In some 
cases we are still learning how to get the most from these 
relationships and we are committed to refining them as they 
help us become more efficient and drive up service quality. 

We have a shared management team, which has helped save 
around £8m of public money since 2011, and we often work 
closely with other organisations to deliver services, bring 
them together, or apply for national and regional funding 
to help with local projects. For example, we share office 
space with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
which creates ‘one-stop shops’ for our joint clients while 
bringing in commercial income at our premises.

A bright future
Looking to the future, we have a clear and considered plan 
for the district’s growth - both in terms of housing and jobs 
- as outlined in our Local Plan, which we will adopt in 2019 

and use as a blueprint until 2036. We are building on our 
strong foundations - including our solid financial position, 
commercial approach, and quality core services - to directly 
drive growth, encourage the creation of new jobs, and 
support our communities to flourish.

Our district
Breckland spans over 500 square miles of beautiful countryside 
and forest in the heart of Norfolk. With a range of thriving rural 
village communities and the five bustling market towns of 
Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton.
 
The area’s rural nature is characterised by its 112 parishes, 
numerous villages and low crime rate which make Breckland 
one of the most attractive and safe places to live in the UK. 
The Council is committed to reducing its impact on the 
environment by minimising its carbon footprint.
 
Breckland’s population is set to grow from the current 140,500 
residents to 159,400 by 2041. Half of the current residents 
live in one of the five market towns with the remainder living 
in rural village homes. This means that the district has a low 
population density.
 
Agriculture, advanced engineering and manufacturing, 
logistics and forestry are the dominant business sectors with 
professional, scientific and technical and food processing 
not far behind. Breckland’s local economy continues to grow 
bringing new employment to the area.
 
Thetford and Attleborough are key areas for future housing 
and business growth which is expected to deliver economic 
benefits for the whole district.

17



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

We strive to ensure each of our five market towns and their 
surrounding areas are great places in which to live, work, visit 
and invest. The delivery of quality, cost-effective services –
such as regular bin collections, housing support and tacking 
anti-social behaviour – is at the heart of what we do, but we 
are also investing heavily in community-based initiatives and 
delivering innovative projects which benefit local communities, 
support our residents, and provide a boost to businesses. 

The Council is committed to supporting ex-military personel 
and is signed up to the Armed Forces Covenant.

We will...
Use our Market Town Initiative to ensure that our five market towns are attractive places that people want to visit with a vibrant 

economy while still meet the needs of their communities

Continue to use our Community Reserve to deliver targeted benefits to our communities based on their needs

Work with Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, and North Norfolk Councils to procure a new waste, grounds maintenance  
and street cleansing contract that delivers value for money and high quality services

Grow the ‘Our Breckland Lottery’ to fund community projects and organisations including sports and social groups
Deliver a programme of maintenance and replacements to our street lights across the district

To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local Plan, in conjunction with our key partners

Adopt a proactive approach to land management and maintenance of council owned land to  
ensure the Council gets best value from its land assets

Work together with partners and local communities to improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, greener and safer

Ensure the district continues to have high levels of safety while continuing to work with our partners to further  
reduce crime, anti-social behaviour and protect the community and the environment

Work with our partners to ensure that key infrastructure such as roads including the A47, rail links, broadband and 
telecommunications in the district are improved enabling us to be a location of choice

Work to prevent and mitigate homelessness, including by continuing to work with partners across Norfolk to deliver solutions

Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations to ensure that  
our residents including veterans have access to a range of housing options in the district

Work to ensure that our residents have access to a high quality and diverse leisure, arts and cultural offering

Priority: Your Place

4

18



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

In addition to funding swimming, gym and sports facilities 
across the district, we also provide activity and arts programmes 
for people of all ages to support their physical and mental 
wellbeing. We work with our partners to deliver an overarching 
approach to preventing ill-health and, on a day-to-day basis, 
keep people safe through business licensing, food safety 
checks and monitoring the environment.

We will...
Ensure that our public protection services continues to enable our communities to remain healthy and safe through our 

regulatory activities including food safety, environmental protection and licensing

Continue to ensure that our leisure provider delivers a broad range of options targeted at increasing  
physical activity in our district

Lead and support activities and partnerships to address key local physical and mental health, social care and wellbeing issues

Continue to engage with partners to lead early intervention activities such as the Early Help Hub to support,  
reduce and prevent complex needs

Proactively address social isolation through initiatives such as the ‘Silver Social’

Deliver a targeted programme of Health and Wellbeing activities to improve health outcomes across the district

Proactively influence the Norfolk Sustainable Transformation Programme being delivered by the NHS to ensure  
the best health outcomes for Breckland

Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the tenure

Enable vulnerable residents to remain living independently in the community by using  
Disabled Facilities Grants to make adaptations

Maintain our current leisure provision but explore where we can enhance the provision of this across the district

Ensure that through the Anglia Revenue Partnership our residents are given high quality advice to help  
maximise their income and manage their debts

5

Priority: Your Health & Wellbeing

19



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

Our Local Plan, which we will adopt in 2019, will act as our 
blueprint for the district’s growth through until 2036. We are 
investing in the district ourselves and working with our partners 
on a number of different projects which will attract new 
businesses to the area while supporting existing businesses to 
grow and succeed.

This will safeguard their futures and create new jobs within 
Breckland. We are also working with businesses and education 
services to provide training which will close identified skills 
gaps and help people into new or higher-paid employment.

We will...
Proactively work with partners to identify and optimise funding opportunities that will draw resources into our district  

to support our plans for substantial and continued growth

Continue to deliver a clear “open for business” approach across all Council services that promotes and supports business growth

Proactively lobby the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership to improve skills levels and access to further education in 
Breckland, supporting the prosperity of both our residents and our businesses

Address barriers to better opportunities such as transport to work, digital skills, employment and housing support, by  
using the Breckland Community Reserve to create initiatives to help improve these

Develop and deliver a clear strategy for ‘Invest in Breckland’ with a view to supporting the growth of businesses located within 
the district, whilst also working proactively to attract new inward investment that can bring further prosperity to Breckland

Maximise the benefits that the ‘Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor’ will bring to business growth

Work with our partners to stimulate housing and employment development in our major growth areas, with a particular 
 focus on Thetford, Snetterton and Attleborough

Maximise the benefits that any improvements to the A47 will bring to business growth

6

Priority: Your Opportunity

20



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

We bring in around the same amount of money from our 
investments as we receive in local council tax, which helps us 
keep our share of local council tax the lowest in the country. 
We are also adapting to the changing needs of local people 
and the challenges we face.

For example, by providing access to more of our services 
online, including new online application forms and payment 
options, people can choose to interact with us quickly, easily 
and at a time that suits them. This means our staff can focus 
on residents with the greatest needs and in doing so we can 
offer the most appropriate and tailored support to everybody 
we serve.

We will...
Ensure that our services are digital enabled, efficient and meet the expectations of our changing community  

whilst not exclude those that are unable to interact in that way

Ensure that our staff have the skills needed to drive the organisation forwards and meet the expectations  
of our changing communities and how they wish to interact with us

Ensure that national policies for protecting children and vulnerable adults are effectively implemented across  
all areas of our business and that safeguarding is at the forefront of all we do

Continue to ensure that our regulatory and statutory services remain fully compliant with all current and emerging legislation

Continue to strengthen our commercial approach which will secure our financial position by identifying income  
generation opportunities and efficiencies through trading and sharing

Maximise the returns generate by the Council’s commercial and operational assets

Continue to maximise grant income brought into the Council

Continue to work effectively with all our partners to deliver significant benefits to the communities of Breckland

Help shape and influence emerging national and local policy in order to be at the forefront of change and 
 to maximise the opportunity for Breckland

Ensure the delivery of cost effective, high quality service provision through a robust approach 
 to procurement and contracts management

Keep residents, businesses, and partners informed about council services and latest opportunities  
through clear and effective communications

7

Internal Priority: Our Council

21



Your Place Your Health & Wellbeing Your Opportunity Our Council

Breckland Council works in partnership with a number of 
different organisations to deliver services.

We have a strategic partnership with South Holland District 
Council, in Lincolnshire, with whom we share our strategic 
management capacity. These officers oversee a number of 
shared services and corporate functions such as performance, 
risk and audit, contract management and procurement, client 
HR, IT and digital requirements. The senior team represent our 
council on our Norfolk partnerships with health, police and 
businesses.

We also work with a number of non-council partners, including: 
Capita, to deliver our planning functions; Serco, who deliver 
services such as waste collection on our behalf; Parkwood 
Leisure who run a number of local sport and leisure centres 
in the district; and Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP), which 
collects council tax and processes benefits applications on 
behalf of a number of local councils.

8

Partnership Working

22



Breckland Council
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE

www.breckland.gov.uk • email: contactus@breckland.gov.uk

@BreckCouncil @BreckCouncil Breckland Council

23



29 January 2020 Version 5

Breckland Corporate Plan Refresh 2020-21
Priority: YOUR PLACE 

CA#  “We will…” Proposed 
Change by 

EMT

Rationale

CA01 Use our Market Town Initiative 
to enable our five market 
towns to be attractive places 
that people want to visit with a 
vibrant economy while still 
meet the needs of their 
communities”

Re-word Minor amendment to wording to 
strengthen statement.

CA02 Develop delivery plans for 
each of our five markets 
towns that will focus on 
improving partnership 
working and outcomes for 
each place

NEW To reflect new work area agreed 
by Council in November 2019.

CA03 Work with The Borough of 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
and North Norfolk Councils to 
mobilise the new waste, 
grounds maintenance and 
street cleansing contract that 
delivers value for money and 
high quality services

Re-word To reflect the progress with the 
waste procurement.

CA04 Grow the ‘Our Breckland Lottery’ 
to fund community projects and 
organisations including sports 
and social groups

Keep as is

CA05 Deliver a programme of 
maintenance and replacements 
to our street lights across the 
district

Keep as is

CA06 To deliver substantial and 
continued growth as proposed 
through our Local Plan, in 
conjunction with our key partners

Keep as is

CA07 Adopt a proactive approach to 
land management and 
maintenance of council owned 

Re-word Minor amendment to wording to 
strengthen statement.

24



29 January 2020 Version 5

land to enable the Council to 
get the best use from its land 
assets

CA08 Work together with partners and 
local communities to improve the 
quality of public spaces to be 
cleaner, greener and safer

Keep as is

CA09 Ensure the district continues to 
have high levels of safety while 
continuing to work with our 
partners to further reduce crime, 
anti-social behaviour and protect 
the community and the 
environment

Keep as is

CA10 Work with our partners to 
ensure that key infrastructure 
such as roads including the 
A47, rail links, broadband, 
telecommunications and 
utilities in the district are 
improved enabling us to be a 
location of choice

Re-word To capture the work around 
utilities that the organisation has 
had to undertake.

CA11 Work to prevent and reduce 
homelessness in the district 
and continue to work with 
partners across Norfolk to 
deliver effective housing 
solutions

Re-word To strengthen the focus around 
homelessness prevention.

CA12 Enable the effective planning 
and delivery of housing solutions 
to meet local needs and 
aspirations to ensure that our 
residents including veterans 
have access to a range of 
housing options in the district

Keep as is

CA13 Develop a Sustainability 
Strategy that sets out how as 
an organisation we will 
respond to climate change but 
also identifies how we will 
empower our communities to 
take action for themselves

NEW New action to capture the 
Council’s commitment to the 
Climate agenda

25



29 January 2020 Version 5

CA14 Work to deliver an action 
plan to address 
Vulnerability in the district

NEW To reflect the work around 
vulnerability, subject to 
Cabinet/Council agreement in 
February.

CA15 Deliver a Community Grants 
scheme through Norfolk 
Community Foundation to 
empower communities to 
address local issues

NEW To capture new work areas 
agreed by Cabinet

CA16 Fund a Grants scheme to 
facilitate community events 
held in commemoration and 
celebration for the Battle of 
Britain, and VE and VJ day 
75th Anniversaries

NEW To capture new work areas 
agreed by Cabinet

CA17 Support the district’s long 
history with the military by 
funding the Armed Forces 
Covenant 

NEW To capture new work areas 
agreed by Cabinet

CA18 Work with Flagship group on 
key strategic sites where 
regeneration can improve the 
local housing provision

NEW To capture the work with 
Flagship.

Delete Continue to use our Community 
Reserve to deliver targeted 
benefits to our communities 
based on their needs

Delete This is a duplication as it is 
covered by other critical 
activities.

Delete Work to ensure that our 
residents have access to have 
access to a high quality and 
diverse leisure, arts and cultural 
offer

Delete Arts & Culture elements are 
picked up through the work of 
MTI. Leisure is covered 
elsewhere so this critical activity 
is to be deleted as it is a 
duplication.

Priority: YOUR HEALTH & WELLBEING

CA#  “We will…” Proposed 
Change by 

EMT

Rationale

CA19 Ensure that our public protection 
services continue to enable our 
communities to remain healthy 
and safe through our regulatory 

Keep as is

26



29 January 2020 Version 5

activities including food safety, 
environmental protection and 
licensing

CA20 Continue to ensure that our 
leisure provider delivers a broad 
range of options targeted at 
increasing physical activity in our 
district

Keep as is

CA21 Proactively influence NHS 
Primary Care Commissioning 
across Norfolk to ensure the 
best health outcomes for 
Breckland

Re-word To shift focus on to work with 
primary care commissioning and 
Neighbour teams.

CA22 Maintain our current leisure 
provision, look to deliver a 
new Leisure Centre in 
Attleborough & Swaffham and 
explore further opportunities 
across the district

Re-word To strengthen the work coming 
forward around Leisure in 
Attleborough & Swaffham.

CA23 Ensure our residents are 
given advice to help maximise 
their income and manage their 
debts

Re-word To reflect that a number of 
services give debt and income 
advice not just ARP.

CA24 Commission services to help 
improve the lives of socially 
isolated and lonely people 
across Breckland, including 
the continuation of the Silver 
Social Project 

NEW To reflect the work around 
vulnerability, subject to 
Cabinet/Council agreement in 
February.

CA25 Continue to work 
collaboratively with partners 
to further develop and deliver 
Early Help solutions that 
prevent vulnerable people 
reaching to crisis point

NEW To reflect the work around 
vulnerability, subject to 
Cabinet/Council agreement in 
February.

Delete Lead and support activities and 
partnerships to address key local 
physical and mental health, 
social care and wellbeing issues

Delete Replaced by actions relating to 
Vulnerability (subject to 
agreement by Cabinet/Council)

Delete Continue to engage with 
partners to lead early 
intervention activities such as 
the Early Help Hub to support, 

Delete Replaced by actions relating to 
Vulnerability (subject to 
agreement by Cabinet/Council)

27



29 January 2020 Version 5

reduce and prevent complex 
needs

Delete Proactively address social 
isolation through initiatives such 
as the ‘Silver Social’

Delete Replaced by actions relating to 
Vulnerability (subject to 
agreement by Cabinet/Council)

Delete Deliver a targeted programme of 
Health and Wellbeing activities 
to improve health outcomes 
across the district

Delete Replaced by actions relating to 
Vulnerability (subject to 
agreement by Cabinet/Council)

Delete Ensure that our residents are 
enabled to live in high quality 
housing no matter the tenure

Delete It was felt that this duplicated 
other housing critical activities in 
the Your Place priority.

Delete Enable vulnerable residents to 
remain living independently in 
the community by using 
Disabled Facilities Grants to 
make adaptations

Delete It was felt that this is more of a 
delivery plan action than a 
critical activity.

Priority: YOUR OPPORTUNITY 

CA#  “We will…” Proposed 
Change by 

EMT

Rationale

CA26 Proactively work with partners to 
identify and optimise funding 
opportunities that will draw 
resources into our district to 
support our plans for substantial 
and continued growth

Keep as is

CA27 Continue to deliver a clear “open 
for business” approach across 
all Council services that 
promotes and supports business 
growth

Keep as is

CA28 Proactively lobby the New Anglia 
Local Enterprise Partnership to 
improve skills levels and access 
to further education in 
Breckland, supporting the 
prosperity of both our residents 
and our businesses

Keep as is

28



29 January 2020 Version 5

CA29 Work with partners to address 
key barriers to employment 
such as transport, education 
and skills

Re-word To highlight some of the work 
we have already started.

CA30 Develop and deliver a clear 
strategy for ‘Invest in Breckland’ 
with a view to supporting the 
growth of businesses located 
within the district, whilst also 
working proactively to attract 
new inward investment that can 
bring further prosperity to 
Breckland

Existing

CA31 Maximise the benefits that the 
‘Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor’ will bring to business 
growth

Keep as is

CA32 Work with our partners to 
stimulate housing and 
employment development in our 
major growth areas, with a 
particular focus on Thetford, 
Snetterton and Attleborough

Keep as is

Internal Priority: OUR COUNCIL

CA#  “We will…” Proposed 
Change by 

EMT

Rationale

CA33 Ensure that our services are 
digitally enabled, efficient and 
meet the expectations of our 
changing community whilst not 
excluding those that are unable 
to interact in that way

Existing

CA34 Ensure that our staff have the 
skills needed to drive the 
organisation forward and meet 
the expectations of our 
changing communities and how 
they wish to interact with us

Existing

29



29 January 2020 Version 5

CA35 Implement and embed 
national policies relating to 
modern slavery and the 
safeguarding of vulnerable 
children and adults 
throughout all aspects of our 
services

Re-word To capture our organisational 
responsibilities around modern 
slavery.

CA36 Continue to ensure that our 
regulatory and statutory 
services remain fully compliant 
with all current and emerging 
legislation

Existing

CA37 Continue to strengthen our 
commercial approach which will 
secure our financial position by 
identifying income generation 
opportunities and efficiencies 
through trading and sharing

Existing

CA38 Maximise the returns generate 
by the Council’s commercial and 
operational assets

Existing

CA39 Continue to maximise grant 
income brought into the Council

Existing

CA40 Help shape, influence and 
respond to emerging national 
policy to ensure that we 
maximise the opportunity for 
Breckland

Re-word To clarify that this about 
responding to nation policy 
changes such as Brexit, waste 
consultation. 

CA41 Ensure the delivery of social 
value, cost effectiveness and 
high quality service provision 
through a robust approach to 
procurement and contracts 
management

Re-word To better reflect the council’s 
strategic commissioning 
intentions.

30



29 January 2020 Version 5

CA42 Keep residents, businesses, 
and partners informed about 
council services and latest 
opportunities through clear and 
effective communications

Existing

CA43 Deliver the Worksmart 2020 
Programme which will enable 
us to use our Elizabeth House 
building more effectively to 
offset its running costs and 
drive modern effective way of 
working for our staff

NEW To reflect new work area agreed 
by Council.

Delete Continue to work effectively with 
all our partners to deliver 
significant benefits to the 
communities of Breckland

Delete Duplication of other critical 
activities.

31



Breckland Council narrative

Your Place
Breckland’s vision is to ensure the district remains a place where people and business can thrive. The 
delivery of quality, cost-effective services - such as regular bin collections, housing support and 
tacking anti-social behaviour - is at the heart of what we do, but we also seek new opportunities to 
enhance the district and help local people fulfil their full potential.

Fundamental to this is ensuring the safety of our residents, particularly those who are most 
vulnerable. We do this by working with our partners to tackle issues such as County Lines drug 
trafficking and supporting people experiencing domestic abuse.

We strive to ensure each of our five market towns and their surrounding areas are great places in 
which to live, work, and invest. We want people to choose to live and work in Breckland and to 
attract visitors to the district, as this keeps our communities vibrant and because increasing footfall 
will support businesses and local people’s jobs.

We recognise we’re not the only organisation wanting to make this happen, so to make sure we are 
working in a planned, joined-up way we’ve commissioned a series of town development plans to 
gain a greater understanding of what improvements we can make together.

This will help us build on the significant investment in community-based initiatives already under 
way, including £6m over four years from our inclusive growth reserve and around £0.5m through our 
Market Towns Initiative to enhance our towns and safeguard our high streets. We’ve put in place 
innovative projects such as a community lottery to help support financially and promote local good 
causes.

Protecting our environment is an important issue for our residents and they want us to take action 
around climate change, therefore we are developing a long-term sustainability policy and 
programme of activity to address this issue.

Your Health
Supporting the health and wellbeing of our residents is a key priority for the council. In addition to 
funding swimming, gym and sports facilities across the district, we also organise or pay for a number 
of initiatives for people of all ages, including our summer holiday activity programme for youngsters 
and our award-winning Silver Social arts programme for older people who may otherwise be at risk 
of social isolation.

We work with our partners to agree and deliver an overarching approach to preventing mental and 
physical ill-health, protecting vulnerable people from harm and the provision of wellbeing services 
for the county. On a day-to-day basis we also keep people safe through business licensing, food 
safety checks and monitoring the environment.

Your Opportunities
We have a clear and considered strategy for the district’s growth - both in terms of housing and jobs 
– having adopted our Local Plan in December 2019, which we will use as a blueprint for growth until 
2036. 

We are investing in the district ourselves, as well as working with a range of partners to attract new 
businesses to the area and supporting existing businesses to grow. This will help them succeed in the 

32



future and create new jobs within Breckland. For example, we are working with others to improve 
power supply at Snetterton Heath, as well as promoting the site to new businesses through our 
involvement in the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor partnership.

We are also working with businesses and education services to ensure training is available locally to 
help close identified skills gaps and support people into new or higher-paid employment. 

Your Council
We are able to balance the books and protect our services in part because we were among the first 
councils to buy offices, warehouses and other assets and then rent them out. We now receive as 
much money in commercial property rent as we get from local council tax, which means we can 
keep our share of district council tax among the lowest in the country.

As an evolving council, we anticipate and adapt to the changing needs of local people and the 
challenges we face. By providing access to more of our services online – such as new online 
application forms and payment options – people can choose to interact with us quickly, easily and at 
a time that suits them. It also means our staff can focus on residents with the greatest needs. 
  
Through our Worksmart 20:20 programme, we have set out a vision for the council and its staff to 
work in a more modern and efficient way. By changing our building, technology and working 
practices we will not only be more efficient, we will also improve our customers’ experience of 
accessing services and support.

33



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Health & Housing, Councillor Alison Webb

To: Overview & Scrutiny – 6 February 2020
Cabinet – 16 March 2020

Author: Riana Rudland, Breckland Place Manager 

Subject: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 - 2025

Purpose: To provide an opportunity for Members to consider and comment on the 
Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 

Recommendation: 

1) That the Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 - 2025 be considered by 
Members and recommended to Cabinet for approval. 

1.0 BACKGROUND
1.1 The Council last published a Housing and Homelessness Strategy in 2017 providing a 

plan for delivering new housing supply, addressing housing need and tackling 
homelessness in the district for the period 2017-2021. 

1.2 The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the National Rough Sleeping 
Strategy, new statutory Codes of Guidance and a renewed Government focus on duties to 
prevent and relieve homelessness have brought with them a requirement to produce a 
new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy during Winter 2019. 

1.3 The National LGA were invited to carry out a Peer Review of the Housing Service in July 
2019 which highlighted the need for additional work on homeless prevention. In order to 
develop a new strategy, the East of England LGA was commissioned to carry out a review 
of homelessness in the district, taking into account the requirements of the raft of new 
legislation and guidance. 

1.4 The Homelessness Review was undertaken between September and November 2019 
and included a desktop review of statistical information, a review of processes, 
procedures, protocols and policies used in tackling homelessness, the support available 
for homeless households and involved consultation with officers, and engagement with 
partners and key stakeholders. The review provided a sound basis for formulating the 
Council’s new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025.

1.5 An Executive Member led Steering Group including our partner housing association 
Flagship Housing was established to oversee work on developing the Strategy.  

1.6 Key priorities and actions are highlighted in the Strategy developed to reduce 
homelessness and the associated costs of providing expensive temporary 
accommodation. 

1.7 The Council is currently consulting on the Strategy with key partners and stakeholders for 
a two-week period until 9th February. 

34

Agenda Item 8



2.0 OPTIONS
2.1 The requirement by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) to produce a new strategy limits the option to ensuring a new Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy is in place as soon as possible. 

2.2 Members of Overview & Scrutiny have an opportunity to comment on the draft Strategy, 
consider feedback received from partners so far (this will be available verbally at the 
meeting) and confirm the strategic priorities and associated actions within the strategy.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1         The proposal aligns closely with Breckland Council’s strategic vision and priorities for the 

five years 2019 – 2023 as agreed in our Corporate Plan. Your Place: ‘Supporting growth, 
preventing homelessness, increase housing options’. 

3.2 The rationale behind the strategy is to provide a vehicle to improve the homelessness and 
housing service with a view to reducing homelessness, especially rough sleeping in the 
district and put in place an action plan to shape service improvement for the next twelve 
months. 

3.3 It is also a Government requirement to have a new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy in place.  

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS
4.1 The Strategy aims to create positive change and to enhance the housing options services 

with the key objectives:
 Customer satisfaction and service accessibility will be improved through the 

improved housing advice and support service;
 There will be clear strategies and policies which provide transparency and clarity 

and a pro-active approach to homelessness prevention;
 It will deliver a reduction in the number of households placed in temporary bed and 

breakfast accommodation and a reduction in the associated costs. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1       Constitution & Legal
5.1.1 There is a statutory requirement from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government to have an updated Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy in place by 
31st December 2019. While this Strategy will not be formally adopted until March the 
MHCLG are satisfied that it is in draft form and will be adopted soon. 

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.2.1 This strategy fulfils the ‘place’ focused corporate priority as agreed in the 2019 – 2023    

Corporate Plan for Breckland. 
Your Place: ‘Supporting growth, preventing homelessness, increase housing options’. 

5.3 Financial 

35



5.3.1   A focus on pro-active prevention of homelessness and on developing the Council’s own 
temporary accommodation will bring a reduction in the future costs of providing expensive 
bed and breakfast accommodation. 

5.4       Health & Wellbeing
5.4.1 The prevention of homelessness and ensuring people have a safe place to live is key to the   

health and wellbeing of the residents of Breckland. 

5.5 Staffing
5.5.1 The Strategy includes proposals to re-structure the housing service in order to deliver the 

service change required. This will be carried out with full engagement of the housing team 
and in accordance with the Councils HR policies and procedures.  

5.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.6.1 The Strategy has been developed in partnership with stakeholders. A stakeholder event 

was held on 27 November 2019 attended by over 40 representatives from local statutory 
services and the voluntary and community sector. 

5.6.2 Consultation is taking place with stakeholders on the Draft Strategy between 27th January 
and 9th February in order to gain support for the priorities and actions within the Strategy.

      
5.6.3 The final Strategy will be presented to Cabinet on 16 March for approval and adoption. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
6.1       No wards or communities are directly affected by the strategy although people in housing 

need and threatened with homelessness can come from any ward or community in the 
district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1      LGA – Local Government Association
           MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Background papers: - Homelessness Review Report

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:                    Riana Rudland
Telephone Number: 01362 656300
Email: riana.rudland@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025
Appendix B                            Homelessness Review Report

36



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Homelessness and  

Rough Sleeping Strategy  

2020-2025 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

2 
 

Contents page  

 
Chapter Contents Page no. 
Foreword  3 

Chapter 1 
 

Introduction and Key Priorities 
1.1   Introduction 
1.2   Key Priorities 

 
4 
4 

Chapter 2 Achievements from 2017 Strategy 
2.1   Achievements 

 
5 

Chapter 3 
 

National Strategic Context 
3.1   Homelessness Reduction Act 
3.2   Homelessness Code of Guidance 
3.3   No Second Night Out 
3.4   Welfare Reform Act 
3.5   Deregulation Act 
3.6   Care Act & Better Care Fund 
3.7   National Rough Sleeping Strategy 
3.8   Brexit 
3.9   Other changes 
3.10 Summary 

 
6 
6 
6 
6 
6 
7 
7 
7 
7 
7 

Chapter 4 Local Strategic Context 
4.1   Corporate Plan 
4.2   Housing & Homelessness Strategy 2017-2021 
4.3   Housing Allocation Scheme 
4.4   Breckland Key Select & Housing Register  
4.5   Partnerships 
4.6   Engaging with Private Landlords 

 
8 
8 
8 
8 
9 
9 

Chapter 5 Statistical Profile of Breckland 
5.1   Geography 
5.2   Population and Forecasts 
5.3   Deprivation 
5.4   Economy and Employment 
5.5   Breckland Housing Market 
5.6   Housing Costs and Affordability 
5.7   New Housing Supply 

 
10 
10 
10 
10 
11 
12 
13 

Chapter 6 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
6.1   Homelessness in Breckland 
6.2   Access to homeless prevention services 
6.3   The needs of vulnerable groups 
6.4   Review of Temporary accommodation  
6.5   Rough Sleeping 

 
14 
14 
15 
15 
15 

Chapter 7 Our Key Priorities 17 
Appendix 1 Action Plan 19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

38



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

3 
 

Foreword 

Meeting local people’s housing requirements is a core objective of Breckland Council. We 
recognise that people’s needs and situations are diverse and there are many challenges, 
and this document outlines how we will support people and deliver the best possible housing 
and homelessness service. 
  
Breckland is a thriving district and we are seeing increasing demand for more and more 
homes to help meet the needs of the next generation. We know that not everybody wants or 
is able to become a homeowner themselves and we have identified that the cost of private 
rented housing in Breckland is rising. As a result, we will work with landlords to encourage a 
competitive market and a good mix of housing options to ensure access to a quality home is 
not out of the reach of anybody. We will also support landlords to meet latest legislation, 
make positive returns on their investments, and offer quality housing to local people. 
  
Homelessness is on the rise in Breckland and so prevention of this issue will remain a key 
priority going forward. We will work hard to make services easy to access and focus on early 
intervention to help people avoid becoming homeless. We are committed to providing 
effective housing and homelessness services which meet the needs of local people. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

4 
 

Chapter 1 – Introduction and Key Priorities  

1.1 Introduction 

This Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy covers the period 2020-2025. The 

document sets out the high-level strategic issues affecting homelessness and rough 

sleeping in Breckland and the council’s plans to work in partnership with others to meet 

housing need in the district.  

 

Homelessness is a key priority for Breckland Council and preventing homelessness and 

working with others to support homeless people and mitigate the effects of homelessness is 

a focus for the workplan. We also recognise that homelessness is a result of many inter-

related issues including the failure in our local market to meet the housing needs of local 

people, the disparity between house prices and incomes, the cost of the private rented 

sector compared to local housing allowance rates, the availability of services to support 

people in sustaining their tenancies, and the general lack of affordable housing.  

 
1.2 Key Priorities  

Our four key priorities are: 

 

 To improve access to early housing advice and homelessness prevention services; 

 To reduce the number of people sleeping rough in Breckland; 

 To reduce the numbers in temporary accommodation and reduce the reliance of bed 

and breakfast within two years; 

 To develop new services and partnerships to improve housing options. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

5 
 

Chapter 2 – Achievements since the Housing & Homelessness Strategy 2017 

2.1 Achievements 

The council developed a Housing and Homelessness Strategy in 2017 which focussed on a 

number of actions across the three priorities: preventing homelessness; improving health 

outcomes by improving our housing; and supporting housing growth. The Strategy is still 

current, not expiring until 2021, however the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction 

Act and the publication of a National Rough Sleeping Strategy in 2018 have created a need 

to refresh the homelessness and rough sleeping elements.   

 

In the two years since the strategy was developed the council has developed much stronger 

partnerships including: 

 

 With private landlords, including the employment of a Tenancy Relations Officer and 

the introduction of a quarterly Private Landlord Forum to encourage early prevention 

for tenancies at risk; 

 With Norfolk County Council, developed an Early Intervention Multi Agency Hub which 

is delivering joined-up and cohesive services that enable those with complex needs to 

be more effectively supported with multiple, often interrelated issues; 

 With partners and through the council’s ‘digitalisation’ programme, we have introduced 

initiatives that support digital access amongst vulnerable households and help prepare 

them for the digital aspects of the Universal Credit application process; 

 With DWP, schools, job clubs, key local businesses, we have employed dedicated 

Skills Development Officers and developed a number of programmes aimed at 

supporting people into work, including supporting young people in obtaining 

apprenticeships through to assisting those who are affected by the loss of jobs at key 

employers within the district. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

6 
 

Chapter 3 - National Strategic Context 

At the point of writing there has been a general election and a new Government has been 

elected which will bring new policies from the Conservative manifesto. In addition, the 

national context is unclear on the Brexit issue. The following legislation and policies are 

current, but it is noted that the situation may change with the upcoming changes to the 

Government. 

 

3.1 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (“HRA 2017”).  
The HRA 20171 introduced new duties around preventing and relieving homelessness which 
includes extending the period within which an applicant is considered to be threatened with 
homelessness, and new requirements around provision of advice. The Government has 
been making more funding available for dealing with homelessness and has committed to 
halve rough sleeping by 2022 and to eliminate it by 2027. 
 
3.2 The Homelessness Code of Guidance.2  
The Code of Guidance explains how the Act should be implemented. In practice it is a guide 
that tells the Council how to review the effectiveness of its homelessness provisions and to 
produce a new strategy every five years. It states the requirements that all organisations, 
within all sectors, whose work can help to prevent homelessness and/or meet the needs of 
homeless people in their district, must be involved in the development of the strategy. 
 
3.3 No Second Night Out (2011)3.  

This was aimed at tackling the problem of rough sleepers by ensuring that any new 

homeless person should have a chance to find accommodation and not to fall into a rough 

sleeping lifestyle. It was also recommended that partners work together to tackle the 

underlying causes of rough sleeping and improve support services to help people access 

healthcare and employment.  

 

3.4   Welfare Reform Act (2012)4.  

The implementation of a major national programme of welfare reforms aimed mainly at 

working age people is well under way with implementation of Universal Credit at the 

Dereham DWP in June 2018 and at the Thetford DWP in September 20185. A key driver of 

the welfare changes is to make it financially worthwhile for people to take on paid 

employment rather than claim benefits. This combined with advice and support around 

seeking employment, education and/or training is intended to lead to improved opportunities 

for some people who would previously have been caught in the ‘benefit trap’. However, with 

cuts to the national welfare budget happening at the same time, many claimants are finding 

their benefits reduced, including those who are already in work. Local Housing Allowance 

rates6 are insufficient to cover even the cheapest rents in parts of Breckland, making it 

difficult for some people to access or remain in private rented housing.  

 

3.5 The Deregulation Act (2015)7.  

This introduced protection for private rented tenants against so called retaliatory evictions 

which occur when a tenant makes a legitimate complaint to their landlord about the condition 

                                                           
1
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted 

2
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities 

3
 http://www.nosecondnightout.org.uk/about-nsno/no-second-night-out-nationwide/ 

4
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/contents/enacted 

5
 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/universalcredit 

6
https://lhadirect.voa.gov.uk/SearchResults.aspx?LocalAuthorityId=312&LHACategory=999&Month=11&Year=20

19&SearchPageParameters=true 
7
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/contents/enacted  

42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
http://www.nosecondnightout.org.uk/about-nsno/no-second-night-out-nationwide/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/contents/enacted
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/universalcredit
https://lhadirect.voa.gov.uk/SearchResults.aspx?LocalAuthorityId=312&LHACategory=999&Month=11&Year=2019&SearchPageParameters=true
https://lhadirect.voa.gov.uk/SearchResults.aspx?LocalAuthorityId=312&LHACategory=999&Month=11&Year=2019&SearchPageParameters=true
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/contents/enacted


Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

7 
 

of their property and instead of carrying-out the repair the landlord serves them with an 

eviction notice. All new Assured Shorthold tenants starting on or after 1st October 2015 are 

covered by the provisions of the Act. 

3.6.      Care Act 2014 and Better Care Fund.  

The Care Act 20148 requires local upper tier social services authorities to carry out a needs 

assessment in order to determine whether an adult has needs for care and support, it also 

supports closer working between health, housing and social care services. From 2015/16 

onwards the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocation has been included within the Better 

Care Fund (BCF)9. The BCF created a pooled budget in each upper tier local authority area 

to encourage health, social care and other related services to work more closely together. 

The inclusion of the DFG allocation is intended to recognise the vital role that the home 

plays in helping people to remain healthy and independent. Government has increased the 

amount given to local authorities significantly over the last few years with the expectation 

that local areas will be more flexible in how the money is spent.  

 

3.7.      National Rough Sleeping Strategy 201810.  

The Government is committed to halving rough sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027. The 

Rough Sleeping Strategy published in August 2018 sets out the Government’s 2027 vision to 

support every person who sleeps rough off the streets and into a home. This is backed up by 

£100 million of funding in the next two years (2020-2021) and marks the beginning of plans 

to meet the 2027 ambition. A Rough Sleeping Strategy Delivery Plan11 was published in 

December 2018 which sets out more information on the 61 commitments made in the 

strategy. It also includes examples of projects which are underway, people who have been 

helped by this work, and new approaches to partnership working in local areas. 

 

3.8      Brexit.  

The economic and social effects of the UK leaving the EU is not clear at the time of writing 

and it is yet to be determined what the effects maybe for at the local level. The eligibility of 

people approaching the council as homeless may change if they are not granted settled 

status, however as the position is yet to be defined this will require careful monitoring.  

 

3.9     Other Changes.  

Other recent changes in the sector include a Tenant Fees Act 2019 which came into force in 

June 2019 and which stamps out letting agents’ fees and capped deposits. Further changes 

include the extension of mandatory HMO licensing including minimum room sizes and a 

specification of the maximum number of people the HMO should house, which came into 

force in October 2018. 

 

3.10 Summary.  

Many of these policies present real challenges for Breckland. House prices have risen 

steadily faster than earnings during the past five years. Building activity from the housing 

association sector slowed down due to concerns around a number of issues such as 

reduced rental income, the impact of welfare reform and the availability of support services. 

Meanwhile, homelessness and rough sleeping remain major concerns.  

                                                           
8
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted 

9
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821676/Better

_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf 
10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rou
gh-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf 
11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762854/RSS

_delivery_plan.pdf  

43

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821676/Better_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/821676/Better_Care_Fund_2019-20_Policy_Framework.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rough-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733421/Rough-Sleeping-Strategy_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762854/RSS_delivery_plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/762854/RSS_delivery_plan.pdf


Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

8 
 

Chapter 4 - Local Strategic Context 

The following section provides a summary of the key local strategies and policies which 

impact and influence Breckland Council.  

 

4.1      Breckland Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 

The Breckland Corporate Plan sets out the council’s vision and ambitions for the district over 

the period between 2019 and 2023. The plan sets out the overarching vision, that is 

“Breckland – a place where people and business can thrive,” along with identifying four 

corporate priorities which are: 

 Your Place – supporting growth, preventing homelessness, increase housing 
options, 

 Your Health and Wellbeing – early intervention activities to support vulnerable 
people, ensure all homes of a high quality, provide high quality financial advice, 
enable vulnerable residents to remain living independently through adaptations,  

 Your Opportunity – work with partners to identify funding to deliver growth along 
with housing and employment opportunities in the major growth areas, 

 Our Council – effective partnership working and ensuring our policies are fit for 
purpose and maximise opportunity.  

 
4.2     Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-2021 
The current Housing and Homelessness Strategy12 sets out the Councils strategic approach 

to the broader housing elements across the district including the three priorities of:  

 Priority 1 - Preventing homelessness 

 Priority 2 - Improving Health outcomes by improving our housing 

 Priority 3 - Supporting housing Growth.  

The Strategy has a further two years to run and in terms of priorities 2 and 3 is still fit for 

purpose. However in terms of homelessness and rough sleeping the strategy does not take 

into account the far fetching changes brought in by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

and the National Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018.  

 

The Housing Strategy will be refreshed to take into account the new Government’s political 

direction on growth.  

 
4.3      Housing Allocation Scheme  
The Housing Allocation scheme has been developed and updated in accordance with the 

Housing Act 1996 Part VI as amended by the Localism Act 2011. A review of the policy was 

undertaken in 2019 as part of the comprehensive review of the homelessness service and a 

new policy adopted with minor changes to ensure it complements and supports the aims of 

this strategy to support homelessness prevention and is an effective tool to meet housing 

need and reduce reliance on temporary accommodation.  

 

4.4     Breckland Key Select & Housing Register 

The Allocation Scheme sits alongside Breckland Key Select which is a choice based lettings 

system. Key Select works in partnership with all Registered Social Landlords within the 

district. This enables transparent allocation of all properties advertised though the housing 

register with strong partnership working. The partners meet on a regular basis to review the 

scheme and discuss particular issues facing the district.  

 

 

                                                           
12

 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/14869/Housing-Strategy-

2017/pdf/housing_and_homelessness_strategy_version_2.pdf?m=637108836232030000 

44

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/14869/Housing-Strategy-2017/pdf/housing_and_homelessness_strategy_version_2.pdf?m=637108836232030000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/14869/Housing-Strategy-2017/pdf/housing_and_homelessness_strategy_version_2.pdf?m=637108836232030000


Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

9 
 

4.5     Partnerships 
The Council has some strong partnership structures in place with Registered Providers and 
other local authorities providing early warnings of homelessness and the ability to plan 
individual pathways and develop additional services to meet unmet need. Partnership 
arrangements exist with Flagship Housing, CAB, Social Services, Leaving Care teams, 
private landlords, domestic abuse services, supported housing providers, local churches, 
support providers and other local authorities.  
 
Partnerships in place include: 

 Norfolk Homelessness Project 

 Norfolk Housing Reference Group 

 Norfolk Housing Alliance 

 Housing Advice and Allocations Lead Officers Group (HAALO) 

 Joint protocol meetings – Young People’s Housing Protocol, Mental Health 
Hospital Discharge Protocol, Greater Norwich and Breckland Criminal Justice 
and Homelessness Prevention Protocol 

 Early Help Hub Meetings 
  
4.6      Engaging with Private Landlords 
The council has developed effective arrangements promoting closer working with private 
landlords and letting agencies with the aim of building strong working relationships across 
the housing, health and homelessness sectors.  
 
The council employs a full-time Tenancy Relation Officer who provides advice and 
assistance to private landlords and tenants on their rights and responsibilities encouraging 
good practice within the private rented sector through training and other initiatives as shown 
below: 
 

 Landlord Forum.  
The council holds regular quarterly landlord forums with landlords, agents and tenants. 
The forums have guest speakers from different agencies and the aim is to encourage 
landlords to engage with the local authority, understand procedures and legislation and 
the consequences of non-compliance. Landlords can connect with other local 
businesses, internal departments and agencies.  

 Advice and Assistance.  
The council offers support to ensure clarity on how legislation protects landlords and 
their assets. With the introduction of the Tenant Fees Ban many landlords felt it was not 
beneficial to rent out their properties due to increased costs. However, with support and 
information provided and grants available they are encouraged not only to take 
nominations from our Housing Team but to also to improve their existing properties and 
increase their portfolios by investing in the local area. The information available online 
has also increased. 

 Landlord Portfolio.  
There is a landlord portfolio database of privately rented properties to help discharge the 
council’s housing obligations for temporary or permanent accommodation. Officers work 
closely with landlords to ensure that such properties are free from serious hazards and 
let to good standards. 

 Tenancy Awareness Course.  
A tenancy awareness course tailored to residents who need further support and 
guidance in managing and sustaining a tenancy is being rolled out in 2020. It provides 
residents with clear access to their rights and responsibilities as well as building 
confidence and practical knowledge of how to maintain a tenancy. Landlords will also 
benefit from prospective tenants taking this course as subjects covered include 
budgeting, paying bills, maintaining their home and reporting repairs. 

45



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

10 
 

Chapter 5 - Statistical Profile of Breckland 
 
5.1      Geography 
Spanning over 500 square miles, Breckland is a geographically inland large rural district 
located in the heart of Norfolk. The district is characterised by a dispersed settlement pattern 
of market towns, villages and hamlets. There are five market towns, a network of local 
service centres which are larger villages with more facilities, and numerous small villages 
and hamlets. Approximately half the current population live in one of the five market towns of 
Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton with the remaining population 
dispersed across the district. The area is represented through 112 town and parish councils. 
 
 
5.2 Population and Forecasts 
The data from the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 (“SHMA”) shows that there 

has been steady growth in the population in Breckland over time (from 1981 to 2011). The 

population in 2011 was estimated to be 130,50013. Breckland, along with Norwich and South 

Norfolk are projected to the fastest growing districts in the county. The mid-estimate 201814 

based on the 2011 Census suggests that: 

 There are 139,400 people living in Breckland; 

 That the population is due to increase to 153,678 by 2036 representing a 10 percent 

increase from 2018 and due to increase to 159,400 by 2041. 

Between 2018 and 2041: 

 The number of young people aged 0-15 is estimated to increase by 2.2%; 

 The number of people aged 16-64 is estimated to increase by 2.3%; 

 The number of people aged over 65 is estimated to increase by 51%. 

 

5.3 Deprivation 
There is some variation across the district with some areas especially the smaller villages 
with no or little services, with higher rates of deprivation based on the Index of Deprivation 
201915. According to the Index, Breckland is 127th most deprived area nationally out of 317 
districts in the country. When compared to the local authorities in Norfolk, Breckland is the 
5th most deprived out of the 7 local authorities.  
 
5.4 Economy and employment  
Communities in Breckland look primarily towards the Norwich urban area for employment, 
retail, transport and service provision, such as hospitals for employment opportunities. In 
Breckland agriculture, advanced engineering and manufacturing logistics along with forestry 
are the dominant business sectors with professional, scientific and technical and food 
processing not far behind.16 

 
Wages are relatively low in comparison with the national and regional averages. This reflects 
the low level of qualifications of people in the district and the low level of skills required by 
many of the available jobs. Although there is a high proportion of people living and working 
in the district, many higher qualified workers are travelling out of the area to access higher 

                                                           
13

https://www.southnorfolk.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Strategic%20Housing%20Market%20Assessment%20%2820
17%29.pdf. Page 16, para 2.17 
14

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/population/report/view/b15822d80ec54439bb12134b7c857bb9/E07000143  
15

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/833970/File_
1_-_IMD2019_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation.xlsx 
16

 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1960/Employment-Growth-Study-and-Land-Review-
2013/pdf/13559_Breckland_EGS_Final_Report_29_11_13.pdf?m=635955577069670000 

46

https://www.southnorfolk.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Strategic%20Housing%20Market%20Assessment%20%282017%29.pdf
https://www.southnorfolk.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Strategic%20Housing%20Market%20Assessment%20%282017%29.pdf
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/population/report/view/b15822d80ec54439bb12134b7c857bb9/E07000143
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1960/Employment-Growth-Study-and-Land-Review-2013/pdf/13559_Breckland_EGS_Final_Report_29_11_13.pdf?m=635955577069670000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/1960/Employment-Growth-Study-and-Land-Review-2013/pdf/13559_Breckland_EGS_Final_Report_29_11_13.pdf?m=635955577069670000


Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

11 
 

paid and higher skilled work. 78% of the working age population are in employment, which is 
comparable across the East of England and the UK average.17 

 
The level of full-time employment is below the national average (75.4%) but higher than the 
regional (71.9%). The level of self-employed residents is below the national average (10.9%) 
and the regional (10%). The average median pay for all workers in district is £21,762 which 
is 11.7% lower than the national average but on equal levels regionally.18 
 
Unemployment in the district is very low and has been consistently below both the national 
and county figures with 2.9% of the population out of work, compared to 3.4% regionally and 
4.1% nationally. The number of retired residents (20.6%) is greater than regionally (19.7%) 
and nationally (12.5%).19 
 
5.5      Breckland Housing Market 
The ONS 201120 confirms that in the district: 

 68.7% of all properties are owned outright or with a mortgage 

 13.8% of all properties are social rented properties (affordable rented properties from 
registered provider), which is below the UK average of 18% 

 15.2% are available for private rent, which is below the UK average of 17%  

 Shared ownership only makes up 0.6% of the housing market 
 

Figure 1 – Breckland Housing Tenure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 There is a high proportion of bungalows (26.1%) in the district. This level is higher than 
Norfolk and significantly higher than England at 9.5%.  

 Breckland has a high proportion of detached houses (25%) higher than Norfolk and 
significantly higher than the rate in England at 15.5%. 

 On the opposite scale, there are considerably less flats/maisonettes in the district 
(6.6%), compared to 12.6% for Norfolk and 22.8% for England.21 

                                                           
17

 https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp= 
18

  https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/economy-and-
employment/report/view/d8f217281336410481a896033ba81e66/E07000143 
19

 https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp= 
20

 https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census 
21

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Owned Shared ownership Social rented Private rented Living rent free

Breckland Housing Tenure 

Breckland England

47

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp=
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/economy-and-employment/report/view/d8f217281336410481a896033ba81e66/E07000143
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/economy-and-employment/report/view/d8f217281336410481a896033ba81e66/E07000143
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp=


Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

12 
 

 Breckland has a high proportion of two and three-bedroom properties; 27% and 44% 
respectively. 

 Breckland has a low number of one-bedroom properties (7%), compared to 12% for 
England.22 

 
Figure 2 – Number of bedrooms in affordable homes in Breckland 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
From the stock list of all affordable homes in Breckland it can be seen that there is a large 
dominance of two and three bedroom properties (74.5% in total). 20% of the stock is made 
up of one bedroom properties. There are very few larger properties available for affordable 
rent in Breckland (3.2%) and very few bedsits (1%). 
 
5.6     Housing costs and affordability 
House prices in Breckland are lower than the East region23 which creates challenges for 
viability for market developers where build and land costs are similar in other areas. This in 
turn impacts on the ability to build affordable homes in the district, especially for social and 
affordable. Median house prices in 2019 are 9:1 times median incomes.24  
 
Figure 3 – Sales prices of properties 2019 
 

Sales  2019 Breckland East 

1 bed flat £86,895 £166,164 

2 bed flat £117,881 £219,913 

2 bed house £176,853 £252,170 

3 bed house £227,162 £319,086 

4 bed house £324,110 £489,055 

                                                           
22

 Census 2011 QS411EW 
23

 Hometrack 2019 
24

 Hometrack 2019 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

One Two Three Four Five Six Bedsit Not
Known

Affordable Homes Number of Bedrooms 

48



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

13 
 

 
Private sector rent levels across the district are lower than the average rent in the East.25  
 
Figure 4 – Rent Prices in Breckland and East of England 2019 
 

Weekly Rent 
2019 Breckland East LHA rates26 

1 bed £118.00 £160.00 £95.77 

2 bed £150.00 £196.00 £120.02 

3 bed £178.00 £214.00 £139.42 

4 bed £276.00 £334.00 £184.11 

 
There is a gap between weekly private rent costs and Local Housing Allowance rates 
(“LHA”). A one-bedroom private rental costs on average £118 per week whereas LHA rates 
allows for £95.77 leaving a gap of £22.23 per week. There is a weekly gap of £29.98 for a 
two-bedroom private rent and a gap of £38.58 for a three-bedroom rental. For a four-
bedroom private rental the gap is considerable at £91.89 per week.27  
 
5.7     New Housing Supply 

New housing is an identified local and national priority. In Breckland there is a growing need 

for new housing to meet the needs of the residents and the increase in the population. The 

SHMA recommended that the need for housing in Breckland over a 21-year period (2011-

2036) is a total of 15,298 new homes. This equates to an annual target of 612 new homes 

per annum.  

  

The SHMA takes existing unmet affordable housing need and projected future affordable 

housing need together and it concludes that there is a need to provide additional affordable 

housing across the housing market area over the period 2012 -2036. The study identifies an 

individual district target of 35.7% for Breckland, this is equivalent to 220 dwellings per year 

(2011 – 2036). The council seeks affordable homes on development sites through planning 

obligations secured via s106 agreements. The Local Plan set a target that on a site of 10 or 

more units (or 0.5 hectares or more) there is a requirement for the provision of 25% 

affordable homes. 

 
Figure 5 - Delivery of Affordable Housing 

  
Affordable 

rented 
Shared 

Ownership Shared Equity 
Total 

2016/2017 116 12 15 143 

2017/2018 65 16 5 86 

2018/2019 144 16 6 168 

2019/2020 (6 months) 57 0 1 58 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
25

 Hometrack 2019 
26

 LHA rates for Central Norwich, which covers the majority of district 
27

 https://lha-direct.voa.gov.uk/ 

49



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

14 
 

Chapter 6 – Homelessness and Rough-Sleeping 
The most acute form of housing need is as a result of homelessness and rough sleeping. In 

order to inform the strategic direction of the homelessness service a comprehensive service 

review was undertaken between September and November 2019 by the East of England 

Local Government Association. The review included extensive consultation with officers and 

engagement with partners and key stakeholders focussing primarily on the homelessness 

service provided by Breckland Council and the links to other support services.  

 

The Homelessness Review highlighted a number of areas where significant progress has 

been made including working in partnership with others to develop new services. However, 

the implementation of the HRA 2017 has not brought with it the shift in culture that is 

required and therefore the positive impact of these new measures is not being felt by 

potentially homeless people in Breckland. The full Homelessness Review Report can be 

found here: LINK 

 

6.1     Homelessness in Breckland 

In 2018/19 500 households approached the Council and were assessed under the 

legislation. Of those, 186 were owed a prevention duty (where threatened with 

homelessness within 56 days), and 279 owed a relief duty (actually homeless and owed a 

duty to help secure accommodation.  

The main causes of homelessness are eviction by family or friends, loss of private tenancy 

and relationship breakdown, causes that are reflected nationally. High numbers of single 

people are approaching the service and being accommodated in temporary accommodation 

when compared with other local authorities and increasing numbers of single people are 

sleeping rough. Well over half of people approaching the council for assistance are aged 

between 16 and 35 years of age reflecting the difficulties people have in accessing 

affordable accommodation in the private sector either renting or home ownership 

The majority of all people approaching the council are owed a prevention or relief duty and 

are literally roofless and in housing crisis. Mental health is the most significant support need. 

While protocols and partnerships are in place to identify risks of homelessness at an early 

stage officers haven’t been able to prioritise early advice to prevent homelessness focussing 

on people who are in housing crisis and ‘homeless tonight’.  A service re-structure is in 

progress to ensure the service is customer and homeless prevention focussed.  

6.2 Access to homeless prevention services    
The website and housing information and advice are available which, although accessible for 

many, can be a barrier for people who do not have a good internet connection or can only 

access services through a mobile phone. The district is geographically large, and 

interviewing facilities are based predominantly in Dereham at the council’s main office. 

People living in other towns and villages, especially Thetford where there is most need, have 

limited access to local housing advice and homelessness prevention services although 

housing officers do visit the Thetford Office.  

 

Links with private sector landlords are good and a tenancy training course has been 

developed. There is a rental deposit scheme to help people access the private rental market 

and a new lodgings scheme has already had some success in matching landlords with 

suitable lodgers. Landlords are increasingly approaching the council when they have issues 

with their tenants and housing advice can be provided to both parties.  

50



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

15 
 

The housing register provides an opportunity to prioritise those in housing need and to be 

used as an effective prevention tool. IT challenges have caused issues for people trying to 

access the register since its introduction in 2018 but are being addressed with a new system 

being procured. A revised Allocations Policy will ensure the policy fits the prevention agenda 

in terms of ensuring a flow through supported housing in the district.  

 

6.3 The needs of vulnerable groups 

Protocols have been developed recently to ensure co-ordinated and effective pathways for 

mental health clients and offenders. Provision of supported housing and services for single 

homeless people is good but it can be difficult for people to move on, and current provision 

risks silting up.  There is a gap in services for people with mental health issues who do not 

meet statutory thresholds and who may also have additional and complex needs which 

should be addressed. 

 

Partnership working to support domestic abuse victims is well developed but a sanctuary 

scheme could be introduced as an additional preventative measure. Developing champion 

roles in the team to focus on homeless prevention for a number of vulnerable groups 

including young people, mental health, rough sleepers etc will be of benefit.   

 

Young people and care leavers have several support options although the main one is the 

supported housing at Walmington Court in Thetford provided by the Benjamin Foundation. 

This is dedicated for young people aged 16-25 and has specialist on site support. The 

council works closely with the Leaving Care Team to address homelessness and will carry 

out joint assessments with social care when a young person agreed 16 or 17 approaches as 

homeless.  

 

6.4 Review of Temporary Accommodation 

The number of households that the council has a duty towards that are living in temporary 

accommodation at any one time has remained around 50 in 2018/19 with between 17 and 

35 placed in bed and breakfast at any one time between January and September 2019.  

 

The council recognises that the continued regular use of bed and breakfast is unacceptable 

and a project has been initiated where the council has purchased a site to be refurbished to 

provide a number of rooms and flats for temporary accommodation in the short to medium 

term, along with associated use by community-based support services in Thetford. The 

project could be operational by March 2021.  

 

The use of 16 units of self-contained temporary accommodation managed by Flagship 

Housing provide the best value for money and use of other social rented properties could be 

explored. The council also owns and leases out another property which could provide 

additional spaces for single homeless customers and this should be explored. 

 

6.5 Rough Sleeping   

One of the main indicators of acute housing need is the number of people who are sleeping 

rough in an area. Historically numbers have been low between 1 and 5 but this has grown in 

the past year to the current November official estimate figure of 16 with an increasing 

number identified as sleeping in areas behind shops or in tents in wooded areas especially 

in the Thetford area.  

 

 

 

51



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

16 
 

 Figure 6 – Rough Sleepers 

 

Number of rough sleepers in Breckland 2016-2019 

 2016 2017 2018 13/11/2019 

Number of rough sleepers 3 1 5 16 

 

The council has along with other local authorities in Norfolk received government funding to 

tackle rough sleeping. Two new full-time workers have been recruited on temporary 

contracts and both started in October 2019. The Rough Sleeper Coordinator and Rough 

Sleeper Engagement Officer’s roles are to link in with other agencies with the aim of tackling 

rough sleeping by developing alternative solutions including accessing supported housing 

and planning the Severe Weather Emergency Provision (SWEP).   

 

The council has a good relationship with local faith groups including the Salvation Army and 

other churches in Thetford who the council has worked with in previous years to deliver the 

SWEP provision and will again this year. Officers monitor the conditions and temperature 

daily and will advise officers when the trigger of three consecutive nights of actual or ‘feels 

like’ temperatures of Zero degrees or below has been met. The focus is currently on SWEP 

provision in Thetford, and while this is the area with most rough sleepers, if a rough sleeper 

is identified in Dereham this can cause issues in terms of lack of provision.  

 

The council is working with registered providers to provide emergency direct access beds in 

Thetford. These beds will provide accommodation for up to 14 nights during which time 

individuals will receive intensive support to access housing solutions and address other 

areas of need, signposting where appropriate.   

 

The new officers will be engaging and working closely with partners to contact anyone at risk 

of sleeping rough and will carry out the annual rough sleeper estimates.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

17 
 

Chapter 7 Our Key priorities  

The review of homelessness highlighted several areas where significant progress has been 

made including working in partnership with others to develop new services. However, the 

implementation of the HRA 2017 has increased the number of people approaching the 

service and the team is not yet in a position to capitalise on these schemes.   

 

This strategy provides a vehicle for re-ordering service priorities and focussing on the 

changes that will deliver the greatest improvements for customers as well as reducing the 

costs of providing shelter for those who find themselves roofless.  

 

The following four key priorities have been identified:   

 

Priority One:  

To improve access to early housing advice and homelessness prevention services. 

In order to continue to improve access for people in housing need and ensure that people 

can access the service at an early stage in line with the aims and aspirations of the 

Homelessness Prevention Act the council will: 

 Carry out a service redesign and re-structure of the service in order to create a 

customer focussed approach and easy access points  

 Develop frontline information and advice, including website enhancements making 

online, and face to face, services easier to access. 

 Develop Champion roles within the housing team in order to provide internal 

expertise in a number of areas i.e. mental health, immigration, mediation. 

 Introduce home visits for parental evictions and use mediation  

 Implementing a new IT system across the Housing Service. 

 Implement the revised Allocations Policy and ensure all applications are reviewed 

and up to date on the new IT system.   

 Launch the Tenancy Awareness Course and identify clients suitable to attend.  

 Review pre-eviction protocols with housing association partners and ensure joint 

housing visits are made prior to court action.   

Priority Two:  

To reduce the number of people sleeping rough in Breckland 

The Government is committed to halving rough sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027. This 

will require partners across the statutory and voluntary sectors to work together to seek 

solutions. Breckland will work to reduce the incidences of rough sleeping across the district 

by:  

 Establish regular multi-agency meetings to share information about rough sleepers.  

 Engage directly with those sleeping rough and keep in touch even if they do not 

engage 

 Formalise and enhance Severe Weather Emergency Provision. 

 Work with local churches and faith groups to develop new services 

 Monitor numbers of rough sleepers and actively work to reduce them  

 Consider alternative ‘innovative’ housing and crash bed solutions. 

 Work with prisons to implement the prison discharge protocol effectively to ensure 

accommodation is identified and available on release.  

 

 

53



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

18 
 

Priority Three:  

To reduce the numbers in temporary accommodation and reduce the reliance on bed 

and breakfast within two years 

There are a  number of people being placed in temporary accommodation and in unsuitable 

bed and breakfast, but the council is committed to actively develop more suitable temporary 

accommodation and reduce reliance on bed and breakfast. In order to do this, we will:  

 Develop the temporary accommodation project in Thetford.  

 Work with Flagship Housing to identify hard to let properties that could be used as 

temporary accommodation  

 Review the management contract for council owned properties to explore use for 

temporary accommodation.  

 Consider opportunities to furnish self-contained temporary accommodation to make it 

more accessible i.e. white goods, flooring 

 Ensure occupants of temporary accommodation are managed effectively and 

robustly and that recharging mechanisms for occupation charges are in place and 

adhered to.  

 Prioritise the delivery of 1 and 2 bedroom homes on all appropriate new 

developments to meet the need of homeless households.   

 

Priority Four:  

To develop new services and partnerships to improve housing options 

In order to build on the current partnerships and relationships the ongoing homelessness 

prevention services will continue to be developed.    

 Explore establishing a Sanctuary Scheme for victims of domestic abuse who wish to 

remain living in their home as an additional prevention measure 

 Develop a Homelessness Prevention Policy promoting innovative use of prevention 

funds.    

 Continue to host quarterly Private Landlord Liaison and Networking events. 

 Develop a Houses in Multiple Occupation intelligence partnership alongside the 

Police and Fire and Rescue Service to inspect and regulate high risk HMOs. 

 Hold regular multi-agency strategic Homelessness Network meetings 

 Consider how people with mental health and complex needs can best be supported 

in liaison with commissioners.   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

19 
 

Appendix 1 – Action Plan 
 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-25 – Action Plan  

NB: Action plan covers first year of Strategy. To be reviewed and updated in 2020/21 

What we will do  
 

How we will do it  Measures of success  When will we 
do it by? 

Priority One: To improve access to early housing advice and homelessness 
prevention services. 

Improve access to 
early housing 
advice and 
homelessness 
prevention 
services 
 

Carry out a service 
redesign and re-structure of 
the service in order to 
create a customer focussed 
approach and easy access 
points  
 
Develop Champion roles 
within the housing team in 
order to provide internal 
expertise in a number of 
areas i.e. mental health, 
immigration, mediation. 
 
Implementing a new IT 
system across the Housing 
Service. 
 
Introduce home visits for 
parental evictions and use 
mediation  
 
Develop frontline 
information and advice, 
including website 
enhancements making 
online, and face to face, 
services easier to access 
 
Implement the revised 
Allocations Policy and 
ensure all applications are 
reviewed and up to date on 
the new IT system.   
 
Launch the Tenancy 
Awareness Course and 
identify clients suitable to 
attend.  
 
Review pre-eviction 
protocols with housing 
association partners and 
ensure joint housing visits 

Re-structure and 
service re-design 
achieved 
 
 
  
 
Champions and 
training needs 
identified  
 
 
 
New IT system in 
place  
 
 
 
Visits taking place 
regularly  
 
 
All improvements 
complete  
 
 
 
 
 
Full review carried out. 
(links with IT system) 
 
 
 
 
3 Courses held in year 
1  
 
 
 
Protocols reviewed  
 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2020 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
By March 
2021 
 
 
 
March 2021 

55



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

20 
 

What we will do  
 

How we will do it  Measures of success  When will we 
do it by? 

are made prior to court 
action.   

 Priority Two: To reduce the number of people sleeping rough in Breckland 
 

Reduce the 
number of people 
sleeping rough in 
Breckland 

Engage directly with those 
sleeping rough and keep in 
touch even if they do not 
engage 
 
Work with local churches 
and faith groups to develop 
new services 
 
Formalise and enhance 
Severe Weather 
Emergency Provision. 
 
Work with prisons to 
implement the prison 
discharge protocol 
effectively to ensure 
accommodation is identified 
and available on release.  
 
Consider alternative 
‘innovative’ housing and 
crash bed solutions. 
 
 
 
Establish regular multi-
agency meetings to share 
information about rough 
sleepers.  
 
Monitor numbers of rough 
sleepers and actively work 
to reduce them  

Caseload of rough 
sleepers maintained 
 
 
 
Exploratory meeting 
held  
 
New arrangements in 
place  
 
 
 
Training and 
procedures in place 
and officers aware of 
pathways.  
 
 
 
Review of 
opportunities 
considered, and 
recommendations 
made  
 
Three meetings in 
year 1 
 
 
 
Quarterly reviews of 
numbers  
 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
June 2020 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
December 
2020 
 
 
 
 
March 2021 
 
 
 
 
March 2021 
 

Priority Three: To reduce the numbers in temporary accommodation and reduce the 

reliance on bed and breakfast within two years 

 

Reduce numbers 
in temporary 
accommodation 
and reduce 
reliance on bed 
and breakfast 
within 2 years.  
 
 

Develop the temporary 

accommodation project in 

Thetford.  

 

 

 

Ensure occupants of 

 Planning consent 
granted and start on 
site  

 Management 
provider in place 

 Project complete 
and ready to occupy   

 
Officer identified in 

July 2020  
 
 
 
December 
2020  
March 2021 
 
 
June 2020 

56



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

21 
 

What we will do  
 

How we will do it  Measures of success  When will we 
do it by? 

temporary accommodation 

are managed effectively 

and robustly and that 

recharging mechanisms for 

occupation charges are in 

place and adhered to.  

 

Work with Flagship Housing 

to identify hard to let 

properties that could be 

used as temporary 

accommodation  

Review the management 

contract for council owned 

properties to explore use 

for temporary 

accommodation.  

Consider opportunities to 

furnish self-contained 

temporary accommodation 

to make it more accessible 

i.e. white goods, flooring 

Prioritise the delivery of 1 

and 2 bedroom homes in all 

appropriate new 

developments to meet the 

need of homeless 

households.   

new structure and 
procedures in place  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Meeting held to 
discuss potential 
properties and options 
explored 
 
 
Review carried out, 
meeting held, and 
decision made. 
 
 
 
Explore options for 
furnishing self-
contained temporary 
accommodation  
 
 
 
Both 1 and 2 bed units 
in each new 
development 
completed  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
December 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2021 
 
 
 

Priority Four: To develop new services and partnerships to improve housing 
options 

 

To develop new 
services and 
partnerships to 
improve housing 
options 

 

Explore establishing a 
Sanctuary Scheme for 
victims of domestic abuse 
who wish to remain living in 
their home as an additional 
prevention measure 

Develop a Homelessness 
Prevention Policy 
promoting innovative use of 
prevention funds.   

Develop a Houses in 
Multiple Occupation 
intelligence partnership 
alongside the Police and 

Meetings held with 
potential providers and 
resources identified 
 
 
 
 
Policy in place and 
adopted  
 
 
 
Meetings held and 
properties identified  
 

September 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 
 
 
 
December 
2020 
 

57



Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020 -2025 

22 
 

What we will do  
 

How we will do it  Measures of success  When will we 
do it by? 

Fire and Rescue Service to 
inspect and regulate high 
risk HMOs. 

Continue to host Private 
Landlord Liaison and 
Networking events. 

Hold regular multi-agency 
strategic Homelessness 
Network meetings 

Consider how people with 
mental health and complex 
needs can best be 
supported in liaison with 
commissioners.   

 
 
 
 
3 meetings in year 1 
 
 
At least two meeting a 
year 
 
 
Support service 
meeting with MH 
commissioner and 
partners to identify 
options  

 
 
 
 
By March 
2021 
 
December 
2020 
 
 
March 2021 

 

Review and Monitoring  

The Action plan will be a live document which is subject to review on an annual basis to 

monitor progress in achieving actions and to add any additional actions required.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

58



 

1 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Breckland District Council  
Homelessness Review 2019 

 
CONTENTS         PAGE 
 
1. Introduction           2 

 
2. Homelessness in Breckland         3 
 
3. Review of activities to prevent homelessness     15 
 
4. Considering the needs of vulnerable groups     30 

 
5. Review of temporary accommodation     39 

 
6. Housing Options to relieve homelessness     43 

 
7. Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017   44 

 
8. New Housing supply        46 

 
9. Staffing structure         47 

 
10. Resources         49 

 
11. Consultation          49 
 
12. Conclusions and Strategic Priorities       50 
         
 
 
  

November 2019 
Trish Reed, EELGA 
 

59



 

2 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION  

The Council last published a Housing and Homelessness Strategy in 2017 

providing a plan for tackling homelessness in the district for the period 2017-

2021. With the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the 

duties to prevent and relieve homelessness, the 2017-2021 Housing and 

Homelessness Strategy needs to be reviewed and a new Strategy and action 

plan put in place for the forthcoming five years. The National LGA carried out 

a Peer Review of the Housing Service in July 2019 which highlighted the need 

for additional work on homeless prevention.  

 

In order to develop a new strategy, the East of England LGA was 

commissioned to carry out a review of homelessness in the district, taking into 

account the requirements of the Homelessness Act 2002, the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017, the Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018 and the new 

Homelessness Code of Guidance. The review covered the following key 

areas: 

➢ The levels, and likely future levels of homelessness  

➢ A review of activities to prevent homelessness  

➢ Housing Register and Allocations Policy  

➢ The needs of vulnerable groups 

➢ A review of temporary accommodation 

➢ Housing options to relieve homelessness  

➢ Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

➢ New housing supply 

➢ Staff structure and resources. 

 

The review was undertaken between September and November 2019 by 

EELGA Talent Bank Associate Trish Reed who is a specialist in 

homelessness. The activities included a desktop review of statistical 

information, consultation with officers and engagement with partners and key 

stakeholders. The review focussed primarily on the homelessness service 

provided by Breckland District Council and links to other support services.  

 

60



 

3 

 

This report sets out the findings of the review which will provide the basis for 

formulating the homelessness and rough sleeping elements of the Council’s 

new Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025. 

 

2.  HOMELESSNESS IN BRECKLAND. 

2.1 The Breckland district  

Breckland is a large district spread over 500 square miles and located in the 

heart of Norfolk. The Council is predominantly rural with 112 villages and 5 

market towns, Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton.  

 

The population estimates based on the 2011 Census and most recent 2018 

estimates show that the population stands at 139,400. By 2036 the population 

is due to increase to 153,678 representing a 10% increase from 2018 and due 

to increase to 159,400 by 2041.  

 

The population of Breckland is older than average and the percentage of older 

people is anticipated to grow. 25% of the current population is aged over 65, 

compared with 18% nationally. They have a larger ‘white other’ population 

than Norfolk and the UK, reflecting growth over the past decade with new 

communities settling in the district from Portugal and Eastern Europe, driven 

largely by employment opportunities associated with agriculture and factory 

work.  

 

2.2  Homelessness Statistics 

The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA) in April 

2018 brought new duties to provide housing advice and support through a 

new prevention duty triggered when households are deemed to be 

‘threatened with homelessness within 56 days’. This includes a requirement to 

develop a Personalised Housing Plan with the applicant agreeing actions for 

both the applicant and the authority with a view to preventing their 

homelessness.  

 

Where homelessness cannot be prevented a new ‘relief duty’ requires 

housing authorities to help applicants secure accommodation. If they are also 

61



 

4 

 

considered to have a priority need then the authority must accommodate 

while they try to secure alternative accommodation or make a decision under 

the homelessness legislation. Priority need categories include families with 

children, pregnant women or people who are considered particularly 

vulnerable due to poor mental health, physical disability, old age etc.  

 

A new Government reporting system, Homelessness Case Level Information 

Collection (H-CLIC) was also introduced to monitor the effectiveness of the 

new legislation. It is widely acknowledged that statistical data collected on the 

new prevention and relief duties are not comparable to the homelessness 

decisions figures reported on the P1E statistical returns prior to the HRA. The 

new reporting system requires much more detail on the status of people 

approaching the council including their support needs. Over time it is hoped 

this builds a more comprehensive picture of people’s wider needs and 

circumstances.  

 

Historically Breckland had a number of challenges collecting the relevant 

statistical data for the Government and this led to them bringing in a new IT 

system which more accurately monitors caseloads and reports data required 

for the new H-CLIC quarterly return. From April 2018 when this was 

introduced, we are confident that the data provides an accurate picture of 

homelessness in the area, but prior to that there is little reliable information.  

 

2.3 Homelessness Assessment, Prevention and Relief Duties  

The HRA was designed to ensure that people were able to access timely and 

effective housing advice, assistance and support in order to prevent 

homelessness. In 2018/19 500 households approached the Council and were 

assessed under the legislation.  

Of those, 186 were owed a prevention duty (where threatened with 

homelessness within 56 days), and 279 owed a relief duty (literally homeless 

and owed a duty to help secure accommodation) totaling 465 owed one or 

other duty under the legislation.  

The reasons for their approaches are shown in the table below:  

62



 

5 

 

2.3.1 Reason for loss of last settled home 

Table 1    

Reason for loss of last settled home No. % 

Family/friends not willing to accommodate   170 37% 

Loss of private tenancy  94 20% 

Relationship breakdown (non-DA) 47 10% 

Relationship breakdown (DA) 42 9% 

End of social rented tenancy  20 5% 

Other violence or harassment 15 3% 

Eviction from supported housing  12 2% 

Left institution 4 1% 

Other reason / not known  61 13% 

Total 465 100% 

 

It is clear from the table above that the single main cause of homelessness is 

family or friends not willing to accommodate. This has seen a steeper rise in 

this period in terms of trend compared to both the neighbouring authorities 

and other similar authorities. Loss of a private tenancy contributes to a fifth of 

all approaches to the authority while relationship breakdown (both violent and 

non-violent) is also a major cause of homelessness and is above average 

compared to other authorities.  

 

2.3.2 Household types owed a prevention duty. 

Table 2   

Household type No. % 

Single parent 74 40% 

Couple or three adults plus children 25 13% 

Single male 33 18% 

Single female 34 18% 

Couple or three adults no children 20 11% 

Total  186 100% 

 

63



 

6 

 

Of the 186 households owed a prevention duty just over half were families 

with children, with the rest being either single people or childless couples.  

 

2.3.3 Ages of those owed a prevention or relief duty 

Table 3   

Age range No.  % 

16-17 5 1% 

18-35 261 56% 

35-54 154 34% 

55-64 27 6% 

Over 65 18 3% 

Total  465 100% 

 

Well over half of people approaching the Council for assistance are between 

16 and 35 years reflecting the difficulties people have accessing affordable 

accommodation in the private sector either renting or home ownership.  

 

2.3.4 Support needs for those owed a prevention or relief duty 

A new dataset that can help shape services is the support needs of 

households approaching the housing service. Of the 465 households owed a 

prevention or relief duty it is noted that 227, approaching half, have one or 

more support needs. The table below provides a breakdown of those support 

needs. 

Table 4   

Type of support need No. % 

History of mental health problems 108 34% 

At risk of or experienced domestic abuse 46 15% 

Physical ill health or disability 46 15% 

Offending history  13 4% 

History of repeat homelessness 11 3% 

Drug dependency needs 19 6% 

Alcohol dependency needs 17 5% 

History of rough sleeping 5 1% 

64



 

7 

 

Learning disability 11 3% 

Young person 18-25 requiring support  10 3% 

Care leaver  4 1% 

Young person 16/17 yrs. 1 0.5% 

Access to education, employment, training 9 3% 

At risk abuse/sexual exploitation 10 3% 

Young parent requiring support 4 1% 

Served in HM forces 2 0.5% 

Total support needs  316 98 

 

The overwhelming need is for support for mental health issues, followed by 

domestic abuse and physical ill health and disability. Young people are also 

presenting with support needs. The team reports that many people have 

multiple needs which are becoming more complex and harder to meet. In 

Chapter 4 we consider the support needs of vulnerable groups in more depth.  

Interestingly there is no category within the statistical return for people who 

need budgeting or financial support, but partners and the housing team cite 

this as a growing support need across all client groups as welfare reforms and 

the high cost of rents in the private sector make budgeting more challenging.   

2.3.5 Nationality of main applicants owed a prevention or relief duty. 

Table 5   

Nationality  No.  % 

United Kingdom 423 91% 

Non-EEA 5 1% 

A8, A2 and Croatia1 23 5% 

Other EEA2 14 3% 

Total  465 100% 

 
1 European Economic Area (EEA) states to have joined since 2004: A8 (Czech Republic, 
Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia, and Slovenia), A2 (Bulgaria and 
Romania) and Croatia 

 
2 Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, 
Italy, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, and 
Switzerland 

 

65



 

8 

 

While the majority of households approaching the Council are UK Nationals, 

the approaches from other nationalities, especially from European countries is 

growing, however this is largely in line with the demographics of the district 

and does broadly represent the demographics of the general population. 

Translation services are provided by Language line through a telephone-

based system which is easy to use by both officers and clients.    

 

2.3.6 Prevention cases – prevention duty outcome 

The table below shows the outcomes for people owed a prevention duty 

where that duty ended. It is noted that some households will fall into a relief 

duty after the prevention duty so the numbers may not necessarily add up.  

Table 6  

Reason for duty ending  No.  

Secured accommodation for 6+ months 62 

Homeless (including intentionally homeless) 16 

Contact lost 1 

56 days elapsed and no further action 0 

Withdrew application/ applicant deceased 3 

No longer eligible 0 

Refused suitable accommodation offer 0 

Refused to co-operate  1 

Total  83 

 

Of the 62 prevention cases where accommodation was secured for 6+ 

months, 30 were supported to remain in their existing accommodation, while a 

further 32 were supported to secure alternative accommodation by the 

housing options service. This is a mix of 33 households accessing social 

housing through the housing register, 12 being helped into the private rented 

sector and 17 staying with family or making other arrangements.  

2.3.7 Relief cases – relief duty ended outcome 

The H-CLIC statistical return does not differentiate between those owed a 

relief duty who are in priority need and therefore accommodated in temporary 

66



 

9 

 

accommodation and those who are not.  However, the total number of 

households owed a Relief duty in 2018/19 was 279.  

Of the 279 households where a relief duty was owed, and homelessness 

couldn’t be prevented the following outcomes are recorded for the 111 for 

whom the duty ended during the year.  

Table 7  

Reason for relief duty ending  No. 

Secured accommodation for 6+ months 79 

56 days elapsed (and duty ended) 20 

Contact lost  7 

Withdrew application / applicant deceased  4 

Notice served due to refusal to cooperate 1 

Total  111 

 

29 of the 79 where accommodation was secured for more than 6 months were 

housed into Social housing (15 of those into supported housing) with only 8 

being accommodated in private rented housing  

2.3.8 Provision of temporary accommodation 

The numbers in temporary accommodation are often indicative of the scale of 

the homelessness problem in an area. The numbers shown below provides a 

snapshot in time over the last three years and indicates an upward trend.   

Table 8 

 31/03/17 31/03/19 30/08/19 30/11/19 

Number in Temporary 

accommodation 

22 50 51 35 

 

Numbers are already showing welcome signs of reducing since the review 

was initiated and new management was put in place. The continued use of 

bed and breakfast is however an ongoing concern and the authority is actively 

developing alternative provision. Provision of temporary accommodation and 

67



 

10 

 

the work being taken to provide more suitable alternatives to bed and 

breakfast are explored further in Chapter 5.  

2.3.9 Rough Sleeping  

One of the main indicators of acute housing need is the number of people 

who are sleeping rough in an area. Historically numbers have been low 

between 1 and 5 but this has grown in the past year to the current November 

official estimate of 16. The Council has, along with other local authorities 

received Government funding to tackle rough sleeping and the actions being 

taken are considered in Chapter 4.  

Table 9 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Number of rough 

sleepers 

3 1 5 16 

(13/11/19) 

 

2.3.10 Comparison with other authorities. 

The Council has carried out some comparison data analysis with both CIPFA 

and neighbouring local authorities. 

 

CIPFA comparison 

The Breckland CIPFA nearest neighbours group consists of thirteen local 

authorities which are of a similar size and make up to Breckland. These local 

authorities are Bassetlaw, Fenland, Mendip, Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 

Newark, Dover, South Somerset, North Kesteven, South Norfolk, West 

Lindsey, South Holland, Babergh and Amber Valley.  

 

It is helpful to compare the Breckland homelessness data to that in this group 

to see if it is receiving a higher or lower number than councils of a similar size. 

The analysis highlighted that in some areas Breckland has either a below 

average or average number in comparison to those within its CIPFA group.  

These categories include private rented tenancies as the reason for the loss 

of last settled home, people of no fixed abode at the time of application, 

prevention duty to single adults of both sexes, physical ill health and disability 

68



 

11 

 

as a support need and relief duty owed to single adult females with dependent 

children or single.  

 

Norfolk bordering authority comparison 

The bordering authorities group consists of councils which share a border with 

Breckland. The authorities which form these groups are North Norfolk, Kings 

Lynn and West Norfolk, St Edmundsbury, Mid Suffolk, South Norfolk and 

Broadland. This comparison allows the council to establish if there are 

geographical similarities between local authority housing returns or any 

geographical trends within the region. The results allow the council to 

determine Breckland only trends. 

 

Areas where Breckland has higher demand 

The following are considered as Breckland only issues as they are higher than 

both bordering authorities and CIPFA: 

• Domestic abuse (as a reason for loss of last home): Q3 and Q4 saw a 

significant increase in cases citing domestic abuse. 

• Living with family (Accommodation at the time of application): This is the 

most cited category across three quarters (1, 2 and 4). It is above average 

when compared to both CIPFA and bordering LA’s. 

• Rough sleeping (Accommodation at the time of application): Q3-4 rise of 

50% means this figure is now above average for CIPFA and bordering 

authorities. 

• Temporary accommodation (Accommodation at the time of 

application): Q4 rise has been very steep, now over triple the amount 

compared to CIPFA and bordering authorities.  

• Long-term illness or disability (employment status): This profile became 

above average compared to bordering LA’s in Q3. It is also now slightly 

above average compared to CIPFA based on both Q3/4. 

• Single Adult Males (relief duty): This category has tripled between Q1 and 

Q4 at Breckland, resulting in it being significantly above average in 

comparison to bordering LA’s and CIPFA average. 

 

69



 

12 

 

The prevalence of domestic abuse, parental evictions and rough sleeping are 

of concern as are the number of single adult males owed a relief duty. The 

increase in people applying from temporary accommodation may be as a 

result of the increasing number of ‘homeless on the day’ cases seen by the 

team. The demand and measures that could be put in place to address this 

will be explored later in the report.  

 

2.4 Demand on the housing options team.  

The Housing Team is based in the Council offices in Dereham although 

officers also attend appointments to see clients at the Councils other office in 

Thetford. An out of hour’s emergency service is available and details are 

given on the Council’s website.  

 

Since the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 came into force in April 2018 

officers report an increase in the number of people approaching the Council 

especially single people. 500 households approached the council and were 

assessed under the HRA criteria with many more approaching at an earlier 

stage although there is no recording system currently in place to monitor 

these pre-HRA approaches.  

 

The demand has led to increased pressure on the front line with officers 

focussing on people who are ‘homeless on the day’ rather than taking an 

earlier pro-active preventative approach, developing meaningful personalised 

housing plans and supporting clients to remain in their existing homes or 

secure alternative housing options. This is reflected in the figures above which 

show that nearly half of all households assessed under the legislation were at 

a stage where they were owed a relief duty, meaning they had become 

literally homeless.  

 

Unfortunately, the lack of early advice inevitably creates an environment 

where opportunities to act in a pro-active preventative way are missed. 

This review will consider how the service can become more pro-active and 

manage the demand and existing resources more effectively and work with 

70



 

13 

 

partners more creatively to create a much more prevention focussed early 

intervention service.  

 

2.4.1 Performance monitoring  

In order to achieve a clear understanding of the demands on the service and 

how it is performing going forward robust performance monitoring information 

must be available so that progress on service improvement can be tracked.  

 

The council has a large number of performance indicators for the operational 

housing service, with 43 of them relating to the housing register, housing 

options and homelessness services. Not all of these are necessary to inform 

or drive service improvement. There are also significant challenges around 

how these are reported as many do not all directly link to reports available 

from the current IT system and often take some time to work out. The 

outcome is that the data collected is either incorrect or not readily available. 

The lack of performance information is a barrier to either celebrating success 

or addressing poor performance and creates a vacuum in information to 

inform strategic housing priorities going forward. A review of performance 

indicators is taking place to establish which ones are easily reportable from 

the IT system and will be most meaningful in terms of the priorities going 

forward in the new Strategy.  

 

2.4.2 Complaints  

The number of complaints received by the service are high with a full time 

Housing Information Officer employed to deal with them. In a 12-month period 

June 2018 to May 2019 a total of 43 complaints were received and 35 MP 

enquiries, each requiring detailed investigation and responses in accordance 

with the Council’s complaints procedures.  

 

Many of the complaints relate to Housing Register log-in or password issues 

(60%), failure to respond to enquiries and include long delays in identifying 

customers who are not able to cope with the online systems. Most of the 

issues relate to either a lack of response by the housing team or to the Home 

Connections IT system which is used to run the Housing Register. Early signs 

71



 

14 

 

are that the number of complaints will reduce with a more robust performance 

management approach and a new more customer friendly IT system in place.     

 

2.4.3 Service monitoring  

There are no internal management systems in place to review the 

performance measures or complaints on a regular basis as a way of informing 

service delivery. A simple performance management system, which could be 

expanded to be more sophisticated over time as the service develops, that 

can be reviewed at quarterly Housing Leadership Team meetings would help 

inform service improvement. Comparison with other local authorities annually 

using a small number of important indicators would be helpful.   

 

2.5 Future levels of homelessness 

It is difficult to predict future levels of homelessness; however, it is predicted 

to continue to rise nationally. The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction 

Act is designed to ensure that advice and support is delivered to anyone 

facing homelessness to try to prevent homelessness.  

 

If the service can be effective in ensuring early prevention measures are put 

in place more effectively then potentially actual homelessness should reduce. 

However, the following factors are unlikely to change in the foreseeable future 

and will continue to impact on the demand for homelessness prevention 

services:  

• Welfare Reform including Universal Credit 

• Escalating private rents and low Local Housing Allowance rates 

• Lack of new affordable housing supply 

With a renewed emphasis on preventing homelessness and Government 

funding to help relieve rough sleeping, the hope is that current levels of 

demand can be maintained if not reduced.  

 

 2.6 HOMELESSNESS IN BRECKLAND 

KEY FINDINGS: 

• Demand has increased but there is little early advice available with the 

emphasis on dealing with people who are ‘homeless tonight’. 

72



 

15 

 

• The main causes of homelessness are eviction by family or friends, 

loss of private tenancy and relationship breakdown. 

• High numbers of single people are approaching the service and being 

accommodated in temporary accommodation in comparison with other 

local authorities. 

• Increasing numbers of single people are sleeping rough.  

• Half of all people approaching the council and owed a duty are roofless 

and owed a relief duty.  

• Mental health is the most significant support need 

• Performance measures and new systems to monitor them are required 

to better inform service improvement.   

 

3. REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES TO PREVENT HOMELESSNESS  

3.1 Access to Housing Advice and Assistance 

People in need of housing advice and assistance currently access the service 

in a number of ways. These include accessing the website, visiting the office 

or telephoning the main Council customer number.  

 

3.1.1 Website 

The housing pages on the website focus predominantly on asking whether 

people are homeless tonight with a banner heading up every page. The 

alternative directs you to a Housing Advice Form (HAF) which states that it 

takes 45 minutes to complete and requires lots of information to be provided 

in order to access a service.  

  

Increasingly people choose to seek information on-line and the limitations of 

the current webpages have been acknowledged. Steps are being taken to 

review the webpages and improve the online HAF as the form itself is a 

barrier to accessing the service. The IT system used to support the form 

provides a clumsy and counterintuitive process which customers find hard to 

navigate and the requirement to upload verification documents makes this 

particularly difficult, especially when many people’s only access to the internet 

is via a mobile phone.  

 

73



 

16 

 

When completed the HAF appears in the housing back-office system and 

housing officers are tasked with responding within 7 working days. Many are 

not responded to within this timescale, so this leads to people turning up and 

claiming to be ‘homeless tonight’ in order to access a service.  

 

3.1.2 Telephone contact 

The Customer Service Centre deals with many contacts from the public and in 

general will initially refer anyone in housing need to the website to complete a 

HAF. Customer Services are unable to put telephone callers through to 

housing officers and instead create notifications called LAGANs through the 

Council’s Customer Relationship Management system. This is both for new 

and existing customers. A customer journey mapping exercise carried out by 

the Council in October noted that many calls to Customer services are follow 

up calls where the initial enquiry hasn’t been responded to. This creates an 

environment of unnecessary calls, duplication of effort and frustration for 

customers. Customer Services are willing to help do more to help relieve the 

pressure on the housing team if given additional information and training and 

would benefit if the website was well maintained and up to date with additional 

housing options and services which they could refer clients to.   

 

A duty officer available within the housing team to take calls directly from 

customer services to provide initial housing advice without the need for 

complex forms to be completed would be of great benefit. Opportunities could 

be taken to skill up Customer Services staff to deal with more issues at first 

point of contact.  

 

3.1.3 Face to face  

The housing team are based at the main office in Dereham which has a 

shared reception with the Department of Works and Pensions (DWP). There 

are public computers available where clients can complete HAF forms, check 

their housing register applications and are encouraged to self-serve.  

 

In Thetford however which is the area of biggest demand, the reception area 

is mostly taken up by the DWP with the Breckland Council reception having 

74



 

17 

 

limited space, no access to a waiting area for customers and no private 

interview room or public computers. Officers do attend to meet clients 

however conditions are difficult to work in especially if clients have personal 

difficulties and are reluctant to talk about their problems in an open public 

area.  

 

It is suggested that officers could visit people in their own homes rather than 

in this office (provided there are no concerns about personal safety) as this 

would allow verification of their circumstances at the same time. Opportunities 

could also be taken to develop a regular drop-in housing advice facility at The 

Crossing in Thetford, a local community support office, or at John Room 

House in Thetford, the Council owned hostel provision there. Facilities at the 

Council’s Thetford office are currently under review and it is hoped that 

additional space can be identified soon.   

 

Customer Services deliver an outreach information and advice service in the 

libraries in Swaffham, Watton and Attleborough through a Support Officer who 

also runs the Digital Get online project. The officer has good relationships with 

the housing team and will support people to complete the HAF forms and 

refer cases to housing or to CAB as appropriate.  

 

3.1.4 The Housing Hub 

A new way of working introduced in 2015 was to establish a ‘Housing Hub 

Team’ to cover several more administrative housing roles including: 

• Housing Register: processes including applications, shortlisting, 

verification and nominations. 

• Initial triage of HAF enquiries and passing to options officers. 

• Reading and allocating messages from customer services (LAGANs) 

for Housing options and Private sector housing queries.  

• Temporary accommodation, booking, re-booking, income collection 

and management. 

While this appears to be an effective way of triaging initial enquiries and 

workflows, in practice the time spent on finding and securing temporary 

75



 

18 

 

accommodation and dealing with housing register applications has resulted in 

some essential service areas being overlooked or not prioritised sufficiently.  

 

The use of HAFs and LAGANs has resulted in a backlog of enquiries for early 

advice and information within the HUB due to increasing pressures. As a 

result, customers are unable to access timely housing advice that could 

prevent their homelessness. The Housing Options Officers have recently 

taken over dealing with the HAF and LAGAN queries in order to try to bring 

these up to date but that has increased the pressure on that team reducing 

their effectiveness and creating problems elsewhere.   

 

It is acknowledged that the current Housing Hub model is not working in a 

manner that supports the wider service needs and a different structure is 

required in order to provide a more effective service to the customer.  

 

3.1.5 Housing Options Officers 

The Housing Options team are generic with officers carrying out all aspects of 

the service from (currently) triaging HAF enquiries, assessing applications 

under the HRA, developing Personalised Housing Plans, placing relief cases 

into temporary accommodation (where they are eligible) and making 

homelessness decisions. There is a mix of experienced and new officers, and 

the team is now fully staffed having recently recruited an experienced Housing 

Options Team Leader and Senior Housing Options Officer.  

 

The tendency is to approach cases considering the relief and homelessness 

duty and a much more robust approach to both the prevention duty and 

homelessness decision making is required. Additional training would be of 

benefit especially in assessing and making homelessness decisions under the 

legislation and consideration given to separating the initial advice/triage/PHP 

from the more in-depth prevention casework.  

 

3.1.6 Specialist Champion roles 

Officers don’t currently take on ‘Champion’ roles except for one officer who is 

the Domestic Abuse champion and a Tenancy Relations Officer who sits 

76



 

19 

 

within the private sector housing team. Having specialist champions is 

considered good practice and where officer develop knowledge in specialist 

areas this can prove helpful in mentoring and support to other team members. 

Areas where it is particularly useful to have additional skills and knowledge 

include Welfare Benefits, Mental Health, Immigration, Mediation, Young 

People, etc. and it is recommended that this is considered, playing to the 

individual strengths in the team members.  

 

3.1.7 Home visits 

Home visits are rarely carried out, with time pressures being cited as a reason 

not to do them. The main cause of homelessness is eviction by friends or 

family so the introduction of home visits carried out quickly in cases of 

threatened homelessness from family or friends could create opportunities to 

resolve issues and provide a robust way of verifying people’s circumstances. 

Prevention officers could engage with the wider family on home visits and 

discuss the issues and options for the applicant, mediating where possible. In 

the case of young people especially, sharing the personalised housing plan 

with parents and including them in the plan can result in successful outcomes 

and delayed homelessness. Visits could be made jointly with Social Care or 

Community Safety colleagues if this is deemed to be helpful. 

 

The introduction of a focussed pro-active approach provides an opportunity to 

prevent homelessness amongst private tenants too, another major cause of 

homelessness in Breckland. Officers can speak to landlords and try to resolve 

any issues directly. There are already good relationships with private 

landlords who are being encouraged to contact the team much earlier. 

  

3.1.8 Service Structure 

A recognised good practice housing advice service structure is shown in the 

chart below. This allows most of the advice and prevention to be carried out 

either through self-help, by customer services dealing with more cases pro-

actively and with a significant emphasis on homelessness prevention 

casework and meaningful personalised housing plans. Staffing needs and 

structure is covered later in this report.  

77



 

20 

 

 

 
 

Front Line 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Self help – website/info 

Customer services info, advice, triage 

Homelessness prevention innovation, pro-
active focus 

Homeless decision 
making 

TA 

Filter 

Prevent duty 

Relief duty 

When prevention fails 

 

 

3.2 Housing Register and Allocations Policy 

Housing advice and homelessness prevention includes recommending an 

application to the Housing Register, ensuring applicants’ needs are correctly 

assessed, that they receive appropriate priority banding, and information and 

advice about how the Allocation Scheme works.  

 

Social housing in Breckland is provided solely by housing associations as the 

Council transferred its housing stock to Flagship Housing Group some years 

ago. Flagship are therefore the largest provider of social housing with 6,744 

homes.  Several other registered social landlords are active in the district 

including Broadland, Havebury, Orbit and Saffron owning 2,039 properties. 

The total stock of affordable homes across all providers is 8,783.  

 

Table 10 

Housing Register Applications as a snapshot 

 April 16 April 17 Oct 17 April 18 April 19 

Number on Register 2334 2214 751 773 1180 

 

 

78



 

21 

 

The number of households on the Housing Register has fluctuated over the 

last three years. A review of the register carried out in October 2017 resulted 

in around two thirds of applicants who were not bidding being removed. 

Numbers have increased since then but there are no current plans to carry 

out regular annual reviews.  

 

3.2.1 Housing Allocations Policy 

The current Allocations Policy was formally adopted in November 2012 and 

revised in June 2016. Changes brought in at the review included several 

procedural changes relating to verification (asking for bank statements, ID etc) 

which appear to have created unintended barriers to accessing the register.  

    

A recent Chartered Institute of Housing report Rethinking Allocations3 

recommends that with ever increasing scarcity of alternative housing 

opportunities Allocations Policies should be reviewed to take into account not 

only the changes brought in by the Homelessness Reduction Act but to 

ensure that social housing is allocated to those in most need and that 

procedures are people-led as opposed to process-led to ensure the correct 

balance of meeting need while being mindful of the importance of creating 

sustainable tenancies.  

 

In Breckland issues to consider with homeless prevention at the forefront are 

whether applicants ready to move on from supported housing are given 

sufficient priority to ensure throughput in the hostels and whether the 

exclusion of people with rent arrears could be reviewed in light of the 

availability of the new Tenancy Training Course. A review and refresh of the 

Allocations Policy in light of the HRA will ensure it remains compliant and fit 

for purpose and supports the prevention agenda. 

 

3.2.2 Priority Bands – Who gets Housed 

The following table shows the numbers on the housing register and their 

banding. While numbers in Band A are low this band is designed to ensure 

they are housed quickly.  

 
3 CIH Rethinking Allocations http://www.cih.org/resources/Rethinking%20allocations.pdf 

79

http://www.cih.org/resources/Rethinking%20allocations.pdf


 

22 

 

Table 11 

Numbers in Band on Housing Register  

 Banding April 2018 April 2019 

A: Priority   30 20 

B: Gold  138 216 

C: Silver  301 481 

D. No need   304 463 

Total 773 1180 

 

With over 8,700 social rented properties within the district the number of 

lettings each year is relatively high and is increasing as new affordable 

housing schemes are completed. However, it is crucial that these properties 

are let to those in most need and some creativity could be used in creating 

chains of lettings to ensure the best use of the properties available.  

 

Regular reviews of the housing register to verify particularly those in Gold and 

Priority Bands would help ensure that the information is up to date. Many 

applicants in the top bands are already known to the housing team as 

homeless households so verification can be carried out quickly and routinely 

as soon as they are banded. Operational procedures like suspending 

applicants with a change of circumstances for an automatic 28-day period 

creates delays for all parties and doesn’t support the potential for the Housing 

Register to be a powerful prevention tool.  

 

The shortlisting process could also be streamlined as currently 6 nominations 

are put forward for each property. Where these are homeless applicants this 

can cause unnecessary delay waiting for a decision when those lower down 

the list could be bidding on other properties reducing the time spent in 

temporary accommodation.  

 

Table 12  

Housing Allocations / Lettings per year 

 2016 2017 2018 

Total Lettings 499 449 611 

80



 

23 

 

3.2.3 IT System 

The IT system used for both the homelessness and housing register function 

has created significant issues both in terms of ease of access for customers 

to update their applications and bid for properties, but also for housing officers 

who spend a large part of their daily job on the IT system preventing them 

from having a customer focus. Reporting for performance monitoring 

purposes is inadequate and effective support from the service provider is 

lacking.  

 

A decision has been made to bring in a new IT system which should support 

officers to speed up processes and be able to report on activity more easily. 

The opportunity will be taken to dovetail the new system implementation with 

a revised Allocations Policy so that housing register applicants can renew 

their applications and be re-assessed against the new policy in one exercise. 

This is a positive step and will contribute to improved service provision in 

future.  

 

3.3 Debt and money advice 

The Council funds the Norfolk Citizens Advice Bureaux £51k per year to 

provide their core generalist support service throughout Breckland through its 

Community Grants programme although there is no specialist debt or money 

advice service available locally.   

 

The Norfolk Citizens Advice Bureau are part of a wider five-year Lottery 

funded project called the Help Through Crisis Project which ends in 2021. 

This is designed to support people who have a crisis regarding debt, benefits, 

housing, domestic abuse, mental health, drug or alcohol, disability or 

immigration and live in Breckland or South Norfolk. It is a partnership across 

several advice and support agencies including Flagship, Change Grow, Live 

(CGL), Leeway and Shelter to provide additional support for households. 

Many of the referrals are clients who are or have been homeless and this 

service provides an intensive support framework albeit for a limited number of 

clients.   

 

81



 

24 

 

There appear to be excellent links with the Council’s Revenues and Benefits 

service Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) and good access to systems and 

other information.  Applications for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

are dealt with efficiently and quickly and DHP fund is accessed before using 

the Homeless Prevention Fund if small sums are needed to prevent 

homelessness.   

 

3.4 Homelessness Prevention Fund    

The Council holds a fund to pay for prevention initiatives where financial 

support might help prevent homelessness. A budget of £35,000 per year is 

allocated to homelessness prevention payments.  

 

If an individual requires a rent deposit to secure private accommodation then 

the housing officer refers them to a Council funded scheme run by Eastern 

Savings and Loans, a local Credit Union, who can provide a loan. The Council 

provided a few years ago a one-off payment for up-front funding of £60,000 

which allows the charity to recycle the funding providing future loans from re-

payments received from clients. The Council pays £300 per client to cover the 

administration costs of the rental deposit loan provided.  

 

Other payments from the fund include payment of historical rent arrears or 

rent in advance or anything that might lead to homeless prevention. Officers 

are mindful of the availability of Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to 

cover some homelessness prevention payments and this will always be 

considered prior to the in-house fund making best use of resources.   

 

As the Homelessness Reduction Act requires a more pro-active approach to 

be taken to prevention for all households, not just those in priority need, it is 

recommended that the Homelessness Prevention Fund Policy be refreshed 

and updated in order that officers can be clear what financial payments can 

be included and what the criteria is for accessing these.   

 

82



 

25 

 

The availability of funding will be limited by the overall budget but with 

imaginative application of the funding and small grants available up to £1000, 

this could be an effective policy that would help prevent homelessness.   

 

3.5 Private Landlords and Letting Agents  

Relationships with private landlords and local lettings agencies appear to be 

good and the Tenancy Relations Officer actively encourages landlords to 

report tenancies at risk, negotiate rents and build rapport for the benefit of 

people approaching the service who require suitable and affordable housing.   

  

The Council holds regular Landlord Forum meetings encouraging landlords 

and letting agencies to engage with the local authority, understand their 

procedures and legislation and the consequences of non-compliance. With 

the introduction of the Tenant Fees Ban many felt it was not beneficial to rent 

out their properties due to increased costs but with clarity of services and 

grants available they are encouraged not only to take nominations from the 

housing team but to also to improve their existing accommodation and 

increase their portfolio by investing in the local area.  

 

A Tenancy Awareness Course has been developed by the Council to provide 

training for homelessness applicants or other tenants at risk to enable them to 

sustain and manage their tenancies. The course is available for any partner 

agencies to refer people into and was launched at the consultation event with 

partners in November 2019.    

 

3.6 Social Landlords 

Flagship Housing the main social housing provider in Breckland has systems 

in place to identify and send through ‘tenancy at risk’ forms to the housing 

options teams. They take a flexible approach to when it is appropriate to do so 

depending on the circumstances of the client, but generally this would be 

before a Notice of Seeking Possession is served rather than when Court 

proceedings have started, or an order has been granted.  

 

83



 

26 

 

Unfortunately, the current pressures on the housing team mean that these 

referrals are often not prioritised, so opportunities to work preventatively are 

missed. Flagship are also members of the Early Help Hub meetings, providing 

a multi-agency forum to discuss complex cases and agree the best way to 

support those at risk of homelessness.  

 

Flagship employs a Financial Support Officer to help tenants with claims for 

Universal Credit, housing benefit or discretionary housing payments. They 

carry out six-week checks on their Starter Tenancies to ensure that tenants 

have settled in but do not generally provide additional resettlement support.  

 

If officers can work closely with Flagship and other social housing providers to 

re-launch regular operational meetings this will help the service to get up-

stream and intervene much earlier. A review of pre-eviction arrangements to 

ensure tenants at risk are identified at an early stage and that housing officers 

engage pro-actively to prevent their homelessness will support this further.  

 

3.7 Partnerships 

The Council has some strong partnership structures in place that can provide 

early warnings of homelessness. Partnership arrangements exist with 

Flagship Housing, CAB, Social Services, Leaving Care teams, private 

landlords, domestic abuse services, supported housing providers, local 

churches, support providers and other local authorities. Some good 

partnership working has taken place over the last year and some innovative 

projects have emerged from these relationships. However, with increasing 

pressure on the frontline and ongoing staff vacancies within the team, creating 

capacity for senior officers to attend these regularly has proved challenging. It 

is inevitable therefore that opportunities to utilise these partnerships to 

prevent homelessness have been lost. Some examples of the partnership that 

are in place are given below: 

 

3.7.1 Norfolk Homelessness Project  

The Council’s Chief Executive jointly chairs a Norfolk-wide Homelessness 

Project looking at ‘working better together’ to consider the main causes of 

84



 

27 

 

homelessness and how collectively the local authorities can work together on 

the issue. The project is still in its early stages, but it is hoped that some 

strategic joint working at a senior level can make a difference.  

  

3.7.2 Norfolk Housing Reference Group 

The Council works collaboratively with the other local housing authorities, 

Norfolk County Council, NHS, Public Health and the main housing providers 

in Norfolk to make the most of joint initiatives. This has resulted in some joint 

work on the LGA Housing Advisors programme where learning is to be shared 

across local authorities by Broadland and South Norfolk Councils who were 

successful in bidding for resources. This also provides a useful forum to 

discuss county-wide issues such as commissioning or de-commissioning 

supported housing provision and action to tackle rough sleeping.   

 

3.7.3 Norfolk Housing Alliance 

The Norfolk Housing Alliance is made up of the 10 major housing associations 

in Norfolk and the local housing authorities. Members work collaboratively on 

common purposes and aims, maximising the impact of initiatives through 

efficiency, innovation and joint working. Through the formation of this single 

social housing provider body for the county, the Alliance has strengthened 

strategic relationships through active partnership working and co-operation 

with Norfolk statutory agencies and voluntary and specialist agencies. 

Breckland plays an active part in the group.  

 

3.7.4 Housing Advice and Allocations Lead Officers Group (HAALO) 

This county-wide sub-group of the Housing Reference Group provides an 

opportunity for housing advice and allocations officers to meet to discuss 

issues, trends, new legislation and consider joint training opportunities. The 

group provides a valuable professional network and is regularly attended by 

officers.  

 

3.7.5 Joint protocol meetings  

There are several ‘task and finish’ sub-groups of the Housing Reference 

Group established to cover projects including: 

85



 

28 

 

• Young People’s Housing Protocol refresh 

• Mental Health Hospital Discharge Protocol  

• Greater Norwich and Breckland Criminal Justice and Homelessness 

Prevention Protocol  

Protocols agreed are promoted across the County and training takes place for 

housing teams where needed.  

 

3.7.6 Anglia Revenues Partnership   

Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) provides the revenues and benefits 

service for Breckland and several other local authorities in the region. They 

hold partnership meetings quarterly inviting all the authorities they work with, 

DWP, housing and support providers. This provides an opportunity to share 

information and discuss new legislation and update for example on Universal 

Credit, changes in Council Tax reduction schemes, DHP spend to date etc.  

 

ARP also chair a Universal Credit meeting for all Breckland partners where 

the DWP Local Manager provides information and news on initiatives such as 

an increase in work coaches, national roll-out update.  Both these meetings 

are valuable in terms of updates and learning and regular attendance from the 

housing team is to be encouraged.    

 

3.7.7 Early Help Hub meetings  

These are multi-agency weekly meetings held in both Thetford and Dereham 

attended by partner agencies including local housing authority, housing 

associations, Police, Social Services (adults and children), DWP, CAB and 

other support services. The meetings are Chaired by Social Services and are 

designed to coordinate help and agree a collaborative response in complex 

cases. These meetings are well attended, and productive and shared 

solutions are identified including joint visits to ensure the response is effective. 

This is a good example of partnership working regularly attended by the 

housing team.     

 

 

 

86



 

29 

 

3.7.8 Joint working with Department of Work & Pensions 

The Council has worked closely with the DWP to establish shared reception 

arrangement at both the Dereham and Thetford offices. Co-locating the 

services provides a good opportunity to share information and facilities and 

officers report this is working well. There is close liaison on shared clients who 

have complex needs and relationships are reported to have improved over the 

last six months.  

 

There have been opportunities for shared training around such issues as 

mental health and disability with the work coaches and housing and this 

appears to be working well.  

 

3.7.9  Thetford Homeless Action group  

Officers are aware of a recently established informal group of homeless 

charities in Thetford who have begun meeting to discuss homelessness 

issues. It is understood that this group is in its early development stages and 

links can be established in future to ensure the housing team are engaged in 

its work, especially around rough sleeping.  

 

3.7.10 Homelessness Forum  

There have not been regular multi-agency meetings held in Breckland to 

discuss homelessness, a gap identified by several agencies during the 

service review. A dedicated Homelessness Stakeholder Event focussing on 

the findings of the Homelessness Review and providing an opportunity to 

discuss the priorities for the new Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 

Strategy was held on 27 November 2019 at Dereham Football Club.  

Breckland supports multi-agency partnership working and it is expected that 

the group will continue to meet regularly in future to discuss ongoing issues 

and concerns for the sector and to review progress on the implementation of 

the new Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

87



 

30 

 

3. 8 REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES TO PREVENT HOMELESSNESS 

KEY FINDINGS: 

• The website and housing information and advice are difficult for 

customers to access, especially in Thetford.  

• The current staffing structure does not support the prevention approach 

and procedures create unnecessary barriers to an effective service.  

• The housing team focus on ‘homeless tonight’ cases rather than 

homelessness prevention and need to create some capacity to refocus. 

• The Housing Register is difficult to access partly due to technical IT 

challenges and the Allocations Policy requires review to ensure it fits 

the prevention agenda 

• Partnerships are good and provide a framework from which to identify 

opportunities to work up stream with people at risk of homelessness in 

future. 

• Links with private sector landlords are good and a tenancy training 

course has been developed.  

 

4. CONSIDERING THE NEEDS OF VULNERABLE GROUPS  

In order to develop effective partnerships and homelessness prevention 

services the Council has considered what the needs of vulnerable groups in 

Breckland are, and what services are in place to support them.   

 

4.1 Supported Housing in Breckland 

The following table shows the availability of supported housing (excluding 

temporary accommodation) within the Breckland area. Many of these 120 

units of supported housing still receive housing related support funded by 

Norfolk County Council. A total of £393,097 is paid into accommodation based 

supported housing in Breckland locations annually.  

 

The provision is clearly needed considering the large numbers of single 

people approaching the housing service, however providers report difficulty 

moving people on when they are ready to live independently. This issue will 

be considered in the Allocations Policy review as it is important that the 

88



 

31 

 

accommodation available, much of it with 24-hour staffing, is occupied by 

those in most need of support.  

 

Table 13  

Supported Housing in Breckland 

Provider   

Name of provision 

Client group  No. of units Location 

Benjamin Foundation  

Walmington Court 

Young People  

(16-25) 

14 

 

Thetford  

Solo Housing 

Visiting support 

Single homeless 

(low needs) 

23 Various 

Access Community Trust 

John Room House 

Single homeless 

(18+)  

22 Thetford 

Notting Hill Genesis 

Selwyn House   

Single homeless 

(18+) 

18 Dereham 

Notting Hill Genesis 

Canterbury House 

Single homeless 

(18+) 

18 Thetford 

Notting Hill Genesis 

Caledonia House 

Single Homeless 

(18+) 

12 (+ 4 crash 

beds) 

Thetford 

YMCA 

Supported Lodgings 

Young People 2 Various  

Leeway Domestic Abuse 7  

Total   120 units  

 

In addition to the supported housing available the council is also considering 

additional support services for a number of client groups e.g. mental health.  

 

4.2 Rough Sleepers 

The number of people sleeping rough in Breckland has remained low, mostly 

in single figures, for several years. But this year the number in the official 

estimate carried out on 13 November was 16, with an increasing number 

identified as sleeping in areas behind shops or in tents in wooded areas.   

 

The Council recently secured Government funding of £75,000 to tackle rough 

sleeping. Two new full-time workers have been recruited on temporary 

89



 

32 

 

contracts and both started in October 2019. The Rough Sleeper Coordinator 

and Rough Sleeping Engagement Officer’s roles are to link in with other 

agencies with the aim of tackling rough sleeping by developing alternative 

solutions including accessing supported housing and planning the Severe 

Weather Emergency Provision (SWEP).   

 
The Council has a good relationship with local faith groups including the 

Salvation Army and other churches in Thetford who the council has worked 

with in previous years to deliver the SWEP provision and will again this year. 

The Hub officers monitor the conditions and temperature daily and will advise 

officers when the trigger of three consecutive nights of actual or ‘feels like’ 

temperatures of Zero degrees or below has been met. The focus is currently 

on SWEP provision in Thetford, and while this is the area with most rough 

sleepers, if a rough sleeper is identified in Dereham this can cause issues in 

terms of lack of provision.  

 

Foodbanks are available in all market towns and community fridges are 

available in several areas. The Council is working with Notting Hill Genesis to 

provide 4 emergency direct access beds at Caledonia House in Thetford. 

These beds will provide accommodation for up to 14 nights during which time 

individuals will receive intensive support to access housing solutions and 

address other areas of need, signposting where appropriate.   

 

The new officers will be engaging and working closely with partners to contact 

anyone at risk of sleeping rough and have carried out the annual rough 

sleeper estimate.  

 

4.3 Single homeless people / ‘sofa surfers’ 

There are a number of supported hostels in Breckland as shown in the table 

above and most cater for single homeless people. Provision for single 

homeless people is good and Breckland has more supported housing than 

many other similar districts. In addition, there are hostels in neighbouring Diss 

and Norwich areas that can be referred into.  

 

90



 

33 

 

In addition to the housing service at the council there are other support 

services available to help single homeless people. These include: 

• The Crossing, a drop-in centre run by the Access Community Trust 

providing information and advice to people in Thetford. 

• Solo Housing Lodgings scheme recently introduced to find rooms and 

match them with single people in housing need. 

• Help Through Crisis project- multi-agency support service  

 

The new HRA ‘relief duty’ to support people to access accommodation applies 

to single people who do not have a priority need, so options to increase the 

number of properties available to this group through work with private 

landlords, the local faith groups, through reviewing prevention policies and 

pro-active service development will be a key action.   

 

4.4 Young People and Care Leavers 

Young people and care leavers have several support options in Breckland 

although the main one is the supported housing at Walmington Court provided 

by the Benjamin Foundation. This is dedicated for young people aged 16-25 

and has specialist on site support.  

 

The Council works closely with the Leaving Care Team to address 

homelessness and will carry out joint assessments with Social Care when a 

young person agreed 16 or 17 approaches as homeless. A Joint Protocol to 

address the needs of homeless young people in Norfolk was reviewed and 

updated in September 2018 to include new guidance from the MHCLG with 

joint training subsequently carried out for the teams.  

Other support services include:  

• Night-stop providing supported lodgings with host families for 5 nights 

in an emergency  

• YMCA in Norwich which can be referred into plus 2 bed-spaces within 

Breckland in supported lodgings.  

• The Benjamin Foundation provides rent deposits to access private 

rented housing. 

91



 

34 

 

• Evolve – provides a range of services for young people aged 16 to 24 

who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless and have additional 

mental health needs. 

 

4.5 Vulnerable families 

Families who are at risk of homelessness or who have become homeless and 

have moved into temporary accommodation have a variety of support needs. 

They may have to move away from their usual family support networks, and 

children may have to change schools. This combined with a relationship 

breakdown or financial worries can result in households with support needs of 

one type or another.  

 

Services for families in Breckland include Norfolk County Council Early Years’ 

Service – accessible through libraries, Dereham Church Group, Family Action 

for Children along with foodbanks and community fridge schemes. The 

housing team has good links with the Early Help Children’s Centres providing 

support for children and their families, and through these can access other 

services.  

 

4.6 Victims of domestic abuse (DA) 

Incidents of domestic abuse leading to homelessness are high in relation to 

other authorities and require a multi-agency response to keep victims safe. 

Housing options officers are involved with multi-agency partnership 

working around domestic abuse and there is a dedicated Domestic Abuse 

Champion in the team. Housing provide updates on cases for the Multi-

Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) which aims to reduce the 

risk of serious harm to high-risk victims and their children by sharing 

information across partners.  

 

Leeway Domestic Violence and Abuse Services run the local refuge provision 

however in most cases victims from within Breckland are placed outside of the 

area for safety. Leeway have recently agreed a proposal with the Council to 

develop a pilot project to provide a 37 hour a week Family Support Worker 

specialising in domestic abuse, to be based within the housing team to work 

92



 

35 

 

with clients who are facing domestic abuse and support them to break the 

cycle and help them to make informed choices. This project should be starting 

in the New Year.  

 

Other services are also available within the district include:  

• The Daisy Programme – a drop-in support service 

• Anchor outreach – providing support and safe accommodation for 

people who have ‘no recourse to public funds’ and in addition 

temporary accommodation can be provided for a maximum of three 

weeks for homeless clients fleeing abuse.  

• Dove – a national accommodation search agency for refuge spaces 

• Harbour centre – services for people at risk of sexual abuse or 

trafficking  

Domestic abuse is a major cause of homelessness within Breckland so to 

have such a good range of service available is good, although with the 

significant numbers approaching as homeless there is no ‘prevention 

focussed’ service, for example a Sanctuary Scheme except in some social 

housing. This type of scheme can be invaluable in helping victims to remain in 

their own home where they choose to do so. It can provide additional security 

measures to the home and a ‘safe room’ with alarms, which help victims to 

take back control and exclude their former partner. Consideration should be 

given to funding such a scheme from the Homeless Prevention Fund in 

partnership with Leeway and the Police.  

 

4.7 People with a mental health problem 

Access to early intervention and support for people approaching the Council 

with mental health problems is essential as mental health is the main support 

need identified in the support needs analysis. A third of all people with a 

support need owed a prevention or relief duty suffer from poor mental health 

and approaching a quarter of all households owed one or other duty overall.  

 

There is no dedicated mental health accommodation-based supported 

housing, but Norfolk County Council and Health have jointly funded a 

dedicated mental health support service, Norfolk Integrated Housing and 

93



 

36 

 

Community Support Service. This service supports adults (aged over 18) with 

severe and enduring mental health needs, including individuals with complex 

needs. The service supports people across the whole of Norfolk in supported 

living and within the community.  

 

Partnership working surrounding mental health is well developed and a recent 

outcome from County-wide working across NCC Adult Social Care, Norfolk & 

Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, local authority housing and the voluntary 

sector is a Norfolk Mental Health Hospital Discharge and Homelessness 

Prevention Protocol. The protocol is designed to ensure that a co-ordinated 

approach is taken across Norfolk to the housing needs of people with mental 

health issues leaving a mental health hospital or crisis house funded by any of 

the partners. This protocol is due to be approved by the Reference Group in 

November and adopted early in 2020.  

 

Other services for people with mental health issues that the team can refer to 

include Community Mental Health Service, MIND, Big White Wall – online 

resource, Job Centre – support, Social prescribing and well-being available 

through a GP.     

 

While there are several mental health services available in Breckland, officers 

report an increasing number of people presenting with low level mental health 

issues in addition to other needs (e.g. drugs, alcohol or offending) creating a 

cohort who are challenging but not eligible for statutory services and who may 

not engage with other voluntary sector provision.  

 

The raising of thresholds for statutory services has created a need for 

services for more complex cases where a risk of rough sleeping may occur. 

An emphasis on reaching people before they become roofless, developing 

specialist skills and a mental health champion role in the team with good local 

knowledge of services, helping people engage with support can prevent 

vulnerable people from falling into a housing crisis impacting further on their 

mental health and addiction or offending issues.  

 

94



 

37 

 

4.8 Offenders, former offenders and those at risk of offending 

The demand data shows a relatively small (13) number of approaches from 

offenders or former offenders where this is identified as a support need. There 

is a Category C prison, HMP Wayland in Watton which has an operational 

capacity of 1,017. The prison takes offenders from within the catchment area 

who wish to address their offending behaviour. It has specialist units that 

concentrate services around IDTS (Integrated Drug Treatment System) and 

recovery, the Phoenix Futures Substance Dependency Programme, a Drug 

Free Wing and a Category D progression and ROTL (Release on Temporary 

Licence) unit. It also has a Personality Disorder Unit with an Enabling 

Environment, the first unit of its type to open in a Category C prison.  

  

Housing report a good relationship with both the Police and the Probation 

Service strategically and officers have helped develop a Greater Norwich and 

Breckland Criminal Justice Homelessness Prevention Protocol. This was 

adopted in March 2019 and clarifies the roles and responsibilities of agencies 

involved with offenders, with the aim of preventing homelessness on their 

discharge from custody by identifying early on whether they may risk losing 

accommodation. While referrals of offenders being released from custody with 

no plan for housing are still evident, it is hoped the new protocol once adopted 

and implemented will provide an early warning mechanism and enable advice 

on housing options to be offered at a much earlier stage.  

 

There are also links with the Youth Offending Team and the DWP who have 

an Offender Link Worker focussed on homeless prevention. Other support 

services are also available such as Wonder Plus for female offenders and 

gardening activities run by former prison officers at the Thetford Horticultural 

Industry Scheme.  

 

Officers are represented on the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

(MAPPA) panel and cases are dealt with through a partnership approach. 

Links with Community Safety colleagues and housing association partners are 

well developed, and cases of anti-social behaviour considered on a case by 

case basis and joint visits undertaken.   

95



 

38 

 

4.9 People with substance misuse or drug and alcohol problems 

People with substance misuse issues haven’t historically approached the 

Council for assistance in great numbers with 19 in 2018/19 identified as 

having a drug support need and 17 with alcohol support need, those who 

present often have complex needs, including mental health problems and can 

be hard to engage and work with.  

 

Services for this group are provided by Change, Grow, Live (CGL), who are 

commissioned to provide group activities, workshops and can provide one-to-

one support for people with drug or alcohol issues. Support is also provided 

by the Access Community Trust, a charity that runs a drop-in centre (the 

Crossing) in Thetford. Officers can also encourage clients to seek medical 

help from their GP or from self-help organisations such as Alcoholics 

Anonymous.   

 
4.10 People leaving Forces Accommodation  

Several support services under the headings above also apply to the Armed 

Forces Community, including families and single people. Charities such as 

SSAFA and the Royal British Legion (RBL) provide support locally and are 

able to refer individuals on to specialist support where appropriate.  

 

4.11  SUPPORT FOR VULNERABLE GROUPS 

KEY FINDINGS: 

• Provision of supported housing and services for single homeless 

people is good but it is often difficult for people to move on when they 

are ready and current provision risks silting up. 

• Partnership working to support domestic abuse victims is well 

developed but a Sanctuary scheme could be developed as an 

additional preventative measure. 

• Protocols have been developed recently to ensure co-ordinated and 

effective pathways for mental health clients and offenders.  

• There is a gap in services for people with mental health issues who do 

not meet statutory thresholds for services and who may also have 

96



 

39 

 

additional and complex needs. Developing a champion role in the team 

to focus on homeless prevention for this group would benefit many.     

• The number of people sleeping rough is increasing significantly and 

services are required to address this  

 

5.  REVIEW OF TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION   
 
5.1 Numbers in temporary accommodation 

A snapshot in September 2019 of temporary accommodation used for 

homeless households where a duty to accommodate was owed, showed the 

following households. 

Table 14 

Type of 

Temporary 

accommodation 

Total 

Number 

Of which 

Relief Duty  

Of which 

Main 

Accepted 

duty 

Of which 

single 

people 

Self- contained 

Michael Monument 

Court (Flagship) 

12 1 11 3 

Bed & Breakfast  

 

38 31 7 22 

TOTAL 50 32 18 25 

 

The number of households placed in temporary accommodation has 

remained around at 50 for the past year with between 17 and 35 placed in 

bed and breakfast at any one time between January and September 2019.  

 

5.2 Michael Monument Court, Dereham 

The accommodation at Michael Monument Court in Dereham consists of 16 

self-contained flats and maisonettes manged by Flagship Housing that 

provide a good standard of temporary accommodation for families awaiting a 

more permanent housing solution. There is no additional cost to the Council, 

and this provides significant value for money when compared to the cost of 

using bed and breakfast, the Council’s other temporary accommodation 

option.  

97



 

40 

 

The accommodation is unfurnished without white goods and this can be a 

barrier for households who have not had accommodation previously. There 

are opportunities to work more pro-actively with charities to access furniture 

and white goods at an affordable price or to discuss with Flagship offering 

basic floorings and white goods i.e. cooker and fridge to make this more 

accessible.  

 

It is suggested that the council could explore the use of additional low demand 

or short-life properties with Flagship and other housing providers for use as 

temporary accommodation until the new provision becomes available in 

March 2021.  

 

5.3 Use of bed and breakfast 

At the time of the review in September 2019, of those families with children 

placed in bed and breakfast, three had been accommodated for more than 

six-weeks and fifteen had been placed into accommodation outside the 

Breckland area.  

 

The Government’s Homelessness Code of Guidance is clear that bed and 

breakfast accommodation with shared toilets and bathrooms should not be 

used to accommodate families with children or pregnant women except in an 

emergency where there is no alternative available, and then for a maximum 

period not exceeding six weeks. Guidance also states that this type of 

accommodation is never suitable for 16 or 17-year olds.  

 

While there is no evidence of 16 or 17 year olds being placed in bed and 

breakfast the very high numbers of single people placed under a relief duty 

indicates that officers are taking a different approach to single homeless than 

in other areas where the priority need criteria is interpreted more strictly. On 

reviewing several homeless casefiles, it is evident that many non-priority 

cases had been accommodated for more than the 56-day relief period without 

a decision being made on their homeless application or pro-active prevention 

activity.  

 

98



 

41 

 

Some team members are inexperienced and require additional support in 

order to make robust and timely decisions. The recent recruitment of an 

experienced Team Leader and Senior Housing Options Officer should ensure 

that more effective practices are put in place in relation to meeting the 

legislative requirements, particularly in relation to interim accommodation 

provision.  

 

As well as being costly, the use of bed and breakfast creates challenges in 

terms of collecting client licence fee contributions. Processes are in place to 

monitor and re-claim payments towards the cost through housing benefit and 

through client personal contributions, however these are not kept up to date 

and not checked regularly. Action could be taken to end accommodation 

where applicants are failing to make payments, but with poor recording there 

is little oversight of this and rent accounts are not checked prior to offers of 

housing being made. This process currently comes within the role of the Hub 

and it is suggested that the management of temporary accommodation sits 

better with the Housing Options Team Leader who can then have oversight of 

the whole client pathway.  

 

5.4 New Temporary Accommodation Project 

Due to the continued use of bed and breakfast a capital project has been 

initiated to deliver additional temporary accommodation in Thetford. This 

involved the purchase of a Norfolk County Council owned former Day Centre 

in Elm Road which has remained unused and empty for several years. The 

property is now in the ownership of the Council and a planning application is 

due to be submitted in November 2019.   

 

The proposal has received support from the local community and will include 

3 self-contained flats along with 17 units of shared accommodation. The 

building has large communal areas and lends itself to providing a space to 

work with partners to develop wider multi-agency services to the community 

alongside support to vulnerable households accommodated in the scheme. It 

is hoped that once planning consent has been granted the scheme will be 

99



 

42 

 

completed and operational by March 2021 with the management being 

provided by a housing association partner.   

 

5.5 John Room House 

The Council also owns a 22-bed single person hostel in Dereham, John Room 

House which is currently leased to Access Community Trust and managed by 

them. The Council subsidises the accommodation and is responsible for 

major repairs and maintenance. Overall the scheme breaks even although 

there is a risk that with the council accepting liability for major repairs costs 

can exceed income, particularly with large expense items like kitchen and 

bathroom refurbishments.   

 

The Management Contract dated 2010 hasn’t been reviewed since its 

inception and it is noted that the original use of the hostel was as temporary 

accommodation for vulnerable single people. At some stage this has changed 

to accommodation for non-priority single households. The accommodation 

has overnight staffing and would be suitable for the complex priority need 

clients the Council owes a temporary accommodation duty. It is therefore 

recommended that the management contract is reviewed with a view to 

enabling some units to again be used as temporary accommodation for single 

homeless clients in priority need.  

 

5.6 REVIEW OF TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION 

KEY FINDINGS: 

• The units of self-contained temporary accommodation owned by 

Flagship Housing provide the best value for money and use of other 

social rented properties could be explored. 

• Bed and breakfast is still used extensively for homeless households 

and processes to reclaim the costs are not followed. 

• High numbers of single people are placed into accommodation when 

they may not have a priority need and this needs robust management. 

• A project to deliver new temporary accommodation is in progress and 

will create accommodation and opportunities to provide community-

based support services. 

100



 

43 

 

• Another property owned by the council and leased out could provide 

additional spaces for single homeless and this should be explored.  

 

6. HOUSING OPTIONS TO RELIEVE HOMELESSNESS 

As mentioned in 3.5 above, good relationships are being developed with 

private landlords and letting agents and this is helping to support the 

availability of privately rented properties for families and single people. 

Financial support to access these properties is available through rental 

deposits via a loan from a local credit union, a discretionary housing payment 

or homelessness prevention fund. The Housing Register is available to 

families and can be used as an effective prevention tool if housing need is 

assessed accurately and applicants are flexible about where they live.   

 

Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates have been frozen for the last five years 

and this has resulted in an increasing gap between local market rent levels 

and the amounts housing benefit and universal credit will cover. The LHA 

rates are due to be ‘unfrozen’ in April 2020 and this is to be welcomed.   

 

Hostel provision is good for a rural area delivering over 100 units of shared 

accommodation for single people. While some of this is referred into by other 

local authorities in Norfolk due to the nature of the commissioning model, it is 

still a valuable resource and one that many council areas do not have. 

However, opportunities to move on from hostels is limited by the priority given 

on the housing register. This has been noted earlier in the report and will be 

considered in the review of the Allocations Policy.  

 

Additional schemes are also being developed. Solo Housing recently started a 

Lodgings Scheme funded by the Council. This involves working with people 

who have spare rooms to rent out to people in housing need. Potential 

landlords may be people who are under occupying social housing or be owner 

occupiers or in some circumstances private tenants. The Lodgings Officer 

maintains a register of lodgings available for single people with no support 

needs and provides a ‘matching service’. The scheme started on 1st October 

and at the time of writing six bed spaces had been made available with one 

101



 

44 

 

applicant placed into lodgings.  This scheme provides a welcome addition to 

the work with private landlords.  

 

6.1 HOUSING OPTIONS TO RELIEVE HOMELESSNESS  

KEY FINDINGS: 

• Options for families are available if they can access privately rented 

accommodation or social housing via the housing register. 

• Supported hostel provision is available for single people in the area. 

• Supported lodgings scheme is now in place and provides additional 

options for low support need clients 

 

7. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 

7.1 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA)  

The HRA placed new legal duties on local authorities, so that everyone who is 

homeless or at risk of becoming homeless has access to meaningful help, 

irrespective of their priority need status; if they are eligible for housing 

assistance.  

  

The Act largely amended part VII of the Housing Act 1996 and redefined the 

meaning of threat of homelessness by extending the period of threatened with 

homelessness from 28 to 56 days. There are six key aims of the Act which 

include: 

a) Prevention – Duty to provide casework intervention to resolve 

threatened homelessness. Local authorities work with applicants to 

draw up a personalised housing plan tailored towards their individual 

circumstances to help identify the best solutions in each case rather 

that standard advice.  

b) Relief – Homelessness relief occurs when a person is already 

homeless or where an authority has been unable to prevent 

homelessness but helps them to secure alternative accommodation, 

even though the authority is under no statutory obligation to do so.  

c) Duty to provide advisory services – Local authorities must provide free 

homelessness advice and information to any person in their local 

102



 

45 

 

authority area including advice and information on preventing 

homelessness, securing accommodation when homeless, the rights of 

homeless people or those threatened with homelessness, the help that 

is available from the local authority or others and how to access that 

help.  

d) Full Homelessness Duty – The full homelessness duty for priority need 

households where prevention has failed remains in place.  

e) Cooperation – Applicants will be expected to cooperate with local 

authorities as the duties outlined can be ended if applicants are found 

to have deliberately and unreasonably refuse to cooperate.   

f) Duty to refer – The new duty on other public services to refer people to 

homelessness services if they are working with people who are 

homeless or at risk of homelessness came into force in October 2018. 

7.2 Breckland progress on implementation 

In Breckland some progress has been made to implement the HRA but with 

an inexperienced team, vacancies in key positions and increased demand on 

the frontline it has not been possible to affect a full culture change towards a 

pro-active homelessness prevention approach.  Actions taken have included: 

 

✓ Purchase of an IT system to deliver the Housing Register, Housing 

Options activity and report on the new H-CLIC requirements – the 

system hasn’t however delivered the expected improvements and is 

due to be replaced early in 2020.   

✓ The adoption of best practice template plans and letters for applicants 

– although practical training and support on these is incomplete. 

✓ Commissioning an LGA Peer Review into the Housing Service – 

completed in summer 2019 

✓ Subsequently commissioning a full Homelessness Service Review and 

support to develop a new Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 

Strategy. 

103



 

46 

 

✓ Renewed focus on strategic partnerships and developing new services 

i.e. Lodgings scheme, Tenancy Awareness Course, Domestic Abuse 

Family Support Worker, new temporary accommodation.   

✓ A Homelessness Stakeholder Event and engagement with key partners  

 

This Review forms part of the progress to date. The new Housing, 

Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy will identify the Council’s priorities 

and include recommendations for further changes to meet the requirements of 

the Act and deliver a pro-active homeless prevention service.   

 

7.3 IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 

KEY FINDINGS 

• The IT systems does not support the new prevention approach and it 

has been agreed that it needs to be replaced. 

• Staff have struggled with increased demand and have not achieved the 

required cultural shift to a prevention approach 

• Some new services are in place and will provide additional tools to 

deliver the change in approach 

• The service is undergoing a full review and a new strategy will be in 

place early in 2020 

 

8. NEW HOUSING SUPPLY 

8.1 New affordable housing  

While progress is being made in developing partnerships around homeless 

prevention, without a pipeline of new housing supply this will not in itself solve 

the housing pressures on the Council. A pro-active approach is already being 

taken with housing providers to identify new sites and deliver new affordable 

homes in the district.  

 

Delivery of new affordable housing is a key corporate priority for the council 

as increased supply will contribute significantly to the Council’s ability to 

manage the demands on the homelessness service and the costs of 

temporary accommodation.  

104



 

47 

 

Table 14 

New affordable housing supply   

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20  

(6 months) 

Delivery of new affordable 
/social rented  

116 65 144 57 

Delivery of shared o/ship 12 16 16 0 

Delivery of shared equity 15 5 6 1 

Total 143 86 168 58 

 

The need for smaller units (1 & 2 bed) of accommodation for single people 

and newly formed households are the main needs identified by the team and 

it is recommended that smaller homes are included in all new developments. 

The current dialogue with housing providers when planning new affordable 

housing provision is to focus on the delivery of 2 and 3-bedroom properties. 

This should be reviewed considering the number of 1-bed units within the 

current housing stock, how often they come available for letting and the 

demand for single person accommodation experienced through the housing 

register and homelessness.   

 

9. STAFFING STRUCTURE  

9.1 Restructure of Housing Services  

The Housing Options service has not undertaken a review since the 

Homelessness Reduction Act came into force, but the ongoing issues with 

demand and the crisis-led approach have resulted in an acknowledgement 

that the current structure with a Housing Options and a Housing Hub Team is 

not fit for purpose.  

 

In order to refocus on prevention, get up-stream and be much more pro-active 

it is recommended that a single team is brought in to replace the current 

structure. Using the model shown in 3.1.8 above a new frontline housing 

advice and information service should be established to support Customer 

105



 

48 

 

Services to filter initial enquiries and deal with anyone approaching for advice 

in the pre-56-day prevention stage.  

 

Systems can be brought in to monitor the number of these enquiries so that 

demand and caseloads of the team can be managed. A home visiting officer 

who is trained in family mediation and has extensive knowledge of local 

services and the housing market should be a key role, able to verify 

applications where eviction by family or friends is the cause of homelessness.  

 

Homelessness prevention officer roles should be separated from relief, 

homeless decision making and temporary accommodation roles. Officers 

whose sole purpose is to hold a caseload of prevention cases and pro-actively 

support them will help avoid the tendency to place into temporary 

accommodation. Specialist champions in this team are helpful and can cover 

benefits/affordability assessments, mental health, young people and single 

homelessness in addition to the existing domestic abuse champion.   

 

The functions of relief, homelessness assessment and decision-making and 

temporary accommodation placement should be the role of experienced 

homelessness decision making officers who can make robust checks and 

enquiries and be held accountable.  Monitoring of the placements, numbers 

and payment collection for bed and breakfast accommodation should sit with 

the Housing Options Manager to ensure effective oversight of that function.  

 

The Housing Register needs a dedicated resource in order to complete all the 

tasks of registering application, banding, dealing with changes of 

circumstances, verifications, shortlisting and dealing with housing 

associations advertising properties satisfactorily and in a timely manner 

without becoming distracted by other work.  

 

There is a need for a good business administrator in the team to deal with the 

reporting and performance information as this currently reverts to the Housing 

Manager in the absence of officers with an in-depth knowledge of the system.  

 

106



 

49 

 

A staffing review to develop a new structure to support the prevention 

approach is already underway.  

 

10. RESOURCES 

10.1 Income and Expenditure on homelessness services  

The Government has provided additional resources in order to support local 

authorities to deliver the HRA.  These are the sums received by Breckland. 

  

Table 15  

Government Resources to tackle homelessness in Breckland 

 2017/18  

£ 

2018/19   

£ 

2019/20 

£ 

Flexible Homeless Support Grant 

(FHSG) (ring fenced) 

167,124 189,241 141,954 

Burdens Fund (ring fenced) 61,400 56,243 64,638 

Homeless Prevention Grant (non-ring-

fenced) 

35,000 35,000 35,000 

Rough Sleeping Funding    75,000 

Total  263,524 280,484 316,592 

 

The Flexible Homelessness Support Grant is ring fenced to homelessness 

services and the implementation of the HRA. Most of this funding has been 

used to bring in additional housing options staff. The allocation of financial 

assistance from the Government in future years is by no means certain and 

should be kept under review. Urgent consideration should be given to how the 

posts can be funded if the FHSG does not continue into 2020/21.     

 

11. CONSULTATION 

11.1 Homelessness Stakeholder Forum  

A Homelessness Forum was held on 27 November 2019 attended by over 40 

representatives from local statutory services and the voluntary and community 

sector. A workshop was held to understand and reflect on the challenges for 

Breckland in terms of homelessness and to comment and agree on the 

107



 

50 

 

findings of the Homelessness Review and the strategic priorities planned for 

the new Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy for Breckland.   

 

Those attending included elected Members and several officers from the 

housing team in addition to external agencies and everybody welcomed the 

opportunity to attend such an event. There was wide support for the review 

findings, the priorities identified and the actions the Council proposes to take 

as a result, especially around access to services, awareness raising of the 

service and importance of early help. It is hoped that regular meetings will 

continue in future.   

 

12. CONCLUSIONS AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

The Homelessness Review has highlighted several areas where significant 

progress has been made including working in partnership with others to 

develop new services. However, the implementation of the Homelessness 

Reduction Act in the housing service has not brought with it the shift in culture 

that is required and therefore the positive impact of these new measures is 

not being felt by potentially homeless people in Breckland.  

 

Time now needs to be spent re-ordering service priorities and focussing on 

the changes that will deliver the greatest improvements for customers as well 

as reducing the costs of providing shelter for those who find themselves 

roofless. The main findings of the review can be grouped under five headings.  

 

12.1 Policy 

A solid foundation of policy and strategy is required to underpin the culture 

change required and provide the council with leadership and focus to deliver. 

Policies sitting within this are the overarching Housing, Homelessness and 

Rough Sleeping Strategy this review will inform, but also the Allocations 

Policy, the Local Plan and the Homelessness Prevention Fund Policy. 

 

12.2 Pathways 

Pathways for customers need to be easier to navigate with self-help 

information and opportunities made simple to access via the website or via 

108



 

51 

 

contact with the team. Procedures aligned to the policies should be 

straightforward and customer focussed, making access to meaningful 

prevention the priority for the service and homelessness a last resort and a 

sign of service failure.    

 

12.3 Partnerships 

To achieve a turnaround in service delivery current partnerships should be 

maintained and developed, encouraged and refocussed on early help to 

support the homelessness prevention agenda. Opportunities to work in 

partnership to develop new solutions are already bearing fruit with new 

services coming on-line but these can be brought in at an earlier stage to 

make a real difference to people in housing difficulties.  

 

12.4 Performance  

Mechanisms to monitor service performance need to be re-designed to reflect 

the council’s priority areas and monitored by managers regularly to better 

inform service improvement and measure the effectiveness of any changes. 

New IT systems should be implemented with reporting in place from the start 

so that this is streamlined and easy to use.  

 

12.5 People 

To achieve the shift in culture required and embrace the challenges ahead a 

key priority is to develop a new staffing structure to deliver the prevention 

priority. This will involve redesigning the front-line and developing a new triage 

service, supporting skills development and training, developing champions in 

the team to lead on specialist areas and be the service experts. 

 

The conclusions in this review and opportunities it presents will significantly 

inform the priorities in the new Strategy.  

 

12.6 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

It is recommended that the following Strategic Priorities are taken forward into 

the new Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

 

109



 

52 

 

❖ Improve access to early housing advice and homelessness prevention 

services 

❖ To reduce the number of people sleeping rough in Breckland.  

❖ Reduce the numbers in temporary accommodation and reduce reliance 

on B&B within 2 years.  

 

110



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Health & Housing, Councillor Alison Webb

To: Overview & Scrutiny – 6 February 2020
Cabinet – 16 March 2020

Author: Riana Rudland, Breckland Place Manager 

Subject: Allocations Policy 

Purpose: To seek Member approval for a new Allocations Policy in order to support 
the priorities contained within the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020-2025 

Recommendation: 

1) That the Draft Allocations Policy be considered by Scrutiny and recommended to Cabinet for 
approval. 

1.0 BACKGROUND
1.1   The Council has a statutory duty to publish a policy outlining how the Council will award 

reasonable preference to applications from people in housing need applying to the 
Housing Register for social housing within the district. 

1.2   The Council last updated the Allocations Policy in June 2016 bringing in additional 
procedural and verification requirements but otherwise confirming the policy adopted 
following the Localism Act in November 2012 where a 3-year local connection 
requirement was adopted.  

1.3   During the Homelessness Service Review undertaken by the East of England LGA 
(EELGA) in the autumn, a number of concerns were raised in relation to the Allocations 
Policy, including the number of unnecessary procedures and processes involved which 
often make it difficult for applicants to access the Housing Register. In addition, several 
elements were not included in the current policy e.g. a lack of guidance on the eligibility of 
owner occupiers, especially those who are elderly or frail with support needs, financial 
eligibility was not prescribed in any detail leaving officers with little guidance on how to 
interpret the policy. 

1.4   A review of the policy was recommended and subsequently undertaken taking into 
account the changes required by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2107 and best practice 
in terms of procedures being as far as possible people-led as opposed to process-led 
resulting in a more effective balance of meeting housing need while also adhering to a 
fairly strict policy framework. 

1.5   The new Allocations Policy provides a more transparent and comprehensive framework       
for the allocation of homes although the actual banding remains largely the same. Minor 
changes to the banding are shown below:

 Residents in supported accommodation identified as ready to move on have 
been moved from a Silver to a Gold band (this is to enable movement through 
supported housing which is currently silting up not allowing new homeless 

111

Agenda Item 9



clients to access the support, and resulting in them being placed in expensive 
temporary accommodation) 

 Rough sleepers and sofa surfers (those with no fixed place to live but not 
roofless) to be placed in Silver Band (to meet the Government expectations to 
support eligible rough sleepers off the streets into homes and prevent rough 
sleeping) 

 Additional preference for former armed forces personnel (increasing their time in 
band by backdating applications six months rather than the current three 
months) 

 Changing the name of ‘No Reasonable Preference’ band to ‘Bronze Band’ (to 
make it more understandable for applicants) 

 Local connection has been amended to include non-blood family members e.g. 
step or foster parents but only with a manager’s approval.

2.0 OPTIONS
2.1 Members of Overview & Scrutiny have an opportunity to comment on the changes 

contained within the draft Allocations Policy prior to submission to Cabinet. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1         The proposed revised Allocations Policy has been updated to address the issues raised in 

the homelessness service review and in terms of the wording in relation to the 
Homelessness Reduction Act which now makes it statutorily compliant. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS
4.1 The new Allocations Policy aims to create positive change and to enhance the housing 

options services with the key benefits: 
 Improvement in terms of making better use of the available social housing stock in the 

district;
 Greater priority for a small number of applicants in the greatest need;
 Clearer policy guidance for officers administering the policy; 
 Supporting the council’s broader Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy priority 

to prevent homelessness and reduce numbers placed in temporary accommodation.  
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1       Constitution & Legal
5.1.1 There is a statutory requirement under the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) to allocate 

social housing in the district according to reasonable preference categories contained 
within the legislation. The new draft Allocations Policy meets this statutory requirement. 

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.2.1 The Allocations Policy fulfils the ‘Your Place’ focused corporate priority as agreed in the 

2019 – 2023 Corporate Plan for Breckland: ‘Supporting growth, preventing homelessness, 
increase housing options’. 

5.3 Financial 

112



5.3.1    Awarding additional priority for those living in supported housing will free up bed-spaces to 
enable newly homeless residents to access appropriate housing and thereby reduce the 
cost to the council of providing expensive bed and breakfast, especially for single 
vulnerable people. 

5.4       Health & Wellbeing
5.4.1 The prevention of homelessness and ensuring people have a safe place to live is key to the   

health and wellbeing of the residents of Breckland. 

5.5 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.5.1 The changes to the Allocations Policy are minor affecting a small number of applicants and 

therefore there is no formal consultation requirement.      

5.5.2 Members are invited to comment on the changes during the consultation period prior to the 
Allocations Policy being presented to Cabinet on 16 March for approval and adoption.

5.5.3 It is anticipated that the updated Allocations Policy will come into effect on 1st April and that 
any applications affected by the changes will be reviewed and updated in the period April to 
June 2020. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
6.1       No specific wards or communities are directly affected by the Allocations Policy although 

applicants in housing need can come from any ward or community in the district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1      EELGA = East of England Local Government Association 

Background papers: - Homelessness Review Report

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:                    Riana Rudland
Telephone Number: 01362 656300
Email: riana.rudland@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Draft Allocations Policy 

113



 1 

 

        
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Breckland Council 
 

 
ALLOCATIONS POLICY  

 
This document sets out how Breckland Council, in partnership 

with Registered Providers with properties in the district, will 
allocate their properties through the  

‘Breckland Housing Allocations’ Scheme  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Revised at 5th December 2019, adopted April 2020 
 

114



 2 

Contents page  

 
Chapter Contents Page no. 
Chapter 1 
 

Introduction 
1.1   Introduction 
1.2   Objectives of the allocations policy 
1.3   Statement on choice 
1.4   Legal context 
1.5   Equal opportunities and diversity 
1.6   The welfare of children 
1.7   The welfare of adults 
1.8 Monitoring and reviewing the allocations policy 

 
4 
4 
4 
4 
5 
6 
6 
6 

Chapter 2 Applying for housing  
2.1   How to apply for housing 
2.2   Date of registration 
2.3   Date in band 
2.4   Armed Forces personnel – date in band 
2.5   Multiple applications 
2.6   Change of circumstances 
2.7   Applicant’s consent and declaration 
2.8   Data protection 
2.9   Application review 
2.10 Cancelling an application  

 
7 
8 
8 
8 
9 
9 
9 
9 

10 
10 

Chapter 3 
 

Who can be accepted onto the housing register? 
3.1   Who can be accepted onto the housing register? 
3.2   Eligible applicants   
3.3   Qualifying categories of applicants 
3.4   Connection to the local area criteria 
3.5   Applicants with a history of unacceptable behaviour 
3.6   16 and 17 year olds 

 
11 
11 
11 
11 
13 
13 

Chapter 4 Assessment of housing need 
4.1   Legal background 
4.2   Advice and information 
4.3   Assessment of housing need 
4.4   Local allocations criteria 
4.5   Housing needs bands 
4.6   Intentionally worsening housing circumstances 
4.7   Homeowners 
4.8   Financial resources 
4.9   Officer review for Emergency Band applicants 

 
14 
14 
14 
14 
14 
21 
21 
21 
22 

Chapter 5 
 

Assessment information and criteria 
5.1   Transfer applicants 
5.2   Homeless applications 
5.3   Split families 
5.4   Bedroom requirement guidelines 
5.5   Staying contact with children 
5.6   Medical, disability and welfare assessments 
5.7   Property Condition - unfitness 
5.8   Harassment and domestic violence 
5.9   Applicants subject to Multi-Agency Public Protection 

Arrangements (MAPPA) 
5.10 Direct lets 
5.11 Direct lets to homeless applicants 
5.12 Applicants who require a specific size, type or adapted 

property 

 
23 
23 
23 
23 
24 
24 
25 
25 
25 

 
25 
26 
27 

115



 3 

5.13 Housing for older people 
5.14 Extra care properties 
5.15 Refusals of direct lets 
5.16 Local Lettings plans 
5.17 Sensitive Lets 
5.18 Decisions outside of the scope of the Allocations Policy 

27 
27 
27 
27 
27 
28 

Chapter 6 Reviews of decisions 
6.1   Reviews of decisions 
6.2   Statutory reviews 
6.3   Homeless reviews 
6.4   The Local Government Ombudsman 

 
29 
29 
30 
30 

Chapter 7 Letting of accommodation 
7.1   Letting of accommodation 
7.2   Labelling property adverts 
7.3   Bedroom requirements 
7.4   Shortlisting 
7.5   Formal offer of property 
7.6   Withdrawal of offers 
7.7   Refusing an offer of accommodation 
7.8   Allocations to staff, council members or their family 

members  

 
31 
31 
31 
31 
32 
32 
33 
33 
 

Chapter 8 Confidentiality and access to information 
8.1   Applicants’ rights to information 
8.2   Data protection  
8.3   Requesting information 

 
34 
34 
34 

Appendices Glossary of terms 35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

116



 4 

Chapter 1 

 
1.1 Introduction 
 
1.1.1 This is the letting policy for Breckland Council to be used in conjunction with the 

Breckland Housing Allocations Scheme. The allocations policy aims to ensure that all 
people seeking social housing in the Breckland district can exercise choice in 
deciding where they wish to live and in the type of property they would prefer.  

 
1.1.2 The policy enables Breckland Council to consider the individual needs of its 

applicants whilst making best use of the scarce resource of housing stock.  The 
policy sets out: 

 
a) How to apply for housing. 
b) Who will qualify to be accepted onto the housing register. 
c) How priority for housing applicants will be given. 
d) What the decision-making processes are. 
e) How homes will be let. 

  
1.1.3 You may view the Housing Allocations Scheme information and this allocations 

policy, at https://brecklandhousing.co.uk/ or request a copy from the Council offices.  
 
1.2  Objectives of the allocations policy 

 
a) To meet the legal requirements for the allocation of social housing as set out 

in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 
b) To assist applicants in the highest assessed need 
c) To let properties in a fair and transparent way and provide a consistent 

allocations process 
d) To make best use of housing stock 
e) To ensure that applicants are not unlawfully discriminated against, whether 

directly or indirectly 
f) To improve accessibility and support for vulnerable applicants 
g) To provide increased choice and information to applicants 
h) To provide information and feedback on homes that are let through the 

Housing Allocations scheme 
i) To promote social inclusion and help achieve sustainable communities 
j) To prevent homelessness and reduce the use of temporary accommodation 

through an effective prioritisation scheme. 
 
1.3 Statement on choice  
  
1.3.1 Breckland Council is fully committed to enabling applicants to play a more active role 

in choosing where they live, whilst continuing to house those in the greatest need in 
the district.  The Housing Allocations system allows applicants to make a choice 
about the housing which will best meet their needs from the options that are available 
whilst still meeting the council’s statutory duties to those in greatest housing need 

 
1.4 Legal context 
 
1.4.1 All applicants for housing will be assessed to determine their eligibility to be placed 

on the housing register.  This is to ensure homes are let to those in the highest 
assessed need and ensures that the council meets its legal obligations as set out in 
the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).   

 
 

117

https://brecklandhousing.co.uk/


 5 

This policy has also had regard to: 
a) Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in 

England, and 
b) The Public Sector Equalities Duty, and 
c) Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act, and 
d) Breckland Councils Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy, and 
e) Breckland Council’s Tenancy Strategy. 

 
1.4.2 The law states that there are five groups of applicants where reasonable preference 

must be considered: 
 

a) People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part VII (7) of the Housing 
Act 1996 (as amended)) 

 
b) People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under section 

190(2), 193(2), or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of 
the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any 
such authority under section 192(3) 

 
c) People occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 

unsatisfactory housing conditions  
 

d) People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including grounds 
relating to a disability); and 

 
e) People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, 

where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to 
others)  

 
1.4.3 The allocations policy has been designed to ensure applicants who fall into the above 

reasonable preference categories will be awarded reasonable preference.  
 
1.4.4 Every application received by Breckland Council will be considered according to the 

facts unique to that application as Breckland Council recognises that every 
applicant’s situation is different.  Applications will be considered on an individual 
basis and individual circumstances will be taken into account.  However, all 
allocations will be made in accordance with this allocations policy.  

 
1.5 Equal opportunities and diversity  
 
1.5.1 The allocations policy will be responsive, accessible and sensitive to the needs of all 

by having regard to the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 2010.   
 

Breckland Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity and will ensure 
that all applicants are treated fairly and without unlawful discrimination on the grounds 
of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 
In addition, Breckland Council is committed to the aims of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty (2011): 
 

a) Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

b) Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 
are different from the needs of other people 

118



 6 

c) Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in 
other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

 
Breckland Council also has due regard to the commitments made in Article 14 of the 
Human Rights Act (1998) as it relates to the service provided. 

 
1.6 The Welfare of Children 
 
1.6.1 Breckland Council will ensure that decisions made under this allocations policy have 

regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children taking into 
account Section 11 of The Children’s Act and the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

 
1.6.2 Breckland Council will also have regard to the Children & Social Work Act 2017 as 

relates to the local arrangements for safeguarding and promoting welfare of children. 
 
1.7 The Welfare of Adults 
 
1.7.1 Breckland Council will also have regard to the Care Act 2014, which includes 

provisions for adults at risk of abuse or neglect. 
 
1.8 Monitoring and reviewing the allocations policy 
 
1.8.1 Breckland Council will monitor the operation of the allocations policy by regularly 

reviewing the policy to ensure that the policy meets its stated objectives and 
complies with legislative changes. 

  

119



 7 

Chapter 2 
 
2.1 How to apply for housing  
 
2.1.1 As well as applying to go on the housing register, applicants are given the 

opportunity to complete an on-line Housing Advice form (HAF). This allows the 
applicant’s housing options to be assessed and determine which options could be the 
most appropriate.  If this includes social housing (which includes Affordable Rents), 
and the applicant is eligible, they will then need to complete the more detailed 
housing register application.  

 
2.1.2 Where applicants are unable to use these on-line facilities and approach the council, 

an officer will either complete the on-line form over the telephone with the applicant, 
or face to face in an interview or at a home visit.   

 
2.1.3 An applicant may include anyone on their application who may reasonably be 

expected to live with them as part of their household. 
 
2.1.4 Where two applicants wish to have a shared application they will be known as joint 

applicants. If an applicant lists a partner on his/her application, it will be assumed that 
the partner is a joint applicant unless either party advises the council otherwise. 
Although adults who are not partners and need more than one bedroom may jointly 
apply to the register, due to the level of demand for family sized accommodation from 
family households (by “family” we mean households that have children (under 18) 
who are dependent on the adult(s)) they will not normally be prioritised for an offer of 
this size of accommodation ahead of families.  

 
2.1.5 On receipt of the application Breckland Council will assess this and may request 

additional information and supporting evidence so that the applicant’s eligibility and 
housing need can be confirmed. Breckland Council will verify the information 
provided which may include inviting the applicant for an interview or visiting them at 
home. 

 
2.1.6 Applications will only be accepted onto the register where:  

 
a) The applicant is eligible for an allocation of social housing (see Chapter 3); 

and  
b) The applicant qualifies for an allocation of social housing.  (See sections 3.2 to 

3.4). 
  

 2.1.7 After assessment Breckland Council will write to applicants to inform them whether 
they have been accepted onto the housing register, or give reasons if they have not.  
Where accepted they will be informed of: 

 
a) Their unique reference number, which allows them to bid for homes through 

the Housing Allocations Scheme 
b) The housing needs band in which the application has been placed   
c) The date that the application was placed in the band (the “date in band”) 
d) The size of property for which the applicant is likely to be able to bid  

 
If they have not been accepted onto the housing register the council will set out the 
reasons for this decision and will provide information about the review process (see 
Chapter 6). 
 
 
 

120



 8 

2.2 Date of registration 
 
2.2.1 The registration date of an application will be the date the on-line housing application 

is received by Breckland Council. 
   

2.3 Date in band 

2.3.1 The principle of the policy is that normally no applicant should overtake existing 
applicants in a band. Therefore, applicants will be placed within a band in date order.    

a) New applications:  the date in band will be the same as the applicant’s date 
of registration. Where supporting documents have been requested, and are 
not provided within 28 days but still accepted at the discretion of the council, 
the date in band will be the date the documents were received 
 

b) Change of circumstances which results in a higher band assessment: 
the date in band will be the date the applicant provides evidence of the 
change of circumstances leading to the award of a higher priority band.   

2.3.2 When applicants move down bands due to a change in their circumstances the 
following applies: 

a) Returning to a band that they were previously placed in:  the date in band 
reverts to the date that applied when the applicant was previously in that 
band. 

 
b) Moving into a lower band they have not previously been placed in:  the 

date in band will be the date that the application was first placed into a higher 
band.  In most circumstances, this is likely to be their date of registration. 

2.4 Armed Forces personnel – date in band. 

2.4.1 Additional priority will be awarded to the following categories of people: 
 

a) serving members of the regular forces who are suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service 

b) former members of the regular forces. Note: A veteran is someone who has received 
1 days’ pay as a member of the Regular Armed Forces (not reserves) 

c) bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular forces where (i) the 
bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to 
reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their service 
spouse or civil partner, and (ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their 
service 

d) existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a serious 
injury, illness, or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service. 

 
2.4.2    Additional priority will be awarded to the above categories of people by awarding 

their application the appropriate priority band, as set out in this allocations policy, and 
backdating their date in band by a period of six months. This will have the effect of 
raising their priority above applicants in similar circumstances who have not 
undertaken military service. This additional priority is awarded to meet the 
expectations set out in the Armed Forces Covenant and national guidance.  

 

2.4.3 Current members of the Armed Forces may also request that this additional priority 
be applied to their housing application six months prior to the date when they are due 

121



 9 

to leave military service. Appropriate evidence of the end to military service will be 
required. 

 
2.5 Multiple applications 
 
2.5.1 An applicant can have only one active application on the housing register at any time.  
 
2.6 Change of circumstances 
 
2.6.1 Where an applicant registered with Breckland Council has a change in their 

circumstances they must promptly inform Breckland Council by updating their 
information on the Breckland Housing Allocations website. Applicants can complete a 
change of circumstances on-line at  https://brecklandhousing.co.uk/ . Change of 
circumstances will be assessed based on the new circumstances.  Examples of 
change of circumstances are detailed below, although this list is not exhaustive. 

 
a) Change of address 
b) People joining or leaving the household 
c) Pregnancy/birth of a child 
d) Relationship breakdown 
e) Change to the medical circumstances of anyone included on the application 
f) Death of a household member 
g) Death of a joint applicant 
h) A member of the household now applying in their own right 

 
2.7 Applicant’s consent and declaration  
 
2.7.1 When an applicant applies for housing, they will be required to confirm their 

understanding of, or sign a declaration to confirm that: 
 

a) The information they have provided is true, accurate and complete. 
b) They will promptly inform Breckland Council of any change in circumstances. 
c) They understand that information will be shared with other agencies. 
d) They consent to Breckland Council making enquiries of any relevant persons 

to confirm the information on the application form is correct including previous 
or current landlords and other local authorities.  

e) They consent to the release of any relevant information either to Breckland 
Council held by third parties, or by Breckland Council to third parties.  

f) The information provided may be used to help in the detection and prevention 
of fraud. 
 

2.7.2 Breckland Council may take legal action against applicants who withhold or provide 
false information regarding their housing application.  Where an applicant has been 
let a property as a result of providing false information, their landlord may take court 
action to obtain possession of the property.  

 
2.8 Data protection 
 
2.8.1 When an applicant applies for housing, Breckland Council will only seek information 

that they require to assess the application and the applicant’s housing needs. 
Information supplied by the applicant may be shared amongst participating officers, 
landlords and support agencies. The applicant will confirm their consent to this via 
the declaration when registering on the scheme. Breckland Council’s policy on Data 
Protection is available on request and can be found here:  

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/privacypolicy 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/dataprotectionpolicy 

122

https://brecklandhousing.co.uk/
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/privacypolicy


 10 

 
 2.9 Application review  
 
2.9.1 Regular reviews will be undertaken to check that applicants have been bidding for 

properties and that information provided is up to date. Those applicants who have not 
bid on a property within the last 6 months will be contacted and advised that they are 
to be removed from the register.   

  
2.9.2 Applicants wishing to remain on the register must contact the council to explain why 

they have not been bidding. Only where there is a justifiable reason for non-bidding, 
for example needing an adapted property or a requirement to be in a specific location 
and no properties having been available with in the 6-month period will an applicant 
be allowed to remain on the register.  

  
2.9.3 If there is no response within 28 days of contacting an applicant who has not been 

bidding, the application will be deemed to have been cancelled and the customer 
notified of this in writing.  

 
 
2.10 Cancelling an application 
 
2.10.1 An application will be cancelled from the housing register in the following 

circumstances: 
 

a) At the applicant’s request. 
b) If the applicant becomes ineligible for housing (see s.3.2). 
c) If the applicant no longer falls within a qualifying class of applicant (see s.3.3). 
d) When the applicant has been adequately and appropriately housed including 

into the private sector. 
e) Where an applicant does not maintain their application through the review 

process, or where they move and do not provide a contact address. 
f) Where the applicant purchases a property/shared ownership property.  
g) When an applicant fails to bid in a 6-month period and provides no justifiable 

reason for not bidding 
h) Where the applicant has died. 

  
2.10.2 When an application is cancelled, we will write to the applicant or their representative 

to notify them. Where an applicant has been highlighted as vulnerable, Breckland 
Council will contact the applicant to verify their circumstances before cancelling the 
application. Any applicant whose application has been cancelled has the right to ask 
for a review of the decision, (see Chapter 6). 

 
2.10.3 Where an applicant wishes to re-join the housing register at a later date their new 

date of registration will be the date they re-apply.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

123



 11 

Chapter 3 
 
3.1 Who can be accepted onto the housing register?  
 
3.1.1   The Council can allocate housing to anyone who qualifies for an allocation if they are 

eligible under the Housing Act 1996. 
 
3.1.2   The Council cannot allocate housing to two or more persons jointly if one of them is 

ineligible 
 
3.2 Eligible applicants  
 
3.2.1 Breckland Council is required, by law, to decide that certain applicants are ineligible 

for an allocation of social housing.  Eligibility can change with a change of 
immigration status and therefore the Council will keep an applicant’s eligibility for 
housing under review.  Applicants are responsible for informing the Council of any 
change in their immigration status. 

 
3.2.2 Applicants whose immigration status makes them ineligible to be considered on the 

register will be notified in writing of the decision and the reason for the decision. If an 
applicant is accepted onto the register, but subsequently becomes ineligible, their 
housing application will be cancelled, and the applicant notified.  Applicants found to 
be ineligible have a right to ask for a review of the decision (see Chapter 6).  

 
3.2.3 Where an eligible applicant includes people who are ineligible as part of his or her 

household the council can, in deciding who forms part of the applicant’s household 
for the purposes of housing allocation: 

 
(a) Have regard to the fact that members of a person’s household would not be 

eligible for accommodation in their own right 
(b) Have regard to the fact that an ineligible person is not permitted to have recourse 

to public funds. 
(c) Conclude that an ineligible person does not form part of the household. 

   
3.3 Qualifying categories of applicants 
 
3.3.1 Breckland is an area where the demand for social housing far exceeds the supply. 

For this reason only those applicants who meet the local connection criteria will 
qualify to join the housing register (see s.3.4). 

 
3.3.2  Applicants will not qualify to join the housing register if they are considered to be 

unsuitable to be a tenant because of unacceptable behaviour (see s.3.5) 
 
3.4 Connection to the local area criteria 
 
3.4.1 An applicant will be considered to have a connection with Breckland Council and 

accepted onto the housing register if they meet one of the following criteria: 
  

(a) Has lived in the district continuously for 3 years; or  
(b) Has lived in the district for at least 3 out of the last 5 years; or  
(c) Has a contract of permanent employment within the district; or  
(d) Has a close family connection* with someone who currently lives in the district 
 and has done so for 3 or more years  

* Close family connection is defined as a person who is a parent, spouse, civil 
partner, child or sibling of the applicant or someone who, in the opinion of the council 

124



 12 

has a relationship with the applicant that can be construed as a close family 
connection even though not related by blood.  

 
3.4.2 The only exceptions to these criteria are:   
  

a. Homeless applicants (whereby the local connection criteria as laid down by 
the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 would 
apply)  
 

b. The applicant was placed or relocated outside the district due to illness, need 
for temporary accommodation, military service, provision of care or other 
exceptional circumstances and needs to return to live in the district 

 
c. The applicant needs to relocate from another district to escape violence or 

harm  
 

d. The applicant needs to relocate to the district to receive support to rehabilitate 
and integrate back into the community. 

 
e. The applicant as defined by the Allocation of Housing (qualification Criteria for 

Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI2012/1869) is  
 

o a person currently serving in the regular forces or who has served in the 
regular forces at any time in the five years preceding their application  

o a bereaved spouse or civil partner of a person serving in the regular 
forces where their entitlement to accommodation with the Ministry of 
Defence has ceased and the death of that person was wholly or partly 
attributable to that person’s service  

o an existing or former member of the reserve forces who has suffered 
from a serious injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partly 
attributable to their service.  

 
f. The applicant is an existing social housing tenant (in England) who is 

employed within Breckland, or who has an offer of employment within 
Breckland and a genuine intention to take up the offer, and has a reasonable 
preference to move to the area to avoid hardship  

 
3.4.3 Exceptional circumstances  
 

In rare and exceptional circumstances, a decision to allow an applicant onto the 
register can be taken by the Housing Manager or Housing Options Team Leader. 
This may be because:  

 
a. The applicant requires an allocation of specialist housing where there are a 

limited number of eligible applicants through the normal allocations process 
and where that accommodation would otherwise remain unused.  

 
b. Where an applicant resides outside the Breckland area but has a close 

geographical, social or community engagement to a community within 
Breckland.  

 
c. Where an applicant resides outside the Breckland area but where there are 

strong social, welfare or medical grounds to move to accommodation within 
the area 

 

125



 13 

d. Where it is necessary for an applicant to geographically relocate from another 
area on grounds of personal safety.  

 
e. Where the applicant occupies supported housing in the Breckland district, and 

it has been determined by their support worker that they are ready to move 
on.  This will be subject to receiving a satisfactory move on report and a 
housing risk assessment from the accommodation provider. These two 
documents must verify the applicant’s capacity for independent living. 
 

3.5 Applicants with a history of unacceptable behaviour  
 

3.5.1 Where an applicant or a member of their household has a history of behaviour which 
in the opinion of Breckland Council is unacceptable and makes the applicant 
unsuitable to be a tenant the council may decide that the applicant does not qualify to 
be accepted onto the housing register. Unacceptable behaviour can include (but is 
not limited to) domestic or other abuse, harassment, anti-social behaviour, drug 
dealing or other criminal activity, failing to maintain or repair their home or associated 
garden or garage, noise nuisance or tenancy related debt 

 
3.5.2 When considering whether an applicant with a history of unacceptable behaviour 

qualifies to be accepted on the housing register, the council will consider the nature 
of the behaviour, when it took place, the length of time that has elapsed since and 
whether there has been any change in circumstances which would show that the 
applicant or member of the applicant’s household had amended their behaviour so 
that they are considered suitable to become a tenant  

 
3.5.3 If the council decides that an applicant does not qualify to be accepted on the 

housing register because the applicant or a member of their household has a history 
of unacceptable behaviour that makes them unsuitable to be a tenant, the applicant 
will be informed in writing of this decision and the reasons for the decision. They will 
also be informed how they can become a qualifying person, for example, by agreeing 
an arrangement to make payments towards rent arrears and adhering to this, or by 
the applicant showing that the circumstances or behaviour that made them 
unsuitable to be a tenant, has changed. 

 
3.5.4 If an applicant is accepted onto the register but a change in their behaviour means 

that they are no longer a qualifying person, their housing application will be 
cancelled, and the applicant will be notified in writing of this decision and the reasons 
for the decision  

 
3.5.5 Applicants considered as not qualifying due to unacceptable behaviour have a right 

to ask for a review of the decision (see Chapter 6). 

 
3.6      16 and 17 year olds 
 

3.6.1  Anyone aged 16 or over can apply for housing if they are eligible. However, this does 
not guarantee housing under the scheme and until the applicant reaches 18 years 
old any offer of accommodation will be subject to appropriate trustee arrangements 
being in place and show that they will be supported in the tenancy and that the level 
of support is appropriate for their needs. The trustee could be a family member, adult 
friend, or a professional body e.g. Leaving Care services.  

 
3.6.2 Applicants under 18 years old will be referred to a housing officer for advice 

regarding their housing rights and options and may be offered semi-independent 
accommodation with support. 

 

126



 14 

Chapter 4 
 
4.0 Assessment of housing need 
 
4.1 Legal background 
 
4.1.1 All eligible and qualifying applicants will be placed in a housing needs band following 

an assessment of their household’s needs. This is to ensure that Breckland Council 
meet their legal obligations as set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).  

 
4.2 Advice and information 
 
4.2.1 Breckland Council will ensure that advice and information on how to apply for 

housing in Breckland is available free of charge to everyone. If applicants are likely to 
have difficulty in making an application without assistance, then the council will make 
any necessary assistance they require available. 

 
4.3  Assessment of housing need 
 
4.3.1  Assessments of housing needs are based on an applicant’s current housing 

circumstances. Assessments will be completed by housing officers of Breckland 
Council in accordance with this allocations scheme. Medical assessments will be 
made by a medical professional or appropriately trained officer. 

 
4.4 Local allocations criteria  
 
4.4.1  Some properties are built to meet identified local needs of a particular parish or 

community and have local lettings criteria attached to them. Preference will be given 
to applicants who have a local connection meeting those criteria as stated in the 
planning agreement. This criteria will be highlighted in the property advert and 
available to read on the Housing Allocations webpages. Specific allocations will be 
made on the basis of housing needs as assessed by the Council.  

  
4.4.2 Other than developments on exception sites local lettings criteria will be determined 

having regard to the general housing needs of the Breckland District. Where a 
property has local area connection criteria attached to it through a local allocations 
plan or s.106 agreement, then these properties will be let in line with the criteria 
within the allocations plan or the s.106 agreement. This may differ from the 
connection to the local area criteria contained within this allocations policy and will be 
mentioned in the property advert.  

 
4.5 Housing needs bands 
 
4.5.1 Eligible and qualifying applicants will be placed in one of the following four bands in 

date order.  Applicants placed in the Emergency Band will have the highest assessed 
need, followed by Gold, Silver and with Bronze Band being the lowest.   

 
4.5.2 Emergency Band: Urgent priority 
 

Emergency banding is only awarded in urgent circumstances and will require 
significant evidence to support this. If an applicant in emergency banding is not 
proactively bidding a Housing Options Officer will bid on their behalf. If the applicant 
is offered a property by a Registered Provider as a result of such a bid and refuses 
the offer Breckland Council will deem it has discharged its housing duties and the 
applicant’s priority will be reduced.  

  

127



 15 

Applicants with the following circumstances will be placed into the Emergency Band: 
 

a) Urgent transfer  
 
Where an existing housing association tenant needs to move urgently because of 
circumstances that could include:  

 Major repairs are required on the property in which they live, and which 
cannot be undertaken with the tenant living in the property.  

 The property is being demolished.  

 Urgent social need to move. 
 

b) Urgent health and safety risk  
 

The condition of the applicant’s current accommodation has been assessed by 
Breckland Council as posing an urgent health and safety risk. This will apply where 
the assessment has classified the accommodation as unsafe, or where there is a risk 
of imminent harm as identified in the assessment, which cannot be remedied in a 
reasonable time and where the health and safety risk has not been caused 
intentionally by the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household who will 
continue to live with them. This will include applicants whose properties have been 
subject to a Prohibition or Demolition Order  
 

c) Applicants threatened with serious and immediate violence   
 

This will be awarded where Breckland Council has investigated and identified that the 
applicant or a member of their household is being subjected to harassment or other 
conduct causing alarm and distress that will be improved by an urgent move to 
alternative accommodation.  Harassment might be, but is not limited to, harassment 
due to, race, sex , gender reassignment, sexual orientation, mental health, physical 
disability, learning disability, religion, domestic abuse or harassment by a former 
partner or associated persons.    
 
Breckland Council will offer advice and support to assist the applicant in identifying 
possible ways to resolve the situation. 
 
d)  Urgent medical need 

 
 An urgent medical priority will be awarded where the assessment concludes that the 
applicant or household member has a severe medical condition or disability that is 
made substantially worse by their current housing. This would include people whose 
life is at risk due to their current housing conditions or who are completely 
housebound because of the type of accommodation they live in.  
 
Priority will be given depending on how unsuitable the current accommodation is in 
relation to their medical or disability needs. The assessment is not purely based on 
the applicant’s health conditions.  
 
The following are only examples of circumstances that may qualify (but not in all 
circumstances) for an urgent medical need award:  

 Those who, on leaving hospital, either have nowhere to live or have 
somewhere to live but it is unsuitable for their medical needs and cannot be 
made suitable through adaptations 

 Those who have somewhere to live but it is unsuitable for their medical needs 
and cannot be made suitable through adaptations because of cost 

128



 16 

effectiveness, structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a 
reasonable amount of time. Applicants will be individually assessed 

 Where an applicant’s condition is life threatening and the existing 
accommodation is a major contributory factor 

 Where an applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation 
that it is likely to become life threatening 

 
e) Homeless households (Main homelessness duty owed under s.193 (2) of the 

Housing Act 1996 as amended)  
 

Where Breckland Council has accepted a duty under s193 (2) of the Housing Act 
1996 (as amended) and this duty has not been ended. 

 
f) Urgent multiple needs  

 
 This priority will be applied where an applicant is  assessed as having two or more 

Gold Band needs. This may include an application where two household members 
have the same assessed need e.g. two high medical needs. 

 
g) Other exceptional cases  
 
Other exceptional and extreme cases as agreed by the Housing Manager or Housing 
Options Team Leader.  

 
4.5.3 Gold Band – High Priority  
 

a) Applicants owed a Prevention or Relief duty (under s, 189a or 189B of   the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended)) 

 
 Where an applicant is threatened with homelessness within 56 days, Breckland 
Council will work with the applicant to try and prevent their homelessness.  Those 
applicants, who the council have reason to believe would be owed the main duty in 
the event of a homelessness application and a local connection, will be placed in 
Gold Band whilst the prevention measures are being pursued and the applicants are 
actively co-operating with the prevention work being done. 

 
 Where homelessness prevention has not been possible and an applicant becomes 
homeless, they will be owed a relief duty. Those applicants, who the council have 
reason to believe would be owed the main duty in the event of a homelessness 
application and a local connection, will remain in Gold Band during this time. 

  
 This priority will no longer apply once the prevention and relief duties have ended 
and applicants will be re-assessed on their housing circumstances. 

 
b) High Medical Need 
 
A high medical priority will be awarded where the assessment concludes that the 
applicant or household member has a serious medical condition or disability that is 
made substantially worse by their current housing, but who are not housebound or 
whose life is not at risk due to their current housing. However, their housing 
conditions directly contribute to causing serious ill health and the condition of the 
property cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of time. 

 
Circumstances will be assessed and may need to be referred to a relevant health 
care professional, depending upon the circumstances. The following are only 

129



 17 

examples of cases that may qualify (but not in all circumstances) for a high medical 
need award:  
 

 The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the deterioration of 
the applicant’s health, such as severe chest condition, requiring intermittent 
hospitalisation because of chronic dampness in the accommodation  

 Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy, where their 
long-term needs cannot be met without suitable accommodation  

 A member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and re-
housing will enable that person to overcome physical barriers created by 
current accommodation e.g. steps and stairs  

 A person with a severe disability requiring substantial adaptations to a 
property which is not, and cannot be provided for in their current 
accommodation  

 A person with a terminal illness or long-term debilitating condition whose 
current accommodation is not having a significant impact on their condition 
but where their quality of life would be significantly improved by moving to 
alternative suitable accommodation  

 A person suffering with a diagnosed mental illness where the medical 
condition would be significantly improved by a move to alternative 
accommodation. 

 
c) High Health & Safety Risk 
 
The condition of the applicant’s current accommodation has been assessed by 
Breckland Council as posing a high health and safety risk to them or members of 
their household.  This will apply where the assessment has identified that the 
applicant is living in a property, the condition of which places them or members of 
their household at a high risk of harm as identified in the assessment, which cannot 
be remedied in a reasonable time and where the health and safety risk has not been 
caused intentionally by the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household who 
will continue to live with them.  
 
d) Under-occupancy by two or more bedrooms or release of adapted property  
 
Where an existing housing association tenant: 

 
a) Is assessed as having two or more bedrooms that are not required by the 

household (see s.5.4).  
b) Where a property has been adapted and the adaptations are no longer 

required.  For example, if the person requiring the adaptations has moved or 
died.  

 
e) Lacking two or more bedrooms  
 
The household (which includes existing tenants) is assessed as lacking two or more 
bedrooms than they currently have (see s.5.4).  

 
f) Applicants with a high need to move due to harassment, threat of violence 

or abuse  
 

This will be awarded where Breckland Council has investigated and identified that the 
applicant or a member of their household is being subjected to harassment or other 
conduct that will be improved by a move (but not an urgent move) to alternative 
accommodation.  Harassment might be, but is not limited to, harassment due to, 

130



 18 

race, sex , gender reassignment, sexual orientation, mental health, physical disability, 
learning disability, religion, domestic abuse or harassment by a former partner or 
associated persons.    

 
g) Young people with high needs  

 
This will include: 
a) Young people leaving local authority care where a young person has been 

referred as part of their pathway plan for leaving care and have been engaging 
with the Housing Options team  

b) Households containing a child or young person for whom another Authority has 
requested assistance under the Children’s Act 1989, section 27, and where a 
Housing Options officer considers that assistance to be appropriate. 

c) Applicants for whom another Authority has requested assistance under the Care 
Act 2014 and where a Housing Options officer considers that assistance to be 
appropriate 

 
h) Current supported housing resident 
  

 Applicants leaving Social Services care or other supported accommodation, and are 
ready to move to a permanent home of their own. This will be subject to receiving a 
satisfactory move on report and a housing risk assessment form from the 
accommodation provider. These two documents must verify the applicant’s capacity 
for independent living. 

 
 
 If the applicant needs an on-going support package to allow them to live 

independently, confirmation that this will be put in place will also be required from the 
proposed support provider.  The date that this priority is awarded (date in Gold Band) 
will be the date that the resident is ready to move to independent living, as 
recommended by their support worker. 

 
 The decision to apply this priority will be made by the Housing Options Team Leader 

or the Housing Manager. 
 

i) High Multiple needs 
 

 This priority will be applied where an applicant is assessed as having three or more 
Silver Band needs.  This may include an application where more than two household 
members have the same assessed need e.g. three medical needs. 

 
 

4.5.4 Silver Band – Medium Priority 
 

a) Other homeless households 
 
Applicants who are:  
a) Owed a s195 prevention or s189(b) relief duty but where the council believe the 

applicant would be unlikely to be owed the main s193(2) housing duty if the 
relief duty were to come to an end unsuccessfully 

b) No longer owed a prevention or relief duty 
c) Where the relief duty has come to an end unsuccessfully and the applicant has 

been determined to be intentionally homeless. 
d) Where the relief duty has ended unsuccessfully, and it has been determined that the 

applicant is not owed the main duty as they are not in priority need  

131



 19 

e) Applicants who are owed the s193C(4) duty where the s189B relief duty has been 
ended due to the applicants deliberate non-cooperation 

f) Owed a main homelessness duty by another local authority but has a local connection 
as defined in this policy. 

g) The household is homeless and in priority need but has been classed as intentionally 
homeless.  

 
Applicants assessed as ‘Other homelessness’ will not be awarded additional priority 
on any other accommodation related factors. Applicants given this priority will have 
their application reviewed on the anniversary of the decision, unless there is a 
change in their circumstances in the meantime. 
 

b) Under-occupancy by one bedroom. 
  
This priority will be applied where an existing housing association tenant is assessed 
as having one bedroom more than required by the household (see s.5.4) and are 
willing to move to a smaller property commensurate with their needs. 

 
c) Lacking one bedroom 

  
This priority will be applied where the household (including existing tenants) is 
assessed as lacking one bedroom based on the bedroom calculation in (see s.5.4). 

 
d) Medium medical need 

 
Medium medical need will be awarded where an applicant has a medical condition or 
disability that is affected significantly by their housing circumstances, not at a critical 
or serious impact level but a move would be likely to improve their quality of life.   

 
e) Need to move for social or welfare reasons 

 
This priority will be applied where Breckland Council has assessed the applicant’s 
need to move for social or welfare reasons. and they can evidence that their 
circumstances will be improved by rehousing and their need is significant but not 
over riding.  

   
 An applicant will only be awarded this factor once irrespective of the number of social 

needs that may apply to their situation. 
 

Examples where a social need to move may apply may include where an applicant: 
a) Needs to move to Breckland to give or receive support, and a proven level of 

support is required and can be given  
b) Has found employment in the Breckland Council area and needs to move 

closer to work, or will otherwise lose their employment, or suffer hardship 
c) Has staying contact with a child/children and is living in accommodation 

where the child/children are not allowed to stay overnight. 
d) Is living in a first floor or above property and has children less than 10 years 

of age as part of their household or is more than 24 weeks pregnant.   
 
f) Housing conditions 

 
This priority will be applied where the applicant/s either lack or share two or more of 
these facilities with persons, who are not members of their household.  Facilities may 
include: 

a) A living room 
b) Kitchen 

132



 20 

c) Bathroom 
 
In addition, even if not sharing facilities a-c above, priority will be awarded if the 
property is in disrepair and is detrimental to the health and wellbeing of the resident.  
Priority will not be awarded if there has been a subsequent remedial action to remove 
any identified hazards. The Council will keep the case under regular review in liaison 
with the relevant environmental health department, to identify whether remedial 
action has taken place. Where priority has been awarded in this category and 
subsequent remedial action has taken place, the application will be reassessed. 

 
Any priority awarded for unsatisfactory housing conditions cannot be awarded along 
with any other category if there are two categories that recognise the same housing 
circumstances, the banding for the higher priority will apply. 

 
If any of the property issues are found to be attributable to the applicant’s 
behaviour/lifestyle, then no additional priority can be awarded.  

 
 
g) Foster Carers 

 
Applicants who require a larger property due to being accepted as foster carers and 
this is verified by Social services in writing.  

 
 

h) Sleeping rough and/or Sofa Surfing 
 

Applicants with no identified priority need who have been verified by the council as 
having no settled accommodation and are ‘rough sleeping’ or ‘sofa surfing’. 
 
This priority will be applied where it has been confirmed that an applicant is sleeping 
rough and has no other accommodation available to them. The council will verify that 
an applicant is sleeping rough before awarding this priority. Rough sleeping priority 
will not be awarded when accommodation is available to the applicant, including a 
placement at a direct access hostel, but the applicant chooses not to take up this 
offer. Applicants assessed as ‘Sleeping rough’ will not be awarded additional priority 
on any other accommodation related factors. 

 
 
 4.5.5 Bronze Band – Low/No priority 
  

a) Applicants who do not have a reasonable preference or priority.  
 
  Any applicant who does not meet any of the criteria in Emergency, Gold or silver 

Bands will be assessed as having a low level of housing need and their application 
will be placed in to Bronze Band.   

  
Anyone assessed as having sufficient financial resources to resolve their own 
housing need (see s.4.13) will be placed in Bronze Band. These applicants will only 
be considered for an offer of a property once all other bidding applicants who do not 
have enough financial resources to resolve their own housing need have been 
considered. 
 
 
 
 

  

133



 21 

 b) Low priority  
 

      In certain circumstances, applicants may be accepted onto the housing register, but 
their application will be considered as low priority as a result of unacceptable 
behaviour or circumstances that affects their suitability to be a tenant. In these 
circumstances their application will be placed in a Bronze Band and they will not be 
actively considered for an offer of a tenancy or be able to express interest in 
available properties. Their application will remain in this band until the applicant has 
shown that the circumstances or behaviour has changed so that they are considered 
suitable to be a tenant.    

 
      Applicants being awarded low priority in these circumstances have a right to ask for a 

review of the decision (see Chapter 6).  
  

4.6 Intentionally worsening housing circumstances 
 

If an applicant is assessed as having intentionally worsened their circumstances, the 
effect of which would be to improve their housing priority irrespective of whether they 
had prior knowledge of the allocations policy, their level of housing need will be 
assessed on the basis of their previous accommodation, or previous circumstances 
at their current accommodation.  

 
Applicants found to have intentionally worsened their circumstances have a right to 
ask for a review of the decision (see Chapter 6). 

 
4.7 Homeowners 
 
4.7.1 In line with the ‘Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities 

in England’, Breckland Council will usually only allocate social housing to 
homeowners in exceptional circumstances. However, the council may allocate 
housing that is in low demand. Applicants who are homeowners will be allocated a 
Bronze Band status.  

 
In exceptional circumstances Breckland Council may consider a homeowner’s status 
for example the council may allocate housing to applicants who require support and 
whose age qualifies them for housing for older people but who have insufficient 
financial resources to access housing for older people in the private sector.  

 
4.8 Financial resources 
 
4.8.1 All qualifying applicants are entitled to apply for housing regardless of income levels.  

However, if an applicant is assessed as having income and/or capital, which will 
enable them to resolve their own housing need through other tenures they will not 
receive any preference for social housing and when bidding will appear on the 
shortlist after all other applicants that do not have the resources to resolve their own 
need.  

 
This assessment will be based on the following 

a) The total income of the applicant/partner  
b) Any capital available to the applicant/partner 
c) Average property prices and rents in the area for the type of accommodation 

needed by the household 
d) The ability of the applicant/partner to rent a property in the private sector 

based on a realistic assessment of their financial position and commitments. 

134



 22 

e) The ability of the applicant/partner to acquire a mortgage and maintain 
required repayments based on a realistic assessment of their financial position 
and commitments. 

 

4.8.2 Excluded from the above financial assessment will be any member of the Armed 
Forces who may have received a lump sum as compensation for an injury or 
disability sustained on active service. 

 
4.9 Officer review for Emergency Band applicants 
 
4.9.1 Where an applicant has held Emergency Band status for three months or more from 

their applicable date in band or the applicant has refused one reasonable suitable 
offer of accommodation for the applicant and their household or has made no attempt 
to bid for accommodation Breckland Council may carry out a review of their 
circumstances. This will result in either: 

 
a) A direct let – usually for statutorily homeless applicants living in temporary 

accommodation. 
b) Priority being maintained. 
c) Moving into a lower priority band if the circumstances under which they were 

placed in Emergency Band no longer apply. 
d) Making the applicant unable to bid for a specified period, not exceeding 6 

months 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



 23 

Chapter 5 
 
5.0 Assessment information and criteria 
 
5.1 Transfer applicants 
 
5.1.1 Transfer applicants are those applicants who are tenants of a council or housing 

association property in the UK who wish to move to alternative accommodation. 
 
5.2 Homeless applications  
 
5.2.1 Applicants who are already on the housing register will remain in their existing 

housing needs band whilst a homeless assessment is carried out (unless the 
criterion in s.5.2.3 below applies). 

 
5.2.2   When a decision has been made by Breckland Council that an applicant is owed a 

main homelessness duty under s.193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) their 
application will be placed and remain in Emergency Band until that duty is brought to 
an end (See s.4.6 (g)) 

 
5.2.3    A person who is threatened with homelessness may have an existing housing 

register application.  Applicants already in Emergency Band will retain their existing 
Emergency Band status whilst homelessness prevention measures are pursued. 

 

5.2.4 An applicant who is statutorily homeless or threatened with homelessness but 
deemed not to have a priority need will be placed in Silver Band (unless other 
circumstances are such that they are eligible for placement within a different band). 

 
5.2.5 Applicants who have been assessed as being in priority need but are intentionally 

homeless will be assessed as having Silver Band status in line with 4.8(d). If an 
applicant has intentionally worsened their circumstances the housing needs 
assessment will take this into account (see s.4.11). 

 
5.3 Split families  
 
5.3.1    Where an application is made by family members who it would be reasonable to 

expect them to live together but they are unable to do so, the council will assess their 
particular circumstances to consider the best way of addressing their housing needs. 
This may, but will not always, take into account the circumstances of whichever home 
is more appropriate, assuming that it was available for the whole family to live in. 

 
5.4 Bedroom requirement guidelines  
 
5.4.1 Bedroom requirements are generally determined in line with the Local Housing 

Allowance (LHA) regulations and these regulations will be applied when calculating 
bedroom requirements in overcrowding and under-occupancy assessments.  They 
will also be used when calculating the size of property (number of bedrooms in the 
property) that an applicant will be able to bid on and eligible to be offered through the 
letting process.    

  
Bedroom requirements are determined by the applicant’s size of household. Ineligible 
household members may not be included (see paragraph 3.2.3). Generally, the LHA 
regulations allow one bedroom each for: 
 

a) Every adult couple 
b) Any other adult aged 16 or over 

136



 24 

c) Any two children (aged under 16) of the same sex 
d) Any two children, regardless of sex, under the age of 10 
e) Any other child aged under 16 
f) A non-resident carer (claimant/partner or child have disability and need 

overnight care) 
 
Applicants requiring help in calculating their bedroom entitlement can use the 
Directgov online bedroom entitlement calculator at  
https://lha-direct.voa.gov.uk/BedRoomCalculator.aspx. 
 
If, in exceptional circumstances, the council considers that a room designated by a 
landlord as a bedroom is not capable of being used as a bedroom, they may re-
assess overcrowding for the household. 

 
5.4.2 Single and joint applicants of pensionable age may be eligible to be considered for 

one- and two-bedroom properties considered to be housing for older people. 
 
5.4.3 A pregnant woman expecting her first child will be assessed as requiring two 

bedrooms from week 26 of her pregnancy. 
 
5.4.4 A Housing Options officer may take into account any medical and/or disability needs 

when assessing whether, or not, a household has sufficient numbers of bedrooms for 
their circumstances. Statutory and legislative provisions relating to overcrowding will 
also be taken into account.  

  
5.4.5 In order to ensure efficient use of available housing stock or to protect vulnerable 

applicants’ allocations may be made outside of these criteria as circumstances 
dictate.  

 
5.5 Staying contact with children 
 
5.5.1 A child, or children, living between parents at separate addresses will only be 

considered as having one main home unless there are exceptional circumstances 
that mean that both parents should provide a home.  A Court Order allowing access 
to children, or confirming residence between separated parents does not mean that 
the council must consider that the child is part of an applicant’s household for the 
purposes of a housing register application.   

 
5.5.2 When assessing the accommodation needs of a person with shared access to 

children this will only be taken account of if children live with the applicant for a 
period of more than 60% of a calendar month. Applicants will have to provide proof of 
this which, as a guide, will be who receives Child Benefit. In the case of 50 / 50 
shared custody the Housing Options Officer will consider the evidence provided 
when assessing entitlement to accommodation through the housing register.  

 
5.6    Medical, disability and welfare needs assessments  
 
5.6.1 Medical and disability assessments will be carried out for any applicants who believe 

that their medical condition or disability is affected by their current accommodation.  
The applicant will be required to provide information from a medical professional, 
detailing the effect that their current accommodation has on their medical condition or 
disability.  This information will be assessed and where appropriate referred to a 
medical professional or appropriately trained officer for their opinion of how the 
medical condition is affected by the applicant’s housing circumstances. The need for 
carers to stay overnight will also be taken into account when determining bedroom 
need 

137

https://lha-direct.voa.gov.uk/BedRoomCalculator.aspx


 25 

 
5.6.2 Each welfare case is considered on its own merits and the nature of the 

condition/situation and seriousness of its impact on the applicant will determine the 
priority awarded to the application. Account will be taken of information and 
assessments made by other professionals in support of the application.  

 
5.7 Property condition – unfitness 

 
5.7.1 To be awarded priority as a result of the condition of the property an assessment will 

need to be carried out in line with the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and 
any other statutory or legislative provisions as may be relevant.  

  
5.7.2 Where statutory provision exists to remedy poor physical housing conditions this will 

be enforced so the physical state of any current accommodation may not affect any 
individual applicant’s banding. 

 
5.8 Harassment and domestic violence 
 
5.8.1 Where the applicant is a victim of harassment, domestic violence or anti-social 

behaviour, Breckland Council will offer advice and support to assist applicants in 
identifying possible ways of resolving their situation.  

 
5.9 Applicant subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements, (MAPPA) 
  
5.9.1 Where an applicant is subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

(MAPPA), Breckland Council will liaise with the panel to ensure an appropriate 
housing solution to meet the needs of the applicant and the community. 

 
5.10 Direct Lets  
 
5.10.1 Most properties will be advertised through the Housing Allocations scheme. However 

in certain circumstances some properties may be let directly to applicants and these 
properties will be let outside of the allocation scheme.  Where an applicant is 
identified as requiring a direct let the case will be referred to a senior officer for 
approval. The list below gives some examples of where this may happen. 

 
a) Where the council has accepted a main homelessness duty towards a household 

but the household has not found suitable accommodation during a period of 
choice through the Housing Allocations scheme. 

b) Where an applicant and their household require a specific size, type or adapted 
property and the applicant has not been able to find suitable accommodation 
through the Housing Allocations scheme. 

c) Where an existing social housing tenant is required to move to make the best 
use of stock, including where their home is to be demolished, and they have not 
been successful in finding a suitable property through the Housing Allocations 
scheme. 

d) Where an applicant in Emergency Band has refused a reasonable offer or made 
little or no effort to bid. 

e) Where a property is needed urgently to deal with an emergency or to provide 
temporary accommodation for a homeless family 

f) Where an allocation is required to ensure protection of the public, for example, 
following a decision made by a Multi-Agency Public Protection Panel meeting or 
to fulfil agreements made with offender management services, or where a 
customer has been referred as part of the witness protection scheme  

 

138



 26 

5.10.2 Direct lets will be made based on a suitable property becoming available.   Where a 
property becomes available that is suitable for more than one applicant with a direct 
let status, the date applicants were awarded a direct let status will be used as a 
deciding factor in deciding to whom the property will be let. 

 
5.11 Direct lets to homeless applicants 
 
5.11.1 Where homeless applicants in Emergency Band who are owed a main homelessness 

duty by Breckland Council (under s.193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended)) 
have not been offered a tenancy through the bidding process at the point at which 
the Council has accepted the main homelessness duty, the council reserves the right 
to make a direct let of a property, either in the social or private rented sector, under 
the council’s policy on discharging homelessness duties.   

 
5.11.2 The main homelessness duty will come to an end, and a homeless applicant loses 

their priority under this section, when any of the circumstances within s.193(6) or (7) 
of the Housing Act 1996 Act (as amended) are met.  This will include an applicant: 

a) Accepting an offer of accommodation made through the Housing Allocations 
scheme 

b) Accepting an offer made through the direct let process within the policy (see 
s.5.10 above), or  

c) Accepting a suitable offer of accommodation in the private rented sector in line 
with section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) and the Homelessness 
(Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 2012 

d) Having been informed of the possible consequences of refusal and the right to 
request a review of the suitability of the accommodation, refuses a reasonable 
offer of suitable accommodation made through the direct let process. 

 
S. 193(6) of the Housing Act 1996 Act (as amended) gives the full circumstances 
under which the main homelessness duty comes to an end.  

 
5.11.3 Where a homeless applicant is to be allocated a property through the direct let 

process Breckland Council has responsibility for determining the suitability of any 
allocation.  They will do this by assessing the household’s particular needs and 
circumstances within the context of the general housing conditions in the area.   

 
5.11.4 Where a homeless applicant is offered accommodation through a direct let, but does 

not feel that this offer is suitable; they have the right to request a review of the 
decision that the offer is suitable.  For details of the review process (see Chapter 6). 

 
5.11.5 As the property does not have to remain available during the review of the suitability 

and reasonableness of a direct let, homeless applicants are advised to accept and 
move in to the accommodation pending the decision on review.   If the review 
outcome is unsuccessful for the applicant they will still have accommodation to live in 
whilst they consider their further options. 

 
5.11.6 If a homeless applicant refuses a direct let and it is then deemed suitable at review, 

the main homelessness duty will come to an end.  They will also have to vacate any 
temporary accommodation that is being provided.   

 
5.11.7 If, on reviewing an applicant’s refusal of a direct let, the property offered is considered 

to be unreasonable or unsuitable, the duty under s.193 (2) will continue and the 
applicant will be made a further offer of suitable accommodation. 

 
 
 

139



 27 

5.12 Applicants who require a specific size, type or adapted property. 
 
5.12.1 Where an applicant requires a specific size, type or adapted property, they will be 

placed in the appropriate housing needs band, but may be offered a direct let if 
Breckland Council have a shortage of suitable properties.  For example: 

 
a) An applicant requires a very large property to accommodate their household. 
b) An applicant requires a property of a specific type in a specific area of the 

district. 
c) An applicant requires a property with specific adaptations and such a property 

becomes available. 
d) Where an applicant is willing to move to release a property larger than 

required to meet their housing needs. 
 
5.13 Housing for older people (also known as sheltered housing) 

 
5.13.1 Housing for older people will be advertised through the Housing Allocations scheme. 

Sheltered properties have an age criteria set by the landlord who owns the scheme. 
Some properties are specifically developed for persons aged over 55 or 60 and will 
be prioritised to applicants over this age. In exceptional circumstances a younger 
person with particular support needs which are not able to be met elsewhere may be 
allocated such accommodation. This will be achieved via a direct let.  

 
5.14 Extra care properties  
 
5.14.1 Extra care properties are for older people who need the additional support services 

that are provided.  Extra care properties are not advertised through the Housing 
Allocations Scheme. A separate application form is available on the Breckland 
Housing website for these properties.  

 
5.15 Refusals of direct lets 
 
5.15.1 Where an applicant (other than a person owed the main homelessness duty) refuses 

a reasonable offer of a direct let a senior officer will review the reasons for the refusal 
and the applicant may lose any housing priority they held, dependent on the reasons 
for the offer refusal. Applicants have the right to ask for a review of this decision (see 
Chapter 6). 

 
5.16 Local Lettings plans 
 
5.16.1 Some properties are built to meet identified local needs of a particular parish or 

community and have local lettings criteria attached to them. Preference will be given 
to applicants who have a local connection meeting those criteria as stated in the  
planning agreement. These agreements will be highlighted in the property advert and 
available to read on the Housing Allocations website. Specific allocations will be 
made based on housing needs as assessed by the Council. Other than 
developments on exception sites, local lettings criteria will be determined in 
consultation with the Portfolio Member for Housing and the Housing Manager having 
regard to the general housing needs of the Breckland District. 
 

5.17 Sensitive Lets 
 
5.17.1 On occasion landlords may request some properties to be advertised as sensitive 

lets. This may be because of anti-social behaviour problems in the area and the need 
to ensure the right mix of tenants in an area. Sensitive lets will be agreed between 
the landlord and the Housing Options Team Leader or Housing Manager. This may 

140



 28 

result in applicants on the top of the short list being bypassed for a more appropriate 
applicant.  

 
5.18 Decisions outside the scope of the Allocations Policy 
 
5.18.1 The following decisions are made outside of Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996, and are 

outside the scope of the Allocations Policy:  
  

a) Succession on a tenant’s death; or  
b) Assignment by way of a mutual exchange; or  
c) Assignment to a person who would be qualified to succeed to the tenancy on the 

tenant’s death; or  
d) Transfer of the tenancy by a court under family law provisions; or 
e) An order made under the Civil Partnership Act 2004, or  
f) Transfers initiated by the Local Housing Authority 
g) Acceptance of a surrender and regranting of tenancy to another partner  

 
5.18.2 The provisions of part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 do not apply to an allocation of 

housing accommodation to a person who is already a social housing tenant unless 
the allocation involves a transfer of housing accommodation for that person and is 
made on his application and where there are strong welfare grounds for the applicant 
being close to those persons or where it is necessary for an applicant to 
geographically relocate from another area on grounds of personal safety. Decisions 
in exceptional circumstances will be taken by the Housing Options Team leader in 
consultation with the Housing Manager or other member of the Corporate 
Management Team.  

141



 29 

Chapter 6 
 
6.1 Reviews of decisions 
 
6.1.1 Breckland Council will carry out reviews of assessment decisions as required. 
 
6.1.2 Examples of circumstances that may be reviewed include: 
 

a) Multiple need in band  
b) Emergency housing status 
c) Moving people up a band or down a band  
d) Priority assessments, in complex cases.  
e) Housing people in different accommodation to designated need size  
f) Low priority decisions  
g) Direct lets 
h) Being restricted from bidding  

 
The above list is not exhaustive.   

 
6.2 Statutory reviews  
 
6.2.1 An applicant has the right to request a review of certain decisions made under part 6 

of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).  These are: 
 

a) Decisions about the facts of the applicant’s case which are likely to be, or 
have been, taken into account in considering whether to accept onto the 
housing register or to allocate housing accommodation to the applicant 

b) Lack of any reasonable preference based on previous behaviour s167(2C) 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

c) Ineligibility for an allocation based on immigration status s160ZA (9) 
d) Decisions that an applicant does not qualify for entry on to the housing 

register (see sections 3.3 to 3.5)   
 

6.2.2 Decision letters issued in respect of housing applications will advise the applicant of 
their right to request a review and provide appropriate guidance on how to do this. An 
applicant can obtain further details of the review procedure from Breckland Council.   

 
6.2.3 A request for a review of a decision can be made in writing or verbally to a member 

of staff at Breckland Council. The request should be made within 21 days following 
the notification of the decision. The request should include information that the 
applicant believes has not been taken into account that further supports the original 
application or is new information. Reviews will normally be considered within 56 days 
of the request being received but may be completed sooner. The applicant will 
receive a written response outlining the result of the review.  

  
6.2.4 An applicant may only have a decision reviewed once. If an applicant is still unhappy 

following the review of a decision, they can make a complaint through the Council’s 
complaints procedure, contact the Housing Ombudsman Service or seek further 
advice from, for example, the Citizens Advice Bureau.  

  
6.2.5 Reviews will be undertaken by a senior officer who was not involved in the original 

decision and who is senior to the decision-making officer. In the case of a transferring 
tenant, the current Landlord will be invited to be involved in the decision making. A 
response to a review request will be made within 28 days. 

 
 

142



 30 

6.3 Homeless reviews 
 
6.3.1 Homeless applicants have the right to request a review of certain decisions made by 

Breckland Council in respect of their homeless application.  Within the context of the 
council’s allocations policy this includes the decision to bring to an end the main 
homelessness duty by making a suitable offer of permanent accommodation through 
the housing register through the direct let process or in the private rented sector (see 
s.5.11). 

 
6.3.2   If an applicant wishes to ask for the review of the Council’s decision following a 

homeless application, they must request this within 21 days of the date of the 
decision letter. 

 
6.3.3  If an applicant wishes to request a review of the reasonableness of an offer or the 

suitability of the property, this must be made within 21 days of notification of a 
decision to make the offer.  Late review requests can be considered under 
exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the council.   

 
6.3.4 Applicants who request reviews of decisions about suitability of accommodation will 

be advised to accept and move into accommodation pending the outcome of their 
review request.  If the review goes in their favour alternative accommodation will be 
provided as quickly as possible. However, if the reasonableness and suitability of the 
offer is upheld the applicant will still have accommodation to live in whilst they 
consider their further options. 

 
6.3.5 The applicant has the right of appeal to the county court if they are dissatisfied with 

the decision on a review. 
 
6.4 The Local Government Ombudsman 
 
6.4.1 The Local Government Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice arising from 

maladministration by local authorities and other bodies.  They can be asked to 
investigate complaints about most council matters including housing.  

 
6.4.2 If an applicant is not satisfied with the action the council has taken, and has 

exhausted the council’s own complaints procedure, they can send a written complaint 
to the ombudsman.  

 
6.4.3 The Local Government Ombudsman can be contacted at: 

Local Government Ombudsman 
The Oaks No 2 
Westwood Way 
Westwood Business Park 
Coventry CV4 8JB 
Tel: 024 7682 0000         
Website: www.lgo.org.uk 

 
If an applicant wishes to make a complaint against a housing association, they 
should contact: 
The Housing Ombudsman Service 
Norman House 
105 -109 Strand      
London 
WC2R 0AA  
Tel: 08457 125 973         
Website: www.ihos.org.uk   

143

http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://www.ihos.org.uk/


 31 

Chapter 7 
 
7.1 Letting of accommodation 
 
7.1.1 Properties will be advertised through the Housing Allocations scheme.  The 

advertising will be carried out on a regular basis and for specific periods of time, 
known as advertising cycles.  

 
7.1.2 A minimum of 80% of social housing within Breckland is let via Breckland Housing 

Allocations, landlords retain the right to allocate 20% of their vacant properties 
outside of Housing Allocations. This is subject to any specific nomination agreements 
which may set a higher or lower figure for particular developments.  

 
7.1.3 The Council reserves the right to expand, change or alter any element of Breckland 

Housing Allocations as and when required to meet changes in housing need, 
capacity, operational exigencies, resources and legislation. 

  
7.2 Labelling property adverts  
 
7.2.1 All adverts will include a description of the property and any other relevant 

information, for example rent charge, property size, length and type of tenancy, local 
facilities, disabled adaptations or if the property is housing for older people. The 
property will be labelled to show who is able to express an interest in it (known as 
bidding), for example, where a local connection is required, or if there is an age 
restriction on the property. 

 
7.2.2    Applicants should check the information contained in the property advert labelling to 

see if they qualify to be considered for the property.   
 
7.3 Bedroom requirements  
 
7.3.1 Bedroom requirements will generally be determined in line with the Local Housing 

Allowance (LHA) regulations (see s.5.4).   
 
7.3.2 Landlords may choose to allow the under-occupation of certain properties including 

those that they advertise.  The property advert will explain this on those properties 
the landlord is willing to under-occupy.  Where a landlord is willing to allow under-
occupation, this will generally be by allowing an applicant to be considered for one 
bedroom more than their assessed Local Housing Allowance (LHA) entitlement (for 
example allowing applicants with an assessed two bedroom LHA need to be 
considered for a 3-bedroom property).  All households bidding for these properties 
and meeting the labelling criteria will be considered in line with the shortlisting criteria 
contained in 7.4.1 below. 

 
7.3.3 Where a landlord is willing to allow under-occupation an affordability assessment will 

be completed to ensure that the applicant being considered for the property is able to 
meet rent payments. If the applicant is assessed as being unable to afford the rent 
payments the landlord may bypass them on the shortlist.      

 
7.4 Shortlisting 
 
7.4.1 After the end of an advertising cycle a shortlist of applicants bidding for the property 

and meeting the labelling criteria will be produced. Applicants will be ranked in order 
of their priority band with Emergency Band above Gold Band, Gold Band above 
Silver Band and Silver Band above Bronze Band. Where more than one applicant in 

144



 32 

the same priority band appears on the shortlist they will be ranked in date order as 
determined by their date in band (see 2.3).   

 
7.4.2 In circumstances where there is more than one applicant in the same band with the 

same date in band, the applicant with the earliest registration date will appear higher 
on the shortlist.  If there is more than one applicant with the same band, date in band 
and registration date an officer will make an allocation decision based on the best 
use of the housing stock and needs of the applicants. 

 

7.4.3  Preference during shortlisting will be given to applicants within a band who have a 

proven connection to the local area. 
 
7.4.4 When a shortlist of applicants is completed the landlord of the available property may 

offer an accompanied viewing of the property to a group of the highest priority 
applicants. This is to ensure that if the applicant who tops the shortlist decides not to 
take the tenancy, the property can be quickly offered to the next person on the 
shortlist. 

 
7.4.5 After viewing the property the applicant at the top of the shortlist will be given 24 

hours to accept or refuse the offer.  If an applicant is offered a tenancy (verbally or in 
writing) and does not reply to accept that offer within the deadline given, the landlord 
will take this as a refusal of the offer.   If the offer is refused the next person on the 
shortlist will be offered the property. The landlord will work down the shortlist in order.  

 
7.4.6 In exceptional circumstances an officer may make a decision to bypass an applicant 

on a shortlist, for example, if, in doing so, the offer could put a vulnerable person at 
risk of any harm.  Any such decisions will be explained fully to the applicant in writing 
by the landlord making the decision. This is known as a ‘sensitive let’. 

. 
7.5 Formal offer of the property 
 
7.5.1 Once the applicant has confirmed their acceptance of the tenancy the landlord of the 

property will write to confirm the formal offer of the tenancy.  The Housing Allocations 
system will then not allow that applicant to be considered for any further properties 
and once the tenancy starts their housing register application will be cancelled.  

 
7.5.2 Applicants who have been successfully rehoused through Breckland Housing 

Allocations. Tenants will not be eligible to apply again within 12 months of their 
tenancy start date unless their circumstances have considerably changed leading to 
a housing needs assessment banding of Emergency, Gold or Silver 

 
7.5.3 Once the property is ready to let the landlord of the property will complete the 

tenancy sign up.  
 
7.6 Withdrawal of offers  
 
7.6.1 In exceptional circumstances an offer of a property may be withdrawn, for example: 
 

a) Where there has been a change in the applicants’ circumstances 
b) Where the successful applicant has rent arrears or other housing related 

debts that had previously not come to light  
c) Following verification the applicant is not eligible for the property 
d) Where an error has been made in the advertising criteria 
e) Where an offer of accommodation could put a vulnerable person at risk of 

any harm  
f)  Where the property is no longer available to let 

145



 33 

 
7.7 Refusing an offer of accommodation 
 
7.7.1 Usually, if an applicant refuses an offer of accommodation made through Housing 

Allocations, they will remain in their housing needs band.  If an applicant 
unreasonably refuses three or more offers of a property made through Housing 
Allocations or has made little or no attempt to bid for accommodation, an officer may 
contact the applicant to offer support and assistance and verify their circumstances.  
The applicant may be moved into a lower priority band or be unable to bid for a 
specified period not exceeding 6 months 

 
7.8 Allocations to staff, council members or their family members 
 
7.8.1 Members of staff and elected Members, including their close families, seeking 

housing within Breckland may apply for housing in the same way as other applicants. 
Their status should however be disclosed at the earliest opportunity in their 
application at the time of applying.  Before such an applicant is given a priority 
banding or an allocation of property, approval will be sought from the Housing 
Manager at Breckland Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

146



 34 

Chapter 8 
 
8.0 Confidentiality and access to information 
 
8.1 Applicants’ rights to information 
 
8.1.1 Applicants have the right to request such general information as will enable them to 

assess: 
 

a. How their application is likely to be treated under the allocations policy 
(including whether they are likely to be regarded as a member of a group of 
people who are to be given preference by this policy, (see Chapter 3) 
 

b. Whether housing accommodation appropriate to their needs is likely to be 
made available to them. 

 
 

8.1.2 Applicants have the right to request information held about their application which is 
likely to be, or has been, taken into account when considering whether to allocate 
them housing. 

 
8.2 Data protection 
 
8.2.1 When an applicant applies to the Housing Allocations scheme the Council will only 

ask for information that they need to assess their eligibility and housing needs. The 
Council will only collect and keep data in accordance with the council’s guidelines on 
handling personal, sensitive personal or special categories of personal data. 

 
8.2.2 These guidelines are in accordance with the national regulations which cover both 

electronic and manual records and the govern everything we do with the data, 
including collecting, storing, using and disposing of it. 

 
8.2.3 Personal, sensitive personal or special categories of personal data held about 

applicants will not be disclosed to third parties apart from:  
 

a) Where the individual who is the subject of the confidential information has 
consented to the disclosure 

b) Where disclosure is made in accordance with an information sharing protocol 
that complies with the ICO’s current data sharing code of practice 

c) Where the council or a partner organisation is required by law to make such 
disclosures 

  
8.3 Requesting information 
 
8.3.1   Applicants are able to request copies of the information held regarding their 

application. Please note that we cannot provide you with personal information about 
other people if doing so will breach the regulations. 

 
 
 
Adopted April 2020 
 

 

 

 

147



 35 

Appendix 1 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS  
 

Adapted properties – a property that has been adapted for an applicant with disabilities. 

Advertising cycle – how often properties are advertised and available to make a bid on. 

Advertised - properties that are advertised and are available for applicants to bid for through 

Housing Allocations. 

Age restrictions - where a property is labelled, as only being available to applicants of a 

certain age. 

Application number - a unique housing register number generated by the computer 

system. 

Bedroom eligibility - how many bedrooms a household is assessed as needing. 

Bid – the process used by applicants in registering an interest in an available property. 

Choice based allocations (CBL) - a method of allocating social and affordable homes 

which have become available for letting by openly advertising them, and allowing applicants 

to bid for these. 

Customer/applicant - is either a tenant of a partner organisation or a housing applicant on 

the Housing Register. 

Date of registration - the date an application form is registered with the Council. 

Date in band - the date an application is placed in a housing needs band and used as the 

applicable date when shortlisting. 

Direct let - a property that is offered directly to an applicant, without them having to bid. 

Domestic violence/abuse - is threatening behaviour, violence or abuse (physical, 

psychological, sexual, financial or emotional) by a partner, former partner or a family 

member. 

Housing options - looking at the number of ways in which an applicant or customer might 

be assisted and supported to find a solution to their housing needs. Housing options may 

include private rented accommodation, mutual exchange, or even a help to buy product. 

Housing register - a list of those requesting, eligible and qualifying for housing. 

Housing related debts - are defined as recoverable current rent arrears, former tenant 

arrears, outstanding re-chargeable repairs, current and former housing related service 

charge arrears and court costs. They do not include Council Tax debts or Housing Benefit 

overpayments. 

Joint application - where more than one applicant applies to join the housing register on 

one application form. 

Labelling properties - describing who is eligible to bid for a property and if there will be a 

preference applied. 

Local Connection - The connection an applicant has to the area. 

148



 36 

Local elected members - a group of elected members also known as councillors. 

LSVT landlord - Large Scale Voluntary Transfer, where a local authority has sold its 

housing stock to a Registered Provider 

Mutual exchange - a scheme which allows two social housing tenants to swap their homes. 

Registered Providers - also known as housing associations. These are social landlords 

who also provide social and affordable rented homes for which applicants/customers can bid 

for through the Housing Allocations scheme. 

Regular Forces - Means the Royal Navy, the Royal Marines, Her Majesty’s regular army or 

the Royal Air Force 

Reserve Forces - Means the Royal Fleet Reserve, the Royal Naval Reserve, the Royal 

Marines Reserve, the Army Reserve, the Regular Reserves, the Royal Air Force Reserve or 

the Royal Auxiliary Air Force 

Transferring tenant - an applicant who is currently a tenant of a local authority or registered 

provider and who wishes to move. 

149



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Sarah Suggitt - Executive Member for  Governance

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 6 February 2020
Cabinet – 16 March 2020

Author: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation, Change and Performance 
Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 3 2019/20 

Purpose: To provide members of the commission with an overview of the 
Council’s performance for the period 1st October 2019 – 31st 
December 2019. 

1. BACKGROUND

The Quarter 3 2019-20 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 
Members, businesses and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing 
against a number of key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of 
frontline services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the 
overarching aims an objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.   

In addition the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance 
and also where performance is challenging. Where this is the case the report will 
summarise what officers are doing to address this.  

1.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Recommendation

1)  Members of the commission are asked to note the report.

150

Agenda Item 10



1.3 Performance is reported using the RAG system with green demonstrating where an 
indicator is on or above target, amber where the indicator is below target but showing 
an upward trend and red where an indicator is below target. 

Indicator Quarter 3 19/20 Quarter 2 19/20
4 (28.56%) 3 (21.43%)
 2 (14.28%)  4 (28.57%)
8 (57.14%) 7 (50%)

2.0 AREAS OF SUCCESS

2.1 There has been a significant improvement in the measure which reports the number of 
missed waste collections within the district. Q3 saw just 1 missed collection for every 
100,000 successful collections. In addition, of the 24 missed collections reported within 
this period, the average time to respond to the report was less than 1 day. Further 
successes within the Environmental Services Team includes an increase in the 
percentage of household waste which is recycled or composted. Within this period, 
Breckland recycled or composted 40% of all household wasted collected against a 
national average of 29%. 

It is encouraging to note that there has been a further reduction in the number of 
reported flytips within the District. There were a total of 208 reports within this period, 
a reduction of 45 (27%) when compared with the same period 12 months ago.  

The Council’s planning service continues to perform strongly. Within this period, 93% 
of all major planning determinations were made within 13 weeks and 96.35% of all 
minor determinations were made within 8 weeks against targets of 70% and 80% 
respectively.   

3.0 AREAS REQUIRING IMPROVEMENT 

3.1     Performance within the Customer Contact Centre remains challenging with 81.5% of 
all calls being answered for this period with an average wait time of 236 seconds. As 
was reported within Q2 a process of understanding these challenges has commenced 
with findings of the deep dive analysis including recommendations for improvement to 
be presented at the end of March. This analysis will examine avoidable contact within 
the Contact Centre and those interactions which may lend themselves to a digital 
alternative therefore increasing the capacity within the team. This process has been 
overseen and undertaken in consultation with the Deputy Leader and the Executive 
Members for Customer Engagement and Governance. 

There is a reduction in the net income generated from EHC, the Council’s 
Environmental Health Consultation trading arm. This reduction can be attributed to 
increased marketing costs in addition to costs associated to the re-brand within Q2. It 
is anticipated that a number of new leads resulting from the recent marketing campaign 
will be converted in to Q4 and that the net income position be recovered before year 
end. 

151



4.0 Additional Points

4.1 None

5.0 Options

5.1 Note the content of the report

5.2 Do nothing

6.0 Expected Benefits

6.1 The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will use the content of this report 
to identify areas of improvement. 

7.0 Implications 

7.1      Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.2   Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of             
the author that there are no implications. 

7.3      Constitutional and Legal

7.4   Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 
author that there are no implications. 

7.5      Contracts

7.6 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that 
there are no implications. 

7.7      Wards/Communities affected

7.8 No wards or communities are affected. 

7.9    Acronyms

7.10 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 07870835233
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

152

file://bcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.uk/corporate_improvement_performance/Performance/Reports/BDC%20OSC%20Cabinet/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross bangs – Corporate Innovation & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 3 Performance Report

153



Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance TeamQ3 Performance Report

Performance Overview
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

B Y  S T A T U S

Red (28.57%)

Amber (14.29%)

Green (57.14%)

Performing/
Over-

Performing

Below Target
but showing

upward trend
Requiring

Improvement

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
OV E R V I E W

Missed waste collections- Page 3
% of complaints responded to in
time- Page 6
Staff turnover- Page 10
Working days lost to sickness per
FTE- Page 10
% of food businesses rated 3 or
above- Page 12
Commercial property gross rental
income- Page 13
% of major planning applications
determined within time- Page 15
% of minor planning applications
determined within time- Page 15

% of calls answered  - Page 1
Average call wait times - Page 1
Empty properties brought back
into use - Page7
EHT&C net income- Page 12

P E R F O R M A N C E  B R E A K D O W N  I N D E X

% of FOIs responded to within
time frame specified - Page 6
Commercial Property
Occupancy - Page 13

154



Customer Engagement
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance TeamQ3 Performance Report

% OF CALLS
ANSWERED

81.5%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

25-30%

% OF CALLS ABANDONED

13.7 11.4 15.9 19.8 18.5

86.3 88.6 84.1 80.2 81.5

% OF CALLS ABANDONED

% OF CALLS ANSWERED

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

50

100

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of calls that are
answered from the total number of
calls taken. A higher % indicates
more calls answered.

FORECASTED
% OF CALLS
ABANDONED

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF CALLS
ANSWERED

86%

NUMBER OF
CALLS
RECEIVED

26,555

AVERAGE WAIT
TIME (IN
SECONDS)

236
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
1 5 0

Q3

230-270
Seconds

AVERAGE WAIT TIME (IN SECONDS)

221

144

179

237 236

AVERAGE WAIT TIME IN SECONDS

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

100

200

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the average waiting time
for phonecalls. A lower number
indicates less time for the call to be
answered.

FORECASTED AVERAGE
WAIT TIME IN
SECONDS

221
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
1 5 0

TARGET
AVERAGE WAIT
TIME

150
SECONDS

01
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  t o   o u r

r e s i d e n t s  w h o  c o n t a c t  u s  e i t h e r  t h r o u g h  o u r  t r a d i t i o n a l  o r  d i g i t a l

p l a t f o r m s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

% of calls answered
Average wait time 
Number of retweets
Social media engagement
Number of website visitors

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -AVERAGE
WAIT TIME (IN
SECONDS)

Page 1

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

155



Q3 Performance Report
Prepared by: Change, Innovation and

Performance Team
Page 2

Customer Engagement
continued
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

NUMBER OF
RETWEETS

395

SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

19%

NUMBER OF
SOCIAL MEDIA
ENGAGEMENTS

72,786

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

NUMBER OF
WEBSITE VISITORS

64,495
9%

TWITTER VS FACEBOOK LIKES (FOLLOWERS)

4,2174,2174,217 4,4114,4114,411 4,4384,4384,438 4,4924,4924,492 4,5124,5124,512

3,2283,2283,228

3,8343,8343,834

4,3534,3534,353

5,1305,1305,130

5,7605,7605,760

Twitter Facebook

Q3 18/19 Q4 18/19 Q1 19/20 Q2 19/20 Q3 19/20
0

2k

4k

6k

Total website visits

63,87363,87363,873

80,98080,98080,980

70,98270,98270,982 71,57371,57371,573

64,49564,49564,495

Total website visits

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

25k

50k

75k

33%

Both abandonment rate and wait times remain
challenges within Customer Contact. Whilst there
was a fall in the number of calls received during this
period, which also saw l a reduction in the number of
calls abandoned from 6,423 in Q2 to 5,228 in
Q3, the service also suffered an outage in October.
This led to a backlog in calls, longer wait time and a
higher abandonment rate. It should also be noted
that this period also saw an increase in the number
of council tax related  calls in relation to summonses,
finals and reminders. Calls related to council tax and
housing statistically take 50s longer than other calls
due to the complexity and nature of the calls.

During this period, the service made improvements
to their service such as working towards filling both
skill gaps (through a two day external training
course) and staff gaps (the addition of 1FTE).
Alternative services such as web chat and self
service/payment machines have seen growth in their
users during the period. Future projects are looking
at how we can continue to grow these platforms.

In early November the council also launched a
customer satisfaction survey related to  customers
using our contact centre. This will allow greater
insight into the customer journey and help the
council identify improvements and customer needs
in the future.

Whilst social media interaction fell during Q3, it
should be noted that the council's followers on both
Facebook and Twitter continued to grow at a steady
pace. From Q4 this report will also include the
number of Linkedin followers the council has in
order to highlight how the Communications team
are using social media to interact with professional
networks. Total website visits also fell during Q3,
however it should be noted that this remains about
Q3 2018/19.

156



Environmental and
Community
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
MISSED WASTE
COLLECTIONS

1
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
1 5

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

1-5

MISSED WASTE COLLECTION LAST 4 QUARTERS

13

29

25
26

1

MISSED COLLECTIONS

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q2

0

10

20

30

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the number
of missed collections per 100,000
people, a lower number is better for
this indicator as we look to ensure
fewer waste collections are missed

FORECASTED 
NUMBER OF
MISSED
WASTE
COLLECTIONS

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -NUMBER OF
MISSED WASTE
COLLECTIONS

13
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W  1

% OF
SUCCESSFUL
COLLECTIONS
WITHIN THE
DISTRICT

99.9%

NUMBER OF
INCIDENTS OF
FLY-TIPPING

208

Q4

200-210

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number of incidents
of fly tipping. A lower number is
better for this indicator, as this
ensures fewer fly-tipping incidents
are happening within the district.

FORECASTED NUMBER
OF INCIDENTS OF FLY
TIPPING

253

TOTAL
NUMBER OF
FLY TIPS THIS
YEAR

808

02
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  t o  t h e

d i s t r i c t s  c o m m u n i t y  a n d  e n v i r o n m e n t ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r

c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Your Place"
How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Number of bins collected vs number of bins missed
Number of incidents of fly-tipping
% of household waste recycled or composted
Average number of working days to deal with missed waste
Number of garden waste subscribers
Breckland Lottery (value awarded)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -NUMBER OF
WORKING DAYS TO
DEAL WITH FLY
TIPPING

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 3

FLY TIPPING INCIDENTS LAST 4 QUARTERS

362

315
285

208

FLY TIPS REPORTED

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

200

157



Environmental and
Community continued
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
INCIDENTS OF
FLY-TIPPING

208
SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

FLY TIPPING INCIDENTS LAST 4 QUARTERS

253

362

315
285

208

FLY TIPS REPORTED

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q2
0

100

200

300

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

27%

During Quarter 3, the council saw
significant improvement with regards to
the number of missed bin collections.
The council is now well under target in
relation to the number of collections
missed and during this period, the
service were made aware of 24
collections which were missed. On
average these missed bins were
responded to within a day.

Q3 also saw a further drop in the number
of fly tipping incidents within the
district. The number of incidents has
continued to fall since Q4 2018/19. This
drop has been attributed to greater
enforcement activity being carried out
within the district, the recruitment of a
new enforcement officer earlier and
greater use of the councils
communication's channels by both
Environmental Services and the Comms
team. It is anticipated, therefore that the
number of fly tipping incidents will
continue to drop as a result of this new
approach.

% OF HOUSEHOLD
WASTE
RECYCLED OR
COMPOSTED

34.13%
20%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019 
Oct - Dec

% OF HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLED OR COMPOSTED

60

13.3

26.7

RECYCLED (26.7%) COMPOSTED (13.3%)

RESIDUAL (60%)

AVERAGE NUMBER
OF WORKING DAYS
TO DEAL WITH
MISSED WASTE

1 DAY

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 4

FLY TIPS REPORTED MONTHLY BREAKDOWN

130130130

110110110

757575
848484

989898 103103103

676767 686868 737373

FLY TIPS REPORTED

APR
M

AY
JUN

JUL
AUG

SEP
O

CT
NOV

DEC

0

50

100

A V E R A G E  N U M B E R  O F  F L Y  T I P P I N G
I N C I D E N T S  R E P O R T E D  F O R  E A S T  O F
E N G L A N D  L O C A L  A U T H O R I T I E S

158



Environmental and
Community continued
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
GARDEN WASTE
SUBSCRIBERS

21,954

NUMBER OF GARDEN WASTE SUBSCRIBERS

21,01721,01721,017 21,02521,02521,025 21,35121,35121,351 21,88021,88021,880 21,95421,95421,954

GARDEN WASTE SUBSCRIBERS

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

10k

20k

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

0.3%

BRECKLAND
LOTTERY (VALUE
AWARDED)

£11,919
5%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

BRECKLAND LOTTERY VALUE

22,91822,91822,918

10,70910,70910,709
9,6719,6719,671

11,33211,33211,332 11,91911,91911,919

VALUE AWARDED

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

10k

20k

S TA T I S T I C S

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 5

Funds raised to
date

£64,335
Approved

good causes

80

Garden Waste subscribers grew slightly
during Q3, with an increase of 0.3%
taking the overall  number of subscribers
to 21,954. This represents an overall
increase of 4.4% since Q3 2018/19. This
will  continue to be monitored to ensure
that the service continues to grow.

During Q3, Breckland lottery continued
to expand. Whilst it only increased 5%
during this period, it  should be noted
that this was it's best performing
quarter this financial year. The lottery
also saw a small rise in the number of
players during this period and the
number of live causes.

Breckland recorded it's highest % of
waste recycled and composted during Q3
and remains above the average for local
authorities,  where the average rate for
2019 was 29%. Previously the council
has been in line with the average rate.

% of household waste recycled or composted

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

10

20

30

40 %   o f  h o u s e h o l d  w a s t e   r e c y c l e d  o r  c o m p o s t e d

1.88
Average
tickets per
player

Qualifications per population

159



Information and
Feedback
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED TO
IN TIME

97%
TA RG E T  I S  1 0 0

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

97-100%

% OF FOI'S RESPONDED TO IN TIME

86
93 95 97 97

RESPONSES TO WITHIN TIMELIMIT

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

50

100

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of FOI's responded to
within the statutory 20 day
timescale.

FORECASTED
% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED
TO IN TIME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF FOI'S
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

86%
TA RG E T  I S  1 0 0

# OF FOIS DUE
RESPONSE

67

% OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO
IN TIME

98%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

Q4

97-100%

% OF COMPLAINTS RESPONDED TO IN TIME

89
94 93

98 98

RESPONDED TO WITHIN TIMESCALE

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

50

100

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number on the % of
complaints responded to within the
agreed timescale. The standard
timescale for a response in 15
working days unless an agreement
for an extension is made.

FORECASTED % OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

89% 62

03
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  s e r v i c e s  w e  p r o v i d e  f o r  t h o s e  w h o

w i s h  t o  s u b m i t  F r e e d o m  o f  I n f o m a t i o n  ( F O I )  r e q u e s t s  o r  c o r p o r a t e

c o m p l a i n t s  t o   u s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

% of Freedom of Information Requests (FOI's) responded to in time
% of complaints responded to in time
Number of complaints received
Number of FOI's received
Average response time to complaints

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF
COMPLAINTS
RESPONDED TO IN
TIME

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 6

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 0 %

# OF
COMPLAINTS
DUE RESPONSE

160



Information and
Feedback continued
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

NUMBER OF
COMPLAINTS
RECEIVED

62

SATISFACTION
WITH SERCO

92%
U p  by  2 %  s i n c e  l a s t
Q u a r t e r

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS CLOSED

74

47 45

55

45

15
10 9

13
8

COMPLAINTS CLOSED COMPLAINTS UPHELD

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q2
0

25

50

75

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

12%

During Q3, the council maintained the
same level of responsiveness to both
Freedom of Information requests and
complains and remains above target.
The number of complaints submitted
per quarter continued to rise in Q3
however during this period the council
also recorded it's lowest complaint
uphold rate for the previous year. Of
the 45 complaints closed within this
period, 8 complaints were upheld. 

NUMBER OF
FOI'S RECEIVED

67
9%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

AVERAGE
RESPONSE TIME TO
COMPLAINTS

9.2 Days
41%

62
Complaints

 received

67 FOI
request received

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 7

METHOD OF CONTACT FOR COMPLAINTS/FOIS

VIA WEB FORM (66.67%)

VIA EMAIL (11.11%) VIA LETTER (2.22%)

VIA OTHER (20%)

NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

100100100

454545 424242

555555
626262

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

25

50

75

100

161



Housing and
Homelessness
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

# OF CASES
WHERE
PREVENTION
DUTY IS OWED

61

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

60-70

NUMBER OF CASES WHERE APPLICANTS ARE OWED A DUTY TO
PREVENT HOMELESSNESS

67

90

51

61

CASES OF PREVENTION

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

25

50

75

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the the
number of cases where an applicant
has presented to the council as in
need of housing support in order to
prevent homelessness

FORECASTED #
OF CASES
PREVENTED
FROM
HOMELESSNESS

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF CASES
PREVENTED FROM
HOMELESSNESS

34

NUMBER OF CASES
SINCE Q1

269

# OF EMPTY
PROPERTIES
BACK IN USE

0
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E   2 5

EMPTY PROPERTIES BACK IN USE

0 0 0 0 0 0

PROPERTIES BACK IN USE

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number number of
empty properties brought back into
use through direct intervention by
the council. A higher number means
more properties are being brought
back into use.

0

04
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  h o u s i n g  s e r v i c e s ,  w h i c h

w e  p r o v i d e  t o  o u r  r e s i d e n t s ,  w h i c h  i s  s u p p o r t i n g  o u r  c o r p o r a t e

p r i o r i t y "Your Place"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Number of cases where applicants are owed a duty to prevent
homelessness
Number of empty properties back in use
% of Breckland residents who are homeless

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF EMPTY
PROPERTIES BACK
IN USE

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 8

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E   2 5

162



Housing and
Homelessness continued
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

% OF BRECKLAND
RESIDENTS WHO
ARE HOMELESS

0.03%

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

Cases where a prevention duty is owed
relates to applicants to present to the
council  as not currently homeless but under
threat of homelessness. The majority of
these applicants present to the council
within the 56 day limit set out by the
Homelessness Reduction Act. The service
is currently focused on preventing
homelessness, in order to ensure that
homelessness does not occur. On average
the council  deals with more cases where the
applicant is in need of prevention compared
to cases where the applicant is already
homeless. Individuals may present to the
council  for a variety of reasons, as outlined
by the graph, highlighting the reason cited
by both those at threat and already
homeless.

In the past year, the service has been
unable to return any empty properties back
into use. There is now dedicated resource
within the council  focusing on this area. It
is anticipated that through this work,
properties will  begin to be brought back
into use through this specific work during
Q4. Q3 saw a slight rise in the number of
empty homes in Breckland (this figure is
calculated through council  tax returns).

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

# OF BRECKLAND
RESIDENTS WHO
ARE HOMELESS

44

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 9

EMPTY PROPERTIES WITHIN BRECKLAND

467467467

517517517

471471471 479479479

EMPTY PROPERTIES

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2
0

200

400

Family no longer able to accommodate (26.85%) End of private rented tenancy (16.18%) Other (14.97%)

Domestic abuse (12.22%) non-violent breakdown relationship (9.29%) Friends no longer able to accommodate (7.23%)

Non-racially motivated harassment (3.44%) End of social rented tenancy (2.93%)

Eviction from supported housing (1.89%) Fire or �ood / other emergency (1.2%) Property disrepair (1.03%)

Left institution with no accommodation available (0.86%) Racially motivated harassment (0.86%) Left HM Forces (0.52%)

Mortgage repossession (0.52%)

R E A S O N S  F O R  L O S S  O F  H O M E  I N  B R E C K L A N D -  2 0 1 9

163



Employee Workforce
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

2.6
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
4 . 3

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

3.0-3.5%

STAFF TURNOVER (%)

5.8

3.7

5.1

2.3
2.6

STAFF TURNOVER

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

2.5

5

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of staff turnover. This is
calculated by the total number of
leavers against the total number of
staff employed. A lower number
shows successful staff retention

FORECASTED
STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -STAFF
TURNOVER (%)

5.8
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W
4 . 3

NUMBER OF
LEAVERS IN THE
PERIOD

8

# OF WORKING
DAYS LOST TO
SICKNESS PER
FTE

1.7
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W  2

Q4

1.6-2.0
DAYS

WORKING DAYS LOST TO SICKNESS PER FTE

2.32

1.88

1.63
1.78 1.77

DAYS LOST PER FTE

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

1

2

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the number on the
number of working days lost per
FTE (Full Time Equivalent). A lower
number shows less time lost to
sickness

FORECASTED # OF
WORKING DAYS LOST
TO SICKNESS PER FTE

2.3
TA RG E T  I S  B E LO W  2

TOTAL NUMBER
OF WORKING
DAYS LOST TO
SICKNESS

498

05
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  o f f e r  t o  c o u n c i l

e m p l o y e e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Our Council"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Staff turnover
Number of working days lost to sickness per FTE (Full Time Equivalent)
Number of leavers
Number of days lost to sickness

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -# OF
WORKING DAYS
LOST TO SICKNESS
PER FTE

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 10

164



Employee Workforce
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

NUMBER OF LEAVERS

17

11

15

7
8

# OF LEAVERS

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

5

10

15

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

Sickness rose by 10% in Q3, however, it
should be noted that analysis suggests
this is a seasonal event, as sickness
tends to be high in Q3. It should be
noted that despite this rise, sickness
remains below the levels seen in Q3
2018/19 and remains below target. It is
anticipated that this will  fall  in Q4.

Staff turnover remains below target,
with 8 leavers recorded during this
period. It is anticipated that due to
having two periods significantly below
target, Q4 may see a rise in this
indicator as we are currently below the
average turnover rate for local
authorities.

NUMBER OF STAFF
WHO HAD SHORT
TERM SICKNESS

24
112%

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

Q3 REASONS FOR LEAVING

51

2

Resigning (62.5%) End of contract (12.5%)

Redundancy (25%)

24

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 11

NUMBER OF DAYS
LOST TO
SICKNESS

498
10%

NUMBER OF STAFF
WHO HAD
LONG TERM SICKNESS

79%

NUMBER OF DAYS LOST TO SICKNESS PER FTE

2.32.32.3

1.81.81.8
1.61.61.6 1.71.71.7 1.71.71.7

BRECKLAND

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
0

2

4

According to the most
recent Local Government
workforce survey the
average quarterly staff
turnover rate for local
authorities is 3.6%

TOTAL SICKNESS UK
LA AVERAGE (2.1
DAYS PER FTE)

165



Public Protection
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

06
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o u r  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t i o n

s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y "Your Health and
Wellbeing"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

EHTC (Environmental Health Training & Consultancy) net income 
% of food businesses rated 3 or above
Number of food businesses within the district

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 12

EHTC NET
INCOME (£)

£19,528

Q4

£33-38K

EHTC NET INCOME (£)

£35,000
£33,000 £32,000

27,808

19,528

NET INCOME

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

10k

20k

30k

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the net
income produced by EHTC. The
higher the number the more net
income generated

FORECASTED
EHTC NET
INCOME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -EHTC NET
INCOME
(£)- CUMULATIVE

NET INCOME
THIS FINANCIAL
YEAR

% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES
RATED 3 OR
ABOVE

97.9%

Q4

98-99%

% OF FOOD BUSINESSES RATED 3 OR ABOVE

95.5
97.5 98 97.9 97.9

% OF FOOD BUSINESSES

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

60

80

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the percentage of food
business rated 3 (generally
satisfactory) or above within the
district. A higher number means
more businesses are achieving this
standard

FORECASTED % OF
FOOD BUSINESSES
RATED 3 OR ABOVE

95.5%

NUMBER OF
BUSINESSES RATED
3 OR ABOVE

1,143
Out of

1,167

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES RATED 3
OR ABOVE

These indicators highlight the
number of registered food business
present within the district

TOTAL NUMBER OF
FOOD BUSINESSES
REGISTERED WITHIN
THE DISTRICT

% OF FOOD
BUSINESSES
RATED BELOW 3

1,167 2%

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 5 %

£35,000 £79,336

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
9 5 %

TA RG E T  F O R
Q 1 /Q 2 /Q 3  i s
£ 8 8 , 5 0 0

TA RG E T  I S  £ 2 9 , 5 0 0

166



Economic and Growth
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
GROSS RENTAL
INCOME(£)

£2,337,832

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

END OF Q4

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY GROSS RENTAL INCOME

2,084,393

2,704,220

841,501

1,589,356

2,337,832

GROSS RENTAL INCOME (£)

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

1M

2M

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the gross
rental income generated by the
council's commercial property.  A
higher number shows increased
income from our assets.

FORECASTED
COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY GROSS
RENTAL
INCOME(£)

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY GROSS
RENTAL INCOME(£)

£2,084,393

TARGET
INCOME BY END
OF FINANCIAL
YEAR

£2,805,178

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY

97%
TA RG E T  I S  9 8 %  O R
A B OV E

Q4

97-100%

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY OCCUPANCY

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY OCCUPANCY

91% 91% 92%
97% 97

60

80

100

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the % of our commercial
units that are occupied. Target is to
achieve 98% occupancy level of the
Council's commercial property assets
which excludes operational
assets. Calculated by total floor space
let over the total lettable space.

FORECASTED
COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY

91%

TARGET
COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY

98%

07
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  a r e a s  r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  c o u n c i l s

e c o n o m i c  a n d  g r o w t h  s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e

p r i o r i t y "Your Opportunity"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is measured by the
following

Commercial Property gross rental income
New homes delivered
New homes completed
Wage levels
Unemployment levels

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 13

£2,805,178

TA RG E T  I S  9 8 %  O R
A B OV E

COMMERCIAL
PROPERTY
OCCUPANCY
LAST QUARTER

167



Economic and Growth
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

P O I N T S  T O  N O T E

Breckland remains the district with the
lowest average salary in Norfolk based on
employees in continuous employment for
12 months. Breckland also has the lowest
average salary in Norfolk when broken
down into both male and female employees.
The Innovation and Change team are
currently working with various teams to
establish performance measures which will
highlight the work the council  is doing to
improve skills,  in future reports.

Unemployment: In Q3, unemployment
levels rose within Breckland, in comparison
with Q2. Since January 2019, the
percentage of the population that
is unemployed has grown by 0.5%. This
growth is in line with both regional and
national comparisons, which Breckland
remains below.

AVERAGE
BRECKLAND WAGE
LEVELS

£26,300

S U P P O R T I N G  D A T A  A N D  A N A L Y S I S

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

UNEMPLOYMENT
LEVELS

1,515

UNEMPLOYMENT LEVELS (% OF POPULATION)

69,500 68,800
61,800

6,900
1,700

Econom
ically

 …

In
 Em

plo
ym

ent

Em
plo

yees

Self 
Em

plo
yed

Unem
plo

yed …

25k

50k

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 14

Please note - Under Universal Credit a broader span of
claimants are required to look for work than under
Jobseekers Allowance. As Universal Credit Full Service is
rolled out in particular areas, the number of people
recorded as being on the Claimant Count is therefore
likely to rise.

Qualifications per population

NVQ4 And Above (8.95%)

NVQ3 And Above (18.07%)

NVQ2 And Above (27.57%)

NVQ1 And Above (36.15%)

Other Quali�cations (5.45%)

No Quali�cations (3.81%)

NORFOLK AVERAGE SALARY COMPARISON

Bre
ckland

Kin
g's Lynn an…

South
 N

orfo
lk

Norw
ich

Bro
adland

Gre
at Y

arm
outh

Unite
d K

in
gdom

0

10

20

30

168



PLANNING PROVISION
Q3, 2019 |  Oct-Dec

Q3 Performance Report

% OF MA JOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

93%
TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
7 0 %

K E Y  I N D I C A T O R S

Q4

95-100%

% OF MA JOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

53

76

93
100

93

% OF MAJOR APPLICATIONS

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

50

100

Q3, 2019/20 
Oct - Dec

The main indicator highlighted in
this section focuses on the
percentage of planning applications
determined within time (13 weeks
or agreed extension). The higher the
number, the more agreed within this
period.

FORECASTED % OF
MA JOR PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED
WITHIN TIME

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF MA JOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

53%

TARGET (%)

70%

% OF MINOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

96.35%

Q4

% OF MINOR PLANNING APPLICATIONS DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

84
91 92 94 96

Planning Apps Determined in time

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

0

50

100

The main indicator in this section
focuses on the percentage of minor
planning applications determined
within time (8 weeks or agreed
extension). The higher the number
the more agreed within this period

FORECASTED % OF
MINOR PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

84%

TARGET (%)

80%

08
T h i s  s e c t i o n  c o v e r s  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  a r e a s  r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  c o u n c i l s

p l a n n i n g  s e r v i c e s .  T h i s  r e l a t e s  t o  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  p r i o r i t y"Your Place"

How we are performing as a council in these areas is
measured by the following

% of major planning applications determined within time
% of minor planning applications determined within time

SAME PERIOD LAST
YEAR -% OF MINOR
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
DETERMINED WITHIN
TIME

Prepared by: Change, Innovation and
Performance Team

Page 15

TA RG E T  I S  A B OV E
8 0 %

90-95%
169



 

 1 

 
 

 
Pay Policy Statement 2020/21 

 
 

Status of this statement 
 
A pay policy statement is required to be produced annually under section 38 
of the Localism Act. Regard is to be had to any guidance from the Secretary 
of State in producing this statement. 
 
Any decision under powers delegated in the Council’s Constitution with regard 
to remuneration to be taken during 2020/21 will be bound by and must comply 
with this Statement. 
 
The Head of HR must be consulted prior to any decision impacting on 
remuneration where there is any question regarding compliance with the 
Statement. 
 
Coverage 
 
This statement sets out the Council’s policy with regards to: 
 

 the remuneration of Chief Officers 

 the remuneration of the lowest paid employees 

 the relationship between Chief Officers remuneration and that of other 
officers 

 
“Remuneration” for the purposes of this statement includes three elements: 
 

 basic salary 

 pension 

 all other allowances arising from employment 
 

The Council regards the following as its “Chief Officers”: 
 

 * Chief Executive  

 * Executive Director: Strategy & Governance 

 * Executive Director: Commercialisation – Section 151 Officer 

 * Executive Director: Place 
 

170

Agenda Item 11



 

 2 

For the purpose of the pay policy statement the following posts will also be 
referred to as “Chief Officers”. 
 

 * Executive Manager Governance  

 * Executive Manager Information 

 * Executive Manager Growth 

 * Executive Manager People & Innovation 

 * Executive Manager Property & Development 

 Head of Anglia Revenues Partnership 

 Place Manager 
 
* Chief Officer roles shared with South Holland District Council.  
 
The employing body for the Chief Officer roles is Breckland District Council, 
excluding ‘Executive Manager Growth’, which is a South Holland District 
Council employed role. 
 
In this policy statement the term “Chief Officers” refers to the Chief Executive 
and Executive/Senior Managers in that where there are any differences in 
terms of the policy it is between this group and all other employees.  
 
 
The Policy for 2020/21 
 
Objectives of the policy 
 
(a) to ensure a capable and high performing workforce 
 
In respect of the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and all other employees the 
Council’s policy is to set remuneration sufficient to attract and retain 
adequately experienced, trained and qualified individuals to deliver the 
Council’s priorities. 
 
(b) simplicity, clarity and fairness between employees and between the 
Council and the community 
 
The Council aims to be transparent on pay to its staff, prospective staff and 
the wider community.  
 
(c) To differentiate between remuneration and other employee related 
expenses 
 
The Council will meet or reimburse authorised travel, accommodation and 
subsistence costs for attendance at approved business meetings and training 
events. The Council does not regard such costs as remuneration but as non 
pay operational costs. This policy is applied consistently to the Chief 
Executive, Chief Officers and other employees. 
 
 

171



 

 3 

Remuneration subject to national and local determination 
 

 Pay bargaining 
 
The Council has its own Pay Progression scheme with awards being set 
locally and agreed by the Executive Management team in line with the budget 
agreed by Full Council, including consultation with the recognised Union. 
 
The scheme is applied consistently to the ‘Breckland Council employed’ Chief 
Officers and other employees. 
 
The Council’s Pay bands were last increased in April 2019. 
 

 Car Allowances 
 
The Council pays car allowances for use of private vehicles on council 
business in accordance with the National Joint Council agreement on pay and 
conditions of service.  The Council also operates a Shared Officer Travel 
Scheme applicable to some Chief Officers; qualifying Officers receive an 
alternative car allowance (replacing the standard Essential User Lump Sum) 
but retain the standard Essential User mileage rates in operation at the time. 
The current rates are:  
 

Shared Officer Travel 
Scheme 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Annual allowance £3,300 £3,000 £2,160 
(Monthly payment pro rata) £275.00 £250.00 £180.00 

 

Essential User Rates 451 - 999cc 1000 - 1199cc 1200 & 
Above 

Lump sum per annum 
(Monthly payment pro rata) 
 
Per mile - first 8,500 miles 
 
Per mile - after 8,500 miles 
 

£846 
£70.50 
 
36.9p 
 
13.7p 
 

£963 
£80.25 
 
40.9p 
 
14.4p 
 

£1,239 
£103.25 
 
50.5p 
 
16.4p 
 

Casual User Rates    

Per mile - first 8,500 miles 
 
Per mile - after 8,500 miles 
 

46.9p 
 
13.7p 
 

52.2p 
 
14.4p 

65.0p 
 
16.4p 
 

 
 
  

172



 

 4 

Benefits 
 
The value of car allowances and private medical insurance* are categorised 
as ‘Benefits in Kind’ and are subject to tax and National Insurance via the 
payroll or reported to HMRC via P11D. At the time of publication the 
estimated values of these benefits in kind for 2020/21 in respect of Chief 
Officers will be: 
 

Post Benefit in Kind 2020/21 
(estimated) 
 

Chief Executive £3,300 

Executive Director: Strategy & Governance £3,300 

Executive Director: Commercialisation £3,300 

Executive Director: Place £3,300 

Executive Manager Governance £3,300 

Executive Manager Information £3,300 

Executive Manager Growth £3,754 

Executive Manager People & Innovation £3,300 

Executive Manager Property & Development £3,300 

Head of Anglia Revenues Partnership £1,239 

Place Manager £1,239 

* South Holland employed Chief Officers only 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme and policy with regard to the 
exercise of discretions 
 
Pension provision is an important part of the remuneration package. 
 
All employees may join the local government pension scheme. The scheme is 
a statutory scheme with contributions from employees and from employers. 
For more comprehensive details of the local government pension scheme 
see: 
 
http://www.lgps2014.org/ 
 
Neither the scheme nor the Council adopt different policies with regard to 
benefits for any category of employee: the same terms apply to the Chief 
Executive, Chief Officers and other staff. 
 
The scheme provides for the exercise of discretion that allow for retirement 
benefits to be enhanced. The Council’s published pension policy is to not 
enhance benefits for any of its employees. This policy statement reaffirms this 
in respect of Chief Officers and other employees. 
 
The pension scheme provides for flexible retirement. It is the Council’s policy 
to allow Flexible Retirement (where the business case permits) where no 
costs are payable by the employer. In applying the flexible retirement 
provision no distinction is made between Chief Officers and other employees.  
 

173



 

 5 

Job Evaluation and Pay Bands 
 
All employees including Chief Officers have their basic pay grade/band 
determined by a job evaluation scheme (the Inbucon scheme) which ensures 
that different jobs having the same value are paid at the same rate / within the 
same pay band. The “job score” determines the pay band for the post within 
which there is provision for progression by way of annual consolidated 
performance related pay increases, until the top of the pay scale is reached.  
 
 
Allowances on appointment 
 
The Council’s policy is to not pay any form of “signing on” fee or incentive 
payment when recruiting. 
 
Where it is necessary for a newly appointed employee to relocate to take up 
appointment the Council may make a contribution towards relocation 
expenses. 
 
The same policy applies to Chief Officers and other employees in that 
payment will be made against a range of allowable costs for items necessarily 
incurred in selling and buying a property and moving into the area.  
 
Details of the full scheme can be found in the Council’s Relocation Policy. 
 
 
Termination payments 
 
Redundancy 
The Council has a single redundancy scheme which applies to all employees 
without differentiation.  
 
The redundancy payment is based on the length of continuous local 
government service which is used to determine a multiplier which is then 
applied to actual pay; the Council uses the Statutory Redundancy pay 
calculation method, but bases weekly pay on contractual pay rather than the 
capped statutory method. The maximum number of years’ service taken into 
account is 20 and the resulting maximum potential payment is 30 weeks’ pay 
for anyone aged 61 or older. Details of the full scheme can be found in the 
Council’s Redundancy Policy. 
 
Other termination 
The Council does not provide further payment to employees leaving the 
Council’s employment other than in respect of accrued leave which by 
agreement is untaken at the date of leaving, or other contractual entitlement. 
 
The Council does however recognise that situations may arise, and where the 
need for expediency is such, that it may be in the best interests of the 
authority to make individual payments relating to termination of employment. 

174



 

 6 

In such cases these will be approved in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution. 
 
 
Professional fees and subscriptions. 
 
The Council will meet the cost of employees’ professional fees and/or 
subscriptions where these are relevant to the office or employment, and are 
included in HM Revenues & Customs ‘List 3’, in accordance with section 343 
and 344 Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003. This applies to both 
Chief Officers and other staff. 
 
Returning Officer Fees 
 
The Council’s appointed (Deputy) Returning Officer receives a (Deputy) 
Returning Officer fee in respect of County, District and Parish Council 
Elections. The fee for undertaking this role in Norfolk is calculated in 
accordance with a formula approved annually by a panel made up of the 
chairmen of the Independent Remuneration Panels of each of the 8 Norfolk 
Principal Councils, and based on a recommendation by the County Electoral 
Officers' Group. Fees for conducting Parliamentary Elections are determined 
by way of a Statutory Instrument. 
 
 
Setting Salaries 
 
For the post of Chief Executive: 
 

 the Council will set the starting salary by way of Full Council 
agreement, as per the Council’s constitution. Where an independent 
recruitment partner is contracted to deal with the recruiting of a Chief 
Executive, advice will be taken as to an appropriate starting salary 
level.    

 
For Chief Officer posts: 
 

 the Council’s ‘Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee ’ will 
agree terms of employment as per the Council’s constitution (Part 3, 
Section D -  Delegations to Committees (Non-Executive functions)). 

 
 
  

175



 

 7 

Pay ceilings 
 
For 2020/21 the basic pay ceiling for current employees, including Chief 
Officer posts is the maximum of the respective pay band. The pay bands and 
pay ranges for 2020/21 are as follows (salary bands are subject to change 
pending the outcome of any pay agreement for 2020/21): 
 

 MIN MAX 

Grade 1 £111,295 £136,807 

Grade 2 £90,538 £111,295 

Grade 3a £73,658 £90,538 

Grade 3b £59,920 £73,658 

Grade 4 £50,879 £59,920 

Grade 5 £44,697 £50,879 

Grade 6 £38,510 £44,697 

Grade 7 £33,008 £38,510 

Grade 8 £27,508 £33,008 

Grade 9 £22,018 £27,508 

Grade 10 £17,897 £22,018 

Grade 11 £17,712 £17,897 

 
 Staff employed under Apprenticeship schemes are subject to the 

appropriate Apprentice rate in operation at the time. 
 
 
Chief Officer Pay bands 
 
 

Chief Executive Grade 1 ** £111,295 to £136,807 

Executive Director: Strategy & 
Governance 

Grade 2 ** £90,538 to £111,295 

Executive Director: 
Commercialisation – Section 151 
Officer 

Grade 2 ** £90,538 to £111,295 

Executive Director: Place Grade 2 ** £90,538 to £111,295 

Head of Anglia Revenues Partnership Grade 3a ***  £73,658 to £90,538 

Executive Manager  Property & 
Development 

Grade 3a **  £73,658 to £90,538 

Executive Manager Growth Grade 3a ** £73,658 to £90,538 

Executive Manager Governance Grade 3b ** £59,920 to £73,658 

Executive Manager Information Grade 3b ** £59,920 to £73,658 

Executive Manager People & 
Innovation 

Grade 3b ** £59,920 to £73,658 

Place Manager Grade 3b     £59,920 to £73,658 

** Salaries/salary related costs charged to Breckland District Council and 
South Holland District Council on a 60/40 basis. 

176



 

 8 

*** Salary/salary related costs charged to Breckland District Council and other 
organisations within the Anglia Revenues Partnership. 
 
Additionally senior officer remuneration for the previous financial year is 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
 
Pay floor 
 
The pay floor is the remuneration of the lowest paid employees. For the 
purpose of this statement “Lowest paid” is defined as the average pay of the 
2% (7 individuals) of the Council’s employees, subject to the above pay 
scales, with the lowest full-time equivalent (FTE) annual salary.  
 
As at 31 March 2020 this average was £17,712. 
 
The Council will not pay basic pay less than the amount applicable to the 
bottom point of the Grade 11 pay band. Employees in this group will be 
entitled to all other benefits – fringe payments, car allowances, pension, 
relocation, redundancy as all other employees. 
 
Pay multiples 
 
The council does not explicitly set the remuneration of any individual or group 
of posts by reference to a simple multiple of another post or group of posts. 
The use of multiples cannot capture the complexities of a dynamic and highly 
varied workforce in terms of job content and skills required.  
 
In terms of overall remuneration packages the Council’s principle is to 
differentiate by setting different levels of basic pay to reflect differences in 
responsibilities but not to differentiate on other allowances, benefits and 
payments it makes.  
 
The relationship between remuneration of the highest paid officer in the 
Council, the Chief Executive, and the remuneration of the lowest paid 
employee (as defined in the ‘Pay Floor’ paragraph above), is within a 10:1 
ratio. 
 
 
Future appointments and interim arrangements 
 
In the event of a vacancy – Chief Executive, Chief Officer or other employee – 
the arrangements set out above will apply in respect of permanent 
appointments. 
 
If the need arises to provide agency or interim cover the principle is to seek to 
cap the cost of that appointment at no more than that of the permanent 
appointment taking into account additional employment costs – pension 
contributions, national insurance, paid leave etc. However, where necessary a 
higher “market rate” will be paid to secure a suitable individual and market 

177



 

 9 

rate will be established by reference to soft market testing, external advice 
and dialogue with peer authorities. 
 
Publication and access to information 
 
The publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of Chief 
Officers will be set out in this document and published on the Council’s 
website. 
 

178



1

KEY DECISION PLAN

VERSION 01/20

Issued – 
Effective for Period:
 01/01/20 - 31/12/20

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision is likely to be made, to:  
Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.

Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all key and significant decisions that are likely to be made over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is expected to be made.  .

Key Decision – means a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to 
result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any single financial year above the capital expenditure threshold or the revenue 
expenditure threshold currently laid down by the Council.
Significant Decision -: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-
Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, 
particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Growth

Treasury 
Management 
Policy and 
Strategy 2020-21

The report outlines the Council's Prudential Indicators for 
2020-21 to 2023-24 and sets out the expected treasury 
operations for this period and requests approval for the 
Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and Prudential 
Indicators for 2020-21 to 2023-24.

See report Treasury 
Management 
Policy and Strategy 
2020-21

Governance & Audit Committee 16 
Jan 2020

179

A
genda Item

 15

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


2

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Deputy Leader 
and Executive 
Member for 
Governance

Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & 
Polling Stations 
Review

Formal review in accordance with the Representation of 
the People Act 1983 & the Review of Polling Districts, 
Polling Places (Parliamentary Elections) Regulations 
2006.

See report Polling Districts, 
Polling Places & 
Polling Stations 
Review

Council 23 Jan 2020

Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Growth

Review of the 
Local Council 
Tax Reduction 
Scheme 
(LCTRS) for 
2020-21

To consider options for the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (LCTRS) for 2020-21

See report Review of the Local 
Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS) for 2020-
21

Council 23 Jan 2020

Councillor Paul 
Hewett

PFI Interim 
Benchmark 
Options

Following an interim benchmarking request, to 
recommend options to members to allow officers to 
proceed with negotiating a position with the contractor

See report PFI Interim 
Benchmark 
Options

Council 27 Feb 2020

180



3

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Growth

Budget Setting, 
medium term 
plan and capital 
strategy 2020-21

To consider the capital and revenue budget estimates 
and proposed Council Tax, the financial medium term 
plan and the capital strategy

See report Budget Setting, 
medium term plan 
and capital strategy 
2020-21

Council 27 Feb 2020

Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Growth

Council Tax 
Setting 2020-21

To set the amounts of council Tax applicable for 2020-
21 for each valuation band and in each part of the 
district

See report Council Tax Setting 
2020-21

Council 27 Feb 2020

Executive 
Member for 
Planning

Housing, 
Homelessness 
and Rough 
Sleeping 
Strategy and 
Allocations Policy

To consider an updated Strategy. See report Housing, 
Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy

Cabinet 16 Mar 2020

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

181



4

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION

Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.
Telephone 01362 656343 Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

182

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme 2020
Date Topic Member / Director / Lead Officer

06 February 2020 Corporate Plan Refresh 2020. (FP)

To seek agreement for the refreshed Corporate Plan for 2020 

Greg Pearson, Senior Policy Advisor

Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and Allocations 

Policy. (FP)

To consider an updated Strategy. 

Lisa Oakley, Senior Housing Strategy & Development Officer

Quarter 3 2019-20 Performance Overview Report. (FP)

To inform Members of the Councils perfromance for the highlighted 

time period.

Ross Bangs, Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager

Worksmart 20:20 - Terms & conditions. (FP)

To amend our terms & conditions to reflect the current & future 

market

in line with our workforce strategy.

Susie Richardson, HR Manager

Pay Policy Statement 2020/21. (FP) Susie Richardson, HR Manager

19 March 2020 Surplus Land. Policies and Process around disposal of surplus land. Ralph Burton, Strategic Property Manager

Commercial Assets Property Portfolio and other commercial income 

streams

30 April 2020 Quarter 4 2019-20 Performance Overview Report. (FP) Ross Bangs, Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager

Breckland Sustainability Strategy. (FP) Greg Pearson, Senior Policy Advisor

Constitution - Non-Key Officer decisions/SIRO/Licensing (proposed 

amendments to the constitution)

Mark Stinson, Executive Manager Governance

11 June 2020 Empty Properties back in to use-

update after 6months of dedicated officer resource (OSC 19 Dec) 

Items to be scheduled:

Portfolio Holder Title Officer

Executive Member for 

Planning

To review Capita contract and to understand the process for revising 

or reviewing local list.

Rob Walker/Simon Wood

Planning Application validation Simon Wood

Neighbourhood planning. How does Breckland support local groups 

in developing plans

Simon wood

Councillor Robinson - 

Executive Member for 

Community, 

Leisure & Culture

Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy (mins 27/9/18) Steve James

Community Grant Funding Scheme. Steve James

Unsightly Sites - to receive an update on the project Riana and Steve James

Shop appy update Steve James

to receive an update on the implementation of the Market Town 

Initiative 

Rob Walker/Steve James

Report/update on where we currently provide district council leisure 

facilities and support with other providers - budget and forward plan 

- Mark Robinson

Steve James

Breckland Lottery - Report Finding - Steve James/Stefan Clifford Steve James/Stefan Clifford

Executive Member for 

Health & Housing 

To review how the housing peer review has been implemented Hannah Hooks

Empty Homes - Empty Properties back into use after dedicated 

officer resource (OSC 19 Dec)

Hannah Hooks

Flagship Plus - invite all Housing Associations Hannah Hooks

Executive Member for 

Environmental Services & 

Public Protection

To receive an update on flytipping

Executive Member 

Contracts & Assets

Governance and Policy around surplus land disposal  (Scheduled 

March 2020)

Ralph Burton

Commercial Assets Property Portfolio and other commercial

 income streams (Scheduled March 2020)

Ralph Burton and  Richard Hodgson

Executive Member for 

Governance

IT resilience and security, after IT failure. Impact for Officers, 

Members and residents, look at robustness of equip and 

contingency procedures in place.

Sarah Barsby/Jason Tillyard

Executive Member for 

Finance & Growth

Executive Member for 

Customer Engagement

External Police & Crime Commissioner

183



Document is Restricted

184

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,2,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

194

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,2,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

195

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,2,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

200

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

201

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

202

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Corporate Plan Refresh 2020
	Appendix A for Corporate Plan Refresh 2020
	Appendix B for Corporate Plan Refresh 2020
	Appendix C for Corporate Plan Refresh 2020

	8 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	App 1 - Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy FINAL VERSION 27.01.20
	App 2 - Homelessness Review Report 2019 Breckland Council

	9 Allocations Policy
	App 1 - Breckland Allocations Policy - Final Draft Jan20

	10 Quarter 3 2019-20 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 3 2019-20 Performance Overview Report

	11 Pay Policy Statement 2020/21
	15 Work Programme
	Work Programme - 6 Feb 20

	18 Worksmart 20:20 - Terms & Conditions
	Appendix 1 pro forma B
	Appendix 2 Honorarium policy
	Salary Chart 19-20
	Proposed Salary Chart 19-20_6 SCPs
	Workforce Strategy 2019-2023 Formatted with front cover


